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INTRODUCTION

Gratitude for scientific and technological advances is currently in short supply. My
father died of septicaemia at the age of 46 in 1934 when | was 12 years’ old and my
mother was left with the thankless task of raising four vigorous children with very little
money. Only six years’ later my brother was ill with pneumonia and was not
expected to live. The doctor, Dr Watt, came with the news that there was a new drug
on the market, M&B 693 which made claims he was unable to verify. He tried it and
my brother is still alive, at 81. Not long after, Winston Churchill, during his visit to the
Casablanca conference in 1943 also got pneumonia and was cured by M&B 693
(sulphanilamide). The consequences of his possible death at this time would have
been disastrous.

Britain resisted impossible odds during the war with radar, penicillin, DDT,
polyethylene, and eventually, the atom bomb. Since then we have had DNA and the
discovery of human heredity, the computer, and everything that has raised the
number of years most of us can live. | now find myself 42 years beyond my father’s
years and | am grateful for it.

Yet science is now a dirty word. A science career is now badly paid and uncertain.
Scientists in industry are expected to justify the decisions of the sales department.
Government scientists are expected to justify decisions of politicians. This has
reached gargantuan and world-wide proportions in the scientific support that has
been mustered to support the political campaign to justify a belief that increases in
human-related emissions of greenhouse gases are harming the climate. There is no
evidence, scientific or otherwise, for this claim, which has been supported by an
unprecedented system of pseudoscientific distortion, verbal manipulation. fraud and
propaganda.

This book shows how one scientist has reached the stage of being an unrelenting
critic of this distortion of science. It is much concerned with my earlier scientific
career, which provides the credentials for my current stand.

| decided early on that | would strive to develop scientific and technological advances
in industry. | have worked on petroleum, plastics, paint, adhesives and wetting,
timber, coal, forensic science and building materials, plus two episodes of teaching.
My earlier publications are largely unknown, as science libraries have increasingly
placed past scientific publications in inaccessible reserves. My publications on the
climate are largely on the World Wide Web, and are widely known.

| do not claim to be a celebrity, although | have had my moments, as the holder of a
Major scholarship at Emmanuel College, Cambridge, a First Class Honours degree,
a PhD in Chemistry, and the first Director of the Building Research Association of
New Zealand. My only current claim to celebrity, or even notoriety, is as one of the
longest enduring climate sceptics. | have earned a Wikipedia article which tends to
emphasize my experience with coal, only one of my many interests.



| have tended in this book to emphasize my scientific activity. Any biographer has the
difficulty of deciding how to deal with the many different aspects of the character of a
single person. They only disturb the narrative. | have tended to leave out much of my
interest and activity as a jazz musician, as a classical musician, as a participator in
politics, as a world traveller, mainly on holidays, as a family man, and as a collector
of books and literature. They would all interfere with the story and they might get told
elsewhere.

| have also left out detailed discussion of the global warming scam, which | have
covered in many publications, listed at the end, and largely still available. The
“debate” has got beyond the complexities of science, which are so little understood
nowadays by a public whose level of scientific comprehension is in decline. The
arguments are now mainly political and even religious. There is no evidence, so |
have concentrated in explaining how the illusion that there is any has been achieved.

Wellington, October 2010.



CHAPTER 1: EARLY DAYS

My father was Albert Richard Gray. He was born in Walworth, East London on 23"
March 1887. He changed his name from Gourriet, his family name, during the First
World War. The name originated with a French Ballet dancer, Francis Gourriet, who
joined the Sadlers Wells ballet in the 1790s and settled in Marylebone, London.

My father belonged to a large family of ten: a half sister from a previous marriage,
Ada, plus Beatrice, Edie, Len, Clarence, Vic, and the two soldiers who died at the
Somme in 1916, Ric and Percy.

He was a professional musician and played the saxophone in the band of the Royal
Naval Air Service in Portsmouth during the First World War, while his brothers went
out to the trenches, where two of them died. He went on the stage after the war and
was with “The Disgrayly Trio” performing on concertinas, when he met my mother.
After they married he gave up the stage to become a semi-pro dance band player
and a newspaper van driver.

My mother was Dorothy May Kelly. She was born 8" of May 1895 in Manchester at
Park Hospital, Davyhulme, the same hospital my eldest son, Alexander, was born in
1951. She had a twin brother, Fred, who was always a close friend of the family. |
was named after Vincent, her elder brother, and she had another brother, Ambrose,
and two sisters Madeleine (Madge) and Cecily. Vincent, Ambrose and Cecily
emigrated to Australia. My mother was keen on music and she sang to my father’'s
piano accompaniment.

I never knew either of my grandfathers. Dad’s father was called Etienne.

| was born in Camberwell Grove, Peckham, in South East London on March 24™
1922. My mother always claimed that it was opposite the house where Joseph
Chamberlain was born. We moved further up the road, where my sister Ida was born
in 1923. Since Joseph Chamberlain’s sister was named Ida it is possibly my mother
may have known her and named my sister after her. Another sister, Babette, died
soon after her birth from an infection blamed on an Irish nurse by my mother. She
was named after a popular waltz of the time.

We moved (in 1925) to a flat in Lordship Lane, Dulwich and then (in 1927) to 53
Kenway Road, Earls Court, South Kensington.

My father was thirsty for knowledge and we read all the twelve volumes of Arthur
Mee’s “Children’s Encyclopaedia” together. We went round all the London museums,
with emphasis on the nearby Science and Geology museums in South Kensington.
We also visited the Horniman Museum in Greenwich. We went to the exhibition at
the Royal Albert Hall that celebrated the centenary of the discovery of
electromagnetic induction by Michael Faraday. That must have been 1931 when |
was nine

My two brothers Tony (1928) and Douglas (1930) were born while we were at
Kenway Road. One day my father went to an auction sale of circus equipment and
came home with a large swing that he erected in the garden, and a large horse
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which he made into a rocking horse. He built a trellis over the garden so we could
play cricket without losing too many balls.

My christening at Westminster Cathedral



| went to Allen Street School off High Street, Kensington, with my sister, in 1927. The
Headmaster, Mr Coley, always started the day with breathing exercises. Mrs Carter
gave me extra lessons as | was regarded as a star pupil. | won the “11 plus” exam
which qualified me to enter a secondary school.

My father died from septicaemia from an ear infection in 1934 when | was 12, leaving
my mother with four children and very little income. | inherited his clarinet while his
new Lewin “Artists’ Model” saxophone went back to the hire purchase company.
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This clarinet was rather an unusual instrument as it had covered holes and was
manufactured by Keith Prowse. The system did not work very well without the
assistance of rubber bands, and it did not catch on as a standard model.

| went to Latymer Upper School, King Street, Hammersmith in 1933. This had the
status of a “Public School” as the Headmaster was a member of the “Headmasters’
Conference” but since we did not take boarders, it did not quite have the reputation
of Eton and Harrow. However, it had some of the best science teachers in Britain at
the time. Science was in the doldrums and the best jobs were in teaching.

The Headmaster was “Tubby” Dale, a clergyman. | took an instant dislike to him. My
mother was not able to accompany me the first day, so | had to wait all day while the
headmaster spent most of the day with the parents before anybody noticed | was
there.

My first form master “Froggy” Longland, the French teacher had the following motto
on the wall

“And when the one great scorer comes to write against your name
He writes not if you won or lost, but if you played the game”

The school motto was “Paulatim ergo Certe” meaning “Slowly therefore surely”

I remember that he once collected from the class to buy the record of Stanley
Holloway reciting “Sam’s musket” which | can still remember.

The head science teacher was G F (“Chinny”) Fowles. He was Editor of the “School
Science Review” and he used his classes to carry out experiments which led to
published papers. He had published a book on “Lecture Experiments in Chemistry”
which | later found in the library at Zhejiang University, China, and which | acquired
rather late in life from my friend Dora Suuring. It recorded a lost art, for lecture
experiments are today regarded as unsafe and dangerous. It gave details of
experiments devised by pioneers like Berzelius. His other speciality was Volumetric
Analysis and he wrote a book on the subject. He was a pioneer in the use of
mercury/zinc amalgam as a reducing agent. It was a very quick acting method. For
example, to determine the amount of “ferric” iron in solution, it was shaken with
mercury/zinc amalgam to reduce it to ferrous iron, and then titrate it with a standard
oxidising agent like potassium permanganate.

Chemistry was fun. The flame test would tell you sodium, potassium, strontium,
copper, or barium instantly. All you needed was dip a platinum wire into the solution
and hold it in a Bunsen flame. Nowadays you have to use a large complex
spectrophotometer plus a computer.

| remember in one exam | was asked to identify an unknown bright orange powder. |
got it in two tests. It gave a yellow sodium flame, and then | shook a solution with
mercury/zinc amalgam and it turned pink. The salt was therefore sodium cobaltinitrite.

The fume cupboards had a persistent sulphurous odour from a piece of equipment
called the Kipp’s apparatus which delivered hydrogen sulphide from the action of
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sulphuric acid on iron filings. A large number of metals could be identified from their
sulphides, but today that is, of course, far too toxic.

The Physics master, L R Middleton was also an enthusiast. He purchased several
vacuum tubes which demonstrated the properties of electrons. | remember during
one school open day that | inadvertently touched the high voltage supply, jumping in
the air for a while, and then resuming the demonstration. Nowadays it would be too
unsafe.

He encouraged us to set up a meteorological station on the school roof. We had a
maximum/minimum thermometer, and a wind gauge. Our pride and joy was a
sunshine recorder consisting of a beautiful glass sphere mounted so that it burned a
trace on a blue chart calibrated in hours of the day. We were so keen, somebody
came in every day to take the readings, including weekends and holidays. We would
put the weather forecast on the board every day. It was not an official station, and
the temperature fell during the school holidays because the boilers were turned off.

| passed the School Certificate exam in ten subjects, Chemistry, Physics,
Mathematics, Advanced Mathematics, English, French, Latin, History, and
Geography. | had high marks in most subjects. | remember that one of the questions
in the Latin paper was “Translate ‘Veni, vidi vici” The rest was so easy | left before
the time was up.

| then had good marks in the Higher School Certificate, in Chemistry, Physics, and
Maths. This was 1938 and | was sixteen.

| took it in turns to be the top boy with Donald Ramsay. He joined me as piano player
in a jazz quartet that met in one another's homes each week. Besides Donald, who
ended up in Canada, the other members were Geoff Fletcher (banjolele) who ended
up in Melbourne, and Steve Lane (guitar) who took up the trumpet and may still be
playing in a jazz band in London

I once ended up playing Don Ramsay for the school chess championship which
ended in a draw after eight hours play. We did several Youth Hostel tours together in
the holidays and in September 1939 we were in Bridport when the war began. We
witnessed the last voyage of the “Normandy” from the cliffs. Everybody left the hostel,
leaving free food. We decided to hitch hike to Taunton, where the school had already
organised a bolthole in case of war, but when we got there we were not welcome as
they were full. So we returned and were evacuated with our gas masks over our
shoulders, to Slough, only fifteen miles from London.

We were lucky, as the local girl’'s grammar school had just moved into new premises,
and we were able to move into the old school and have full-time schooling at a time
when most pupils had to share, and get only half time. Donald applied for a
Cambridge scholarship almost at once, and was accepted in St Catherine’s college.
A recent chemistry master, G C C Gell, recommended me to his college, Emmanuel,
and to his supervisor, Alex Wood. | found myself in Cambridge in December 1939
sitting the scholarship for the Emmanuel Group of colleges whose examination came
up later than the group with St Catherine’s.
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One of the requirements for the exam was ability in either Latin or Greek, and, of
course, | had Latin. | found the papers fairly easy. During the Chemistry practical
exam a man, Dr Snow, came up to me and invited me to his rooms in Christ’'s
College. He was, of course, C P Snow, the famous novelist, who was originally a
chemist. When | appeared he told me that he was putting me up for a Major
Scholarship. | was rather surprised, as they could not have marked the Chemistry
practical and | had not yet taken the Mathematics exam. All the same, | was awarded
my scholarship.

Snow left Cambridge almost at once, but | met him years later at a Plastics
Conference in London, when he was Minister of Science in the Government. Many
years later | came under his influence when | developed a detached retina in my
right eye. When | reported my debility to my doctor she immediately recognised my
problem as she had just read about it in one of Snow’'s novels where it afflicted Sir
Lewis Elliot; so Snow must also have had the problem.
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CHAPTER 2: CAMBRIDGE

In January 1940 | was on the train to Cambridge. | smoked my first cigarette. | had
lodgings with a Mrs Beeson. A former Latymerian friend persuaded me to spend too
much of my limited income on a new Boat Club blazer, a gown, and a college scarf.
The new gown did not last long as you had to leave them outside hall and it got
swapped for a very shabby one.

The Natural Sciences Tripos required three science subjects, but it did not include
mathematics, which was only a half subject. | therefore had to choose a third subject
besides my Physics and Chemistry. Popular subjects were Geology and Physiology,
but | chose Crystallography, a recently introduced subject, which at that time was the
early foundation for so many recent advances in science.

| was a bi-termist, as | had missed a whole term’s lectures. This was from advice that
the influence of the war was unpredictable. All the same, | found the lectures very
easy going, over familiar ground. | had plenty of time to take advantage of the social
and sporting activities of Cambridge. | joined the Socialist Club, the Catholic Club,
the Emmanuel College Boat Club and the Thomas Young Club. The latter is named
from a famous Emmanuel Scientist. At one point | was President.

Because | had covered most of the syllabus at school, | had no problem in obtaining
First Class Honours in the exam at the end of the first year, in all my three and one
half subjects.

The Physical Chemistry lecturers were quite varied. R G W Norrish was the
Professor of Physical Chemistry, but he had passed on the hard work of the main
chemistry lectures and practicals to Freddy S Dainton. There was an additional
Chemistry Professor, Eric K Rideal, who was Professor of Colloid Science. He had
been a rival of Norrish’s for the post vacated by the previous Professor of Physical
Chemistry, T M Lowry, but at the time he had a serious, possibly non-survivable
medical condition, so Norrish got the job. When Rideal recovered they found him
another Professorship, in Colloid Science, which had only limited teaching duties and
more scope for research.

Other Physical Chemistry lecturers included G B B M Sutherland (spectroscopy) J N
Agar (Electrochemistry), A E Alexander, C H Bamford, D D Eley and Moelwyn
Hughes.

For Organic Chemistry we had F G Mann and B C Saunders (who, together wrote
the textbook) with A R Todd after he became Professor.

The Physics lecturers included the followers of Ernest Rutherford who had died only
two years before | arrived. They included Norman Feather and Egon Bretscher. P M
Dirac did theoretical physics.

The Lecturer on Sound, Alex Wood, was also my first contact, and the Science Tutor

for the college. His lectures were well attended. He wrote a book on “The Physics of
Music”. He told us that he used to have a demonstration experiment where an
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ultrasonic whistle caused a dog to come from its kennel. One day he forgot to turn off
the whistle and found a commotion in the class because they could hear it and he
could not because he was older. He was very Scottish and a Town Councillor who
had a housing estate named after himself. He was also a Pacifist and promoted the
doctrine that “war will cease when men refuse to fight”.

The Physics practical lessons were run by a survivor from a past age, G F C Searle,
inventor of a standard method for studying heat flow. He had been long retired but
came back because of the war. The class consisted of many ingenious experiments
which could have influenced the illustrator Heath Robinson. They used bicycle
wheels, light bulbs and batteries. There was a story told about Searle that a female
student had trouble calibrating an electrometer. Searle said “Are You wearing
corsets? If so you had better remove them”.

Another veteran was the college maths tutor, P W Wood. All he did was go through
his own version of mathematical analysis and write it on sheets of paper. | was never
tested.

The Crystallography classes were the legacy of J D Bernal who had departed,
mainly because he did not get on with Rutherford, to establish a new base in
Birkbeck College, London. The class was run by N F M Henry, F Coles Phillips and
N Wooster. One of the demonstrators was Max Perutz. Much of what they taught
was fresh and evolving and was the basis of many important subsequent discoveries.

| joined the college Natural Science Society and the Thomas Young Club, of which |
became President. Thomas Young was a former member of the college who
discovered interference of wves by watching the swans on the college pond. He also
provided the standard equation for wetting of solids, the measurement of elasticity
and the translation of the Rosetta stone
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We had the benefit of several lecturers who belonged to colleges that had been
evacuated from London. Queen Mary College supplied R Robinson (Electricity) and
J R Partington, who was the indefatigable chronicler of Inorganic and Physical
Chemistry. When he prepared for his Physical Chemistry Volume he apparently took
notes from every published paper in every Physical Chemistry Journal since its first
publication. | subsequently got to know his son, Roger.

Another college that was evacuated was Bedford College for women. Since there
were only two women'’s colleges at Cambridge, and one of these, Girton, was three
miles out, Bedford College supplied a welcome access to feminine company. | fell in
love with Camilla Betbeder, who was utterly unresponsive. On another occasion |
was invited to the annual ball at Girton by Olga Rutherford, who was also
unresponsive

The London School of Economics supplied several economics lecturers. | particularly
enjoyed Harold Laski and Bertrand Russell, whose course on the “History of
Philosophy” was inspiring. | was once the Chairman at a meeting at which he
supported the Labour candidate in the 1945 General Election.

I only got a top Second Class Honours in Part 2 of the Tripos. This is mainly
attributable to the day of the Chemistry exam when my landlady had supplied for
breakfast “Scotch eggs” surrounded by meat that was so stale | spent the entire
exam running back and forth from the toilet, so that my paper was not great.

| joined the Socialist Club (CUSC) and became the College representative.

| joined the Communist Party in 1941 when | realised that the only country involved,
rather unexpectedly, in fighting Hitler Germany, was Russia. | was recruited by David
Holbrook. The Chairman of the Party at the time was John Maynard Smith,
subsequently a prominent geneticist, and another prominent member was Edward
Thompson, the historian. My friend Philip Thomas became a subsequent Chairman..

| broke the news that | no longer believed in God, to my Catholic priest, Father Gilby,
and he sent me to see a Franciscan Friar, who was evidently also a communist. | did
not understand how he could reconcile the two faiths, but | have subsequently felt
that they are not all that different, both depending on a holy book and a Pope.

| played clarinet for Socialist Club dances in a band called the “Rhythm Maniacs”. It
consisted of Mike Walker, trumpet; Kellock, trombone; Wheatley, saxophone; Frank
Walthew, piano; and Elvin Thorgerson, drums. Elvin also organised free dancing
lessons in the Socialist Club rooms
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| also played in a college orchestra that was organised by the Dean, on double bass.

The Master of Emmanuel, Edward Welbourne, was a real character. He enjoyed
lengthy discussions with anybody he met, and we sometimes spent an hour or more
in agitated conversation just by walking to the hall.

As | was a scholar | had to take it in turns to recite grace in Latin before the evening
meal. We took it in turns to see who could do it the fastest. It went “Oculi omnium In
te sperant domini. Tu das escam illorum in tempore opportuno. Aperis tu manum
tuam...benedictione The rest | have forgotten.

| shared a room with Donald Chapman and got to know his family, He was secretary
of the local Fabian Society and helped to organise the 1945 General Election in
Cambridge, | was the organiser for the Central Ward for the Labour Party. | played in
a jazz band promoting the Labour candidate, Major Symonds. He won, for the first
and last time that Labour has won Cambridge. They even won the County seat and |
remember attending the celebration party when the successful candidate, a local
Alderman, came into the room, much inebriated saying “Thish ish the proudest day
of my life,

The Labour Government, when elected, permanently banned to use of jazz bands in
an election procession.

Donald Chapmen later became a Labour M P and a life peer, Lord Northfield.
My neighbour Herchel Smith was an organic chemist, He achieved fame by gaining
a patent for an essential intermediate in the manufacture of contraceptive pills. He

made a fortune and donated much of it to the University and to the College, where
he became a Fellow.
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For my final year | decided to specialise in Physical Chemistry. | was allocated as
College Supervisor, C H Bamford. | had already had his supervision the previous
year when he had included far too many students with different levels of
development in the same class, so | felt neglected. | found that only one other
student from my class. A R Philpott, had chosen Physical Chemistry, and as he had
as supervisor, at Queen’s College, F S Dainton. | asked to join him and was
accepted.

My Organic supervisor was Frank Wild. He had a clever suggestion. He got me to
read and remember two papers published by “Nature” the week before the exam
which dealt with such general subjects that they might be quoted in several possible
answers. The examiners would be too busy to read this week’s “Nature” and would
be impressed by quoted papers they themselves had not yet read.

There were only just the two of us in the physical chemistry supervision. Dainton
really worked us hard. He set a fresh essay every week, usually based on
summarising the contents of a standard textbook on that subject.

It really paid off, as | found that the examination questions were all on subjects on
which | had written an essay. Dainton was waiting outside the exam room to find out
the exam questions.

So | got my First Class Honours Degree. This was 1942. | was then eligible to study
for a Ph D degree. | had the choice of the Department of Physical Chemistry and the
Department of Colloid Science. | was told that Norrish had the reputation of
exploiting his research students by using them to carry out studies which did not
gualify for a degree, so | chose Rideal.

| joined the Colloid Science Department and Rideal gave me a problem on catalysis
of gas reactions which involved learning the techniques of glass blowing and high
vacuum. | found Pyrex glass difficult to work and | started using soda glass which is
easier. | was criticised when | borrowed a blow pipe because | had no money to buy
one and | was close to giving up when A E Alexander came in to say that they had
just received a contract from the Petroleum Warfare Department to study a problem
that had arisen because of the Japanese invasion of Malaya.

Flame throwers and incendiary bombs had become standard weapons of war since
ancient times.. The Germans in the First World War used the Flammenwerfer, a
pump that shot thick oil that could be ignited. There was little point in using ordinary
fuel as it would burn before the target was found. The trick was to find some form of
thickening agent which could ensure that the fuel had maximum effect. By 1942 the
standard mixture was a solution of rubber in benzene. Since rubber came from
Hevea trees in Malaya the Japanese invasion had stopped the source of supply.

The Government Fuel Research Station at Greenwich had developed an alternative
in a solution of aluminium stearate in petroleum, peptised by phenol. This gelled
mixture was being used for flame thrower tanks. We were asked to develop a similar
mixture for use in incendiary bombs. Part of the deal was that we would carry out
scientific studies on the properties of this kind of mixture which was called a “gel”.
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| had 100 standard incendiary bombs stacked in the basement of the lab, each
containing a layer of yellow phosphorus at its base, to cause ignition. They were
filled with water, and had a base in which a standard gunpowder charge could be
added. We made contact with a company called Boake Roberts in East London who
were manufacturing various aluminium soaps and we made up mixtures in different
petroleum fuels using a variety of phenolic peptisers, stirred them up in buckets,
poured them into the bombs after the water had been removed, put in the
gunpowder charge and took them to the University Rifle Range and exploded them
to try and judge their effectiveness.

| invented a machine called a “splashometer” where a small sample could be
suddenly caused to splash on a surrounding piece of paper to show the best spray
pattern.

We found that after a while we had to keep increasing the concentrations to get the
best effects and found that the soap was deteriorating by absorption of moisture from
the atmosphere. So the solution was to keep it dry.

Alexander came up with a suggestion that there should be a central tube in the bomb
(a “gaine tube”) filled with a liquid phosphorus/sulphur mixture which would provide
more efficient ignition. | visited the factory in Birmingham that made the stuff and
carried some back on the train in my rucksack.

Later on we were asked to find a way to avoid the trouble of manufacturing the fuel
in a factory, and to provide an instant mixture which could be filled and mixed in a
tank in the jungle from simple ingredients. We found that you can make an
aluminium compound of the phenol (in our case cresol) which gave a suitable gel
when added with oleic acid to a tank full of ordinary petrol, after mixing..

We attended a demonstration of this system at the Ministry Testing Establishment at
Langhurst, where other unorthodox proposals were also tested. Our system worked,
but it involved giving the tank a workout over rough ground to mix the ingredients,
and it was rather hazardous to the poor soldier charged with pouring the stuff in, as it
is extremely corrosive; Amongst the other exhibits on display on this occasion was a
gigantic firework after the style of the “Pharaoh’s Serpent” which suddenly expanded
like a gigantic sausage outside a pillbox, thus obscuring the guns. With this test they
then blew it up to show how long it lasts, and out of the pill box ran a rabbit covered
in soot. An effective trick!

| studied the properties of the gels from their flow birefringence. This was then a
popular method for studying molecular structure. The liquid was placed in a coaxial
cylinder viscometer (invented by Couette) where the viscosity could be measured as
a function of shear stress. At the same time polarised light was passed through the
solution to find the extent to which the shear would rotate the plane of polarization.
This technique had been developed by a previous Ph D student, J R Robinson who
had applied it to solutions of tobacco mosaic virus to gain information on its
molecular composition.
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J R Robinson was a New Zealander at Emmanuel College and he became a
Professor of Physiology at Otago University, New Zealand, | never met him, but |
recently read his obituary in a recent Emmanuel College Magazine, aged 91.

The apparatus involved the possibility of adjusting the rate of rotation of the outer
cylinder in a continuous manner. Since efficient electric motors have a constant rate
of rotation there was a system of two wooden cones containing grooves with an
adjustable belt drive which enabled an adjustable speed.

| was thus involved in the science of Rheology, of the flow of non-Newtonian liquids.
Isaac Newton had assumed that most liquids displayed a shear stress that had a
linear dependence on the shear itself. The constant relating the two is called the
Viscosity. Fluids that do not obey this rule are therefore termed “Non-Newtonian.
There are some where the “viscosity” decreases with the shear, called “thixotropic”
and there are some where the viscosity increases with the shear, called “dilatant” .
Aluminium soap gels are thixotropic, as are most paints. | worked out their effects on
the plane of polarization of polarized light and provided a theory to explain it, with
some assistance from a friend, Philip Thomas, involving interference of moving long
chains.

| also experimented with different methods of making the gels. This involved making
the alkoxides of aluminium. It is surprising that aluminium dissolves easily in any
alcohol if you add a crystal of iodine which destroys the oxide layer which normally
protects aluminium. Some of these alkoxides formed beautiful crystals.

The laboratory had an interesting collection of scientists. The Professor seemed to
have the knack of attracting finance for research projects from a wide range of
sources. The sponsors used to visit the laboratory and we all had to have some
spectacular piece of equipment to show them, while our main work used test tubes,
beakers and flasks. There were Paley Johnson who ran an ultracentrifuge, George
Tuckett and his wife Elizabeth Frith, and David Pepper who became a professor in
Dublin. Our team had Leo Mitlin, Bernard Rabinovitch and Alexander’s wife Cathy.
Bernard became my Best Man at my wedding in the USA when he was at Harvard, a.

| did not realize it at the time, but the man in the room next to mine, Jan Forman, was
working on a project from the atomic bomb programme, | also got to know Dr Alan
Nunn May from the Physics Department, as he was Chairman of the Branch of the
Association of Scientific Workers to which | belonged. He became a notorious Atom
Spy. It is surprising that nobody at the time knew that he was involved with a
possible atomic bomb.
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There were regular seminars by the members of the laboratory. In one of these A J B
Robertson spoke about “The Thermodynamics of Ghosts”

| continued to attend lectures and we had some interesting visitors. Amongst these,
immediately after the war, was Frederic Joliot-Curie and his wife Irene. She spoke
rather halting English, he had no English at all, but his talk was much more
understandable because of his enthusiasm and gestures.

My special friend was Georgi Coumoulos. He was a communist refugee from Greece
and he had a dentist wife. They had left their children in Athens in the charge of his
brother. He told me that he had invented the silicon chip that has been used ever
since in digital watches, and that he had allocated the patent rights to the British
Government for the war effort. The only compensation he got was their
recommendation for his membership of the Institute of Physics. We visited them
several times on their return to Athens until one day his son rang me to say he had
been killed in an air crash and his wife had died suddenly after that.

| was a member of the “Home Guard” which was immortalized by the TV comedy
show “Dad’'s Army” We had a bicycle brigade which roamed the roads of
Cambridgeshire at night in case there were German parachutists. On another
occasion we practised abseiling from the roof of the entrance building.

| often cycled from London to Cambridge, and when in London joined the family on
the nightly trip to Earls Court Underground station where we slept on the platform to
escape the bombs. A brick shelter was subsequently built outside our house. During
one vacation | joined a unit manning local schools to be ready to help bomb victims,
but | was lucky, | was never needed.
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| wrote up my Ph D Thesis and the war, and the contract. came to an end.

| sent a copy to my friend, A S C Lawrence for comment. He had been in the colloid
lab, but was now at Imperial College, London. He suggested some small changes
and said | should have no difficulty in passing.

The Ph D examination involved an interview with two people, one of whom was my
supervisor, A E Alexander. Somebody brought me a torn piece of paper which was
used in one of the balances for weighing purposes. It included a passage “Minutes of
the Research Committee; V R Gray. Examiners A E Alexander and H J Emeleus”.

Now Emeleus was a distinguished Inorganic Chemist, so | bought his textbook and
attended his lectures. By the time for my examination, Emeleus had left for America,
so they had to appoint a new examiner for me. They appointed A S C Lawrence.
Since | had a statement from him that | would have no difficulty, the examination in
his rooms in London was a pleasant friendly affair. Lawrence died not long after from
diabetes.

In January 1946 | had to leave Cambridge as my contract ended, the people were
coming back from the war so | had to find a job. | was clearing up my lab and | came
across a test tube with some beautiful crystals of aluminium propoxide | had made. It
seemed a shame to throw them away so | thought, did | know a crystallographer who
might be interested in them? Well | did know a crystallographer, Max Perutz, who
had been a demonstrator in my Crystallography class. He was determined to
discover the molecular structure of haemoglobin, the blood protein. At that time
everybody thought that proteins were the secret of life.

| had attended all of his lectures where he tried to apply X-ray methods to the
structure, but he was not getting very far. So | took him my crystals and asked
whether he had friends who might be interested in finding their structure. | don't
believe anybody ever did. Then | asked my question, did he need an assistant? |
was well qualified as | had taken his course. Yes, he said, he desperately needed an
assistant, but he had no money. Did | have any money? | had none, so we shook
hands and | never saw him again. Six weeks later John Kendrew walked into his
office saying that he had a grant to do a Ph D, could he be Perutz's assistant?
Kendrew had met Bernal when he was in the army in North Africa, where he had
joined Bernal’'s operational research network. In 1962 Perutz and Kendrew were
awarded the Nobel Prize for discovering the molecular structure of haemoglobin.
Kendrew also introduced James Watson to the laboratory, where, together with
Francis Crick, they participated in the discoivery of the structure of DNA..

| wrote up two papers “Studies in Aluminium Soaps” with Alexander which were

published in the Journal of Physical Chemistry and another paper which was
published in The Proceedings of the Royal Society
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CHAPTER 3: MANCHESTER AND PARIS

3.1 MANCHESTER

| got a job with an organisation called Petrocarbon Limited. The Chief Chemist, Dr
Herbert Emil Steiner was a refugee from Vienna where he had worked with Herman
Mark, who was now at the Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn. Steiner had worked in
the Colloid Lab and he recruited me when he visited.

The laboratory was in Trafford Park, Manchester, next to the Manchester Oil
Refinery, run by the entrepreneurs Dr Kind and Dr Tugendhat.

| had lodgings in Urmston and | used to cycle every morning up Barton Dock Road
through a fine assortment of smells. There were Kellogg’'s Corn Flakes, a
pharmaceutical firm, and the sewage works before arriving in Trafford Park

Petrocarbon was sponsored by the Finance Corporation for Industry, a body set up
by the British Government to encourage innovation. Its object was to exploit a patent
owned by a famous chemist called Chaim Weizmann, who at that time was the first
President of the newly founded nation of Israel.

The patent claimed that crude oil could be converted into a large number of valuable
chemicals by passing it through a hot tube which contained his secret catalyst.

The Head of his laboratory at Rehevoth in Israel, Dr Bergmann, used to visit us
regularly and override opinions we had reached from our experiments. One day they
forgot to put the secret catalyst in the hot tube and were surprised to find it made no
difference to the resulting mixture. This was just a thermal cracking process, now the
mainstay of the oil industry. | feel sure Weizmann got his royalties for many years
after.

In order to deal with the mixture of products from the process we had an international
group of scientists. | always regarded it as the most glorious collection of Jews.
Communists and Foreigners | have ever known. Among them were many of the
firmest friends | ever made.

The gaseous products were to be separated by a gas separation plant based on low
temperatures. We had the world expert Dr Martin Ruhemann who had written the
standard textbook on low temperature physics. He was an Oxford man with an
Oxford accent. He was a Communist and his wife was the Secretary of the local
Party Branch. He had been to the Soviet Union who tried to attract sympathetic
scientists to the Physico-Technical Institute at Kharkov. Stalin purged the place. One
German scientist was sent back to Germany where he was promptly despatched to a
concentration camp. Ruhemann was the only one who got up and complained, but
he seems to have survived.

| joined a Jazz Band in Manchester called the “Smoky City Stompers” They made

three records which were sold in the Record Shop in town. They already had a
clarinet. Barry Schumm, who did four of the sides and i was only on the other two,
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which were “High Society” and “Royal Garden Blues” | was particularly proud of the
first number. Other musicians were Arnold Pennill, trumpet, and Ken Wray, trombone,
who was subsequently a top professional. The banjo, Harry Giltrap, was involved
with the record shop.

The Director’s secretary Mrs Benson, offered to type up my thesis which | had bound
and one copy went to the Cambridge University library, another to the colonel with
the Petroleum Warfare Department, and | still have the other. | went to Cambridge to
receive my degree. My mother and younger brother attended the award ceremony.

| went to have tea with the boys from the lab at the local cafe and there was with
them Dr D G Dervichian, a Frenchman who had been in the lab before the war. |
asked him my usual question; do you need an assistant? and he said that he needed
somebody to improve his English. He was taken with the idea of studying the flow
birefringence of protein solutions and he said he would organise my visit to his
laboratory in Paris, The Institut Pasteur.

3.2 PARIS

The Institut Pasteur had been built from the proceeds of Pasteur's income and from
the donations of a grateful nation, which continued to arrive. The tomb of Pasteur is
on the premises and one of my duties was to conduct English visitors to it. Outside is
the statue of Pasteur with the young boy, Joseph Meister, saved from rabies who
subsequently served as concierge.

The Physical Chemistry laboratory in the Institut Pasteur worked on the problems of
soap and proteins. My colleagues included Maurice Joly and Henri Rosano

They had a Langmuir trough for surface studies upon which | spread films of gelatine
and | had the job of building the equipment to study the flow birefringence of gelatine
solutions. My school French had to be rapidly improved so that | could negotiate with
the engineers who built the equipment. They found a beautiful quartz prism that
delivered polarized light. | carried out a long series of studies on gelatine gels with
the equipment and also studied the mechanical properties of surface films on the
Langmuir surface balance.

| stayed at the Collége Franco Britannique in the Cité Universitaire on the Southern
Outskirts of Paris. This project had been partly financed by an international set of
millionaires to provide joint accommodation for foreign and French students. The
central building had been sponsored by John D Rockefeller. The Swiss pavilion was
a celebrated building of the architect Le Corbusier

| went to two Conferences in 1948. The first was the International Rheological
Conference in the Hague, Holland, actually at Scheveningen, where | presented a
paper on Aluminium Soaps. The second was a Surface Chemistry Conference in
Bordeaux which was held to honour Professor Henri Devaux .a distinguished surface
chemist who entertained us with demonstrations of surface films on mercury. | did
not do a paper, but | helped to prepare the English translations of many of the
papers. Many of my English friends turned up to the Conference.
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There were a number of English scientists in Paris who | would meet at scientific
meetings and on social occasions. Amongst these was Rosalind Franklin, who had
taken the same courses at Cambridge, one year earlier than mine. | had been
vaguely aware of her at the time, but in Paris | got to know her at a dance, had a
meal at her flat, and accompanied her on an expedition to the Forét de Compiegne.

She told me she had quarrelled with Professor Norrish when she found an error in
two of his experiments, one after the other, and completed her Ph D in Manchester
at the Coal Utilisation Research Association before coming to Paris to study X ray
diffraction on carbons. She was later recruited by the King’'s College, London, team
to study DNA and she supplied the X ray photos that confirmed the structure. She
died of ovarian cancer before the Nobel Prize award in 1962. She was grossly
libelled by J D Watson in his “Double Helix”, for she was a pleasant, attractive girl
and a dedicated scientist, whose subsequent work (with Aaron Klug) received a
Nobel Prize, but sadly, without her.

| had arrived in September 1947 and when Christmas loomed ahead all the British
were returning home. | thought that as | had just arrived on this continent | would like
to see more of it. | found on the bulletin board an exceedingly cheap tour that | joined.
| went to the first meeting of the applicants, and there were these American girls, one
of whom was knitting an exceedingly long scarf. | subsequently met her when
obtaining a visa and we exchanged greetings. On Christmas day she invited me to
join her friends for Christmas, but | had a date with Marianne Weil to go to the circus.
| almost did not make the tour. | was not entitled to foreign exchange as | had not
been long enough in the country. However, they took all the passports to the bank
and | got the money.

So | found myself on the night train to Basle from the Gare de L'Est and | found a
carriage and settled in the corner. Then, who should arrive but these American girls
and the knitting lady sat next to me. We have now been married more than sixty
years and it has been quite an adventure.

Mary Boynton Brown was the fourth child and third daughter of an American naval
officer Alfred Winsor Brown, and his wife Marguerite. She was born on the island of
Guam, in the Pacific in 1923 when her father was the Controlling Officer. He had
been with a gun boat on the Yangtze River during the Chinese Revolution in 1912.
He had won 500 silver dollars in a poker game and had used it to have made an
exotic silver tea set at a local Chinese factory which he intended to give to his cousin.
However, on the boat home he met his future wife and the tea set became part of the
family silver. It has now ended up with us.

Her father eventually became Captain of the US Battleship “Arizona” and he died of
a heart attack in 1939, two years before the ship was sunk by the Japanese in Pearl
Harbour. He is buried in the Arlington National Cemetery with most of his family,
since both of Mary’s sisters married Naval Officers

Her brother became one also but was drummed out for homosexual activity. He

compensated for this disability by marrying and fathering eight children. The last one
led to his wife’s death, so Mary’s mother at the age of sixty, raised seven of them.
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Mary had graduated “Phi Beta Kappa” from Oberlin College, Ohio in foreign
languages, and had worked in San Francisco as a bilingual secretary, but failing
promotion because she was female, had obtained a scholarship to study for a
doctorate in Paris,

The holiday group was some kind of international organisation, so we had a mayor’'s
reception in Lausanne and we went to a ski field in Northern Italy called Sauz D’Oulx
where we stayed in a rather amazing helical building that was used by Fiat workers.
We tried skiing but didn’t like it and we spent New Year’'s Eve roaming the streets of
Milan, an experience repeated over the years for many of the major cities of the
world

Paris at the time was recovering from the war. Rationing was intense. Students had
cheap tickets for the theatres and the Opera. There were the many museums also.

| used to play along with the Claud Luter Jazz Band at the Lorientais in the Quartier
Latin. | played in a Jazz group the played for student dances, sometimes a “Bal de
Nuit”, “Jusqua l'aube”, an experience | found rather tiring. This group mainly
consisted of blacks, and was led by a piano player called Milo Sommier from
Martinique.

Many of the most famous jazz artists appeared in Paris while | was there. They
included Louis Armstrong’s All Stars, which included Jack Teagarden and Earl Hines,
Coleman Hawkins, Erroll Garner, Dizzy Gillespie, and the Graeme Bell band from
Australia.

The summer of 1948 we joined a youth group building a railway in Slovakia. We paid
our fare to Prague. At Prague station the French displayed their resistance to being
organised by disappearing to all corners of the station while the leader was finding
where we were to go.

We then went to a camp building a railway from Hronska Dubrava to Banska
Stiavnica in Slovakia. Men and women were in separate bunk dormitories. The food
involved much “black” rye bread which Mary did not like. We dug rocks from above,
and put them in wagons to fill the valley below,

We formed into Groups with separate names. We were “Group Zatopec”, named
after the Czech runner who was currently breaking records at the London Olympic
Games.

One day two students who had been sent to fetch water did not notice the arrival of
the local train, and one was killed. There was a funeral procession to the local
Jewish cemetery.

We were there when the democratic government was taken over by the communists
in 1948.

After two weeks we had a week’s holiday exploring the Tatra mountains. At one stop
we were told to return sharp at two o’clock, but three people never came, so we left.
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We met them several days later when they said they had decided to travel by
themselves.

| wrote up my work from the lab for a paper and when | returned to Britain asked F R
Eirich to comment on it during a visit to the Colloid Lab. He then suddenly
disappeared to America and when | wrote to him he said he had lost my manuscript
and apologised. This was in the days before photocopies and it was the only copy,
so the results of eighteen months’ work were lost. However | wrote up a short
account of what | had found which was published as a Letter in “Nature™

Mary’s mother was horrified at her daughter's involvement with this English
communist and she arrived and whisked Mary away to Vienna, working on the
Marshall Plan. We corresponded and the authorities read our letters and withdrew
Mary’s security clearance. This paid off as they were obliged to pay her fare and
expenses to return to the USA where we were eventually married.

My contract with the French was coming to an end and | scrutinised the pages of
“Nature” and found an advert for Post-Doctoral Scholarships in Ottawa, Canada, so |
sent an application. To my surprise, | got an acceptance by return of post. This was
difficult to understand as my referee, A E Alexander, was by this time in Australia
and it seemed unlikely that they had contacted him. However, | was on my way. |
subsequently found that the approval for the scholarships had been delayed in the
Canadian Parliament and they were anxious to spend the allocation for the current
year or they might not get the next, so they wasted no time.. | was one of the first
appointees.

The French had a unique attitude to bureaucracy. They were strict and then they
found a way round it. When 1 visited the dentist | received a receipt that was 50%
more than | paid because | could reclaim 50% of what was on the bill. When they
knew | was going to Canada they gave me a grant to help me go which was equal to
one month’s salary, which was paid one month in arrears. | very fortunately kept my
post office bank book because some months later somebody forwarded a slip which
stated that the account had mysteriously increased. When | next visited France |
filled in a withdrawal slip and took it to the post office, scared there was a fraud, but
the money was there and helped the holiday. | assume it was some sort of back pay.
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CHAPTER 4: CANADA

| embarked on the “Empress of Canada across the Atlantic, and arrived at Halifax,
Nova Scotia and eventually at the National Research Council Laboratory in Ottawa
where | had lodgings with Mrs Flynn.

Mary had her security clearance withdrawn, but they paid her to return to the US. We
were married at her brother’s house in Ridgewood, New Jersey on May 21st 1949.
Her mother came, but her sisters and their husbands were forbidden to attend
because of my opinions. My best man, Bernard Rabinovitch, was also a Communist.
But he evaded McCarthy and had a career ay the University of Washington. He
arranged for me to lecture at Harvard, where he was currently working, on
“Aluminium Soaps”

We spent our honeymoon in New England and settled in Ottawa.

The National Research Council Laboratory had a wide range of research, and the
programme of post-doctoral fellowships supplied an estimated 10% of all recent
British PhDs. These included my old school friend Donald Ramsay, in the
spectroscopy section under G Herzberg, and Stan Bywater who had been with me in
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the Colloid Lab at Cambridge. | was in the Colloid Lab under Ira Puddington. | had as
colleagues Roger Partington, the son of Professor J R Partington, whose lectures |
had attended. He was from Oxford. Then there was George Stainsby from Leeds.

| was asked to find a project and | chose one where powder samples could be
spread on a surface balance to estimate mean patrticle size. The powder sample was
treated with a water resistant substance so each particle would float, and then the
film was compressed until the stress went up from collapse when all particles were
touching. | published a paper in The Canadian Journal of Research. The method
became a standard treatment for assessing particles for aluminium paints.

Puddington had an interesting story about the application of rheology. Apparently the
base material for the soft drink Coca Cola is potato starch treated with an enzyme to
give a mixture of sugars. The company had set up a new factory which involved the
removal of water from the potato starch by means of a centrifuge. They tested the
system with some starch and it worked fine. Then, when they ran the factory, the
shaft on the centrifuge fractured. They assumed a fault in the shaft and replaced it,
but it broke again when they resumed, Puddington was able to show that wet potato
starch is dilatant. That is to say, as soon as you stress it, it sets solid and so breaks
the centrifuge shaft. Dried potato starch, when rewetted does not do this, so the
factory had to dry its starch before beginning the process.

Puddington had a project in which he had installed a special stopper with an alloy
with metallic sodium in it, on the oil tank of the Government vehicles as he had
shown that this greatly reduced oil deterioration.

After one year | was called into the office of E W Steacie, the Director when he told
me that he was awfully sorry but he could not renew my contract for the coming year
because they had told him that | was a Communist. He completely disapproved but
he had no choice. He would help me to find another job.

| tried to find another job in Canada, but eventually wrote to my old firm, Petrocarbon
in Manchester who replied that they would be glad to welcome me back, and would |
please carry out an assignment for them in New York’

They had built up a contact with Professor Herman Mark at the Polytechnic Institute
in Brooklyn. He had been a colleague of Herbert Steiner in Vienna and there were
several research projects where they wanted co-operation.

| wrote to a friend who was already there, Vivian Stannett, arranged accommodation
and set off for New York. | got a US visa, for which they took fingerprints, packed my
bags and took the train to Montreal, and then the train to New York.

On the border a man came along and said | had to get out, He told my wife, who is
an American, that she could continue, but she chose to accompany me. | was taken
to the border station. | was asked to swear an oath that | would tell the truth. | regret
that | agreed, because they had nothing to accuse me of and | had a valid US visa
and | could have refused to answer questions if | had not sworn an oath.

28



| was then grilled for two hours, wanting details of everywhere | had ever lived,
everything | read. | would not answer questions about my contacts in New York.
Eventually | agreed that | was a Communist and at that | was to return to Canada on
the 6 a m train. It was then 2 a.m. and they offered to find a hotel in town. | did not
see the point, so they offered their jail upstairs which was otherwise unoccupied and
was quite comfortable. So we spent the night in jail and were put on the train back to
Montreal.. From there we booked a passage to Liverpool on the “cool Northern
Route” on the Newfoundland... We broke slowly through pack ice to Newfoundland
itself where snow covered the streets. When we got out of the ice it was rough. We
arrived back in Liverpool and took a train back to Manchester.. It was 1950, when
there was a General Election in Britain.
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CHAPTER 5: MANCHESTER, PONTYPOOL, CHELTENHAM.

5.1 MANCHESTER

We settled down, first in a flat in Stretford, and then we bought a house in Urmston
and my eldest son was born in Park Hospital, Davyhulme in February 1951. He was
a bit early, so, while my wife was in hospital, | found myself furnishing an empty
house, much of which | did at the local auction rooms in Eccles. | was particularly
proud of a rosewood chiffonier which went for half a crown.

| had several projects involving oxidation of hydrocarbons. The first involved a quartz
vessel and ultraviolet light. We managed to get a reasonable yield of alcohols and
we took out a patent. The second project involved a heated pressure vessel
constantly shaken, with the liquid under pressure of oxygen. The reaction went too
fast and kept exploding the relief disc. | became notorious for the inevitable bangs.
Later we found that the chromium in the stainless steel vessel was a powerful
catalyst, and the explosions had weakened the vessel so that it leaked through many
cracks.

The other projects concerned plastics. At the time the most common thermoplastic
was polystyrene. Most of the toys at Woolworths were made from it. We were
making styrene with everything else, so we built our own plant to make the polymer.
It was then found that styrene could not be separated by distillation because it forms
an azeotropic mixture with meta and para xylene. So we had to buy styrene from
Dow Chemicals to supply our plant.

Bulk polystyrene was made by heating the monomer with a benzoyl peroxide
catalyst. The amount made at one time had to be controlled since the reaction gave
off a lot o heat which could spoil the quality.. We had a new process invented by Dr
Hohenstein of the Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn. It involved heating styrene and
water and stirring vigorously with a stabilising agent, calcium phosphate, which
meant the styrene was in the form of small bubbles with good temperature control.
The result was small beads of polymer instead of bulk solid.

Today, polystyrene has been replaced by polyethylene as the most common plastic,
as polystyrene was too brittle and more expensive. However, the bead process
made it possible to make beads that contain a foaming agent, so the foamed product
is used to provide a standard packaging material.

| also carried out studies of styrene copolymers with butadiene. Our reaction vessels
were “sterilized” beer bottles that were used for steam-treated beer as they were
designed to hold pressure. We had a crown cork machine to seal and we used an
emulsion process. The product was intended for footware.and another patent
followed

The styrene/xylene mixture we produced was used in the paint industry,
copolymerised with drying oils,
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Exploding pressure disc

In 1951, | attended an International Plastics Conference in Zurich, where the main
speaker was Hermann Staudinger, one of the originators of plastics..

The economics of our processes were disappointing and so were efforts to improve
our finances. Various firms visited to consider purchase. What solved it was an
initiative made by the Chairman of our Research Committee, Sir Robert Robinson,
Nobel Prize winner for having discovered the structure of morphine. He found out
that the Head of the Coal Research Institute in Germany, Karl Zeigler, had invented
a low pressure process for making polyethylene. At the time polyethylene had to be
made under high pressure in expensive equipment. Zeigler used an aluminium
compound as a catalyst. Robinson sent some of our people to buy his patent rights.
As a result the company was purchased by Shell Chemicals who had a plant at
Carrington. Our process was one of the earliest for petroleum cracking, now used
extensively.

In the break up of the company | was made redundant, so | found a job with British
Nylon Spinners at Pontypool, South Wales. This was 1952
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5.2 PONTYPOOL

We had a new house in a recently built housing estate at the “New Town” of
Cwmbran, Monmouthshire. British Nylon Spinners was a branch of Imperial
Chemical Industries at the neighbouring Pontypool.

Nylon was the triumph of Wallace Hume Carothers, a chemist at Columbia University,
New York who carried out the first systematic experiments on condensation
polymers. He started by joining together bifunctional alcohols such as ethylene glycol
with dibasic acids such as succinic acid to give polyesters. He made a large number
of these and found that none of them had a high enough melting point to be suitable
for textile fibres.

He was then set up in a laboratory by the Dupont Company. He decided to make
polyamides by joining diamines to diacids. This produced a whole series of plastics
that gave excellent fibres. They were called NYLON. Dupont did very well from this
discovery.

It is ironic that many years later in the laboratory of the Calico Printers in Manchester,
two chemists reading of Carothers’ experiments with polyesters noticed that he had
not bothered to try the polymers from ethylene glycol and the separate isomers of
phthalic acid, meta, para and tery. When they tried them they found that the tery
isomer actually gave a good fibre, called TERYLENE which became the property of
ICI. Today this fibre is even more important than nylon, and is now usually called
POLYESTER.

Carothers ended his life by jumping off the Empire State Building in New York.

In order to make nylon fibres the polymer has to be heated to a very closely
controlled temperature and then squirted through spinnerets and wound on to
bobbins. Temperature control is very difficult, so they circulate a heated liquid called
Dowtherm through all of the equipment. The control was so sensitive that the fibres
had to be graded according to how successful they were. The highest strength fibres
were used for stockings, and the lowest for ropes and curtains. Nylon breaks down
more rapidly in the sun than polyester, so the curtain market was lost.

The laboratory was financed by the tax relief for research and development provided
by the British Government. We had an Oxford Chemist as Head and several Ph Ds.

One of the problems they had was that on some spinnerets the polymer tended to
spread across the spinneret. | measured a series of contact angles on metal
surfaces in the hope of avoiding this problem. | also measured the surface tension of
Nylon..

Not long after | arrived | was made President of the local Branch of the Association
of Scientific Workers. Soon after that | was summoned to the boss’s office and told |
was dismissed because | was a Communist. The Union seemed powerless. The only
member of the staff who complained was a Polish scientist Dr Mieskis. He had
different political views from mine, but he was the only person prepared to stand up
for principles of fair play,
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| had already received offers from my previous applications. One of these was no
longer interested, but the other one was. So my next place was the Coal Research
Establishment at Stoke Orchard, near Cheltenham, where the family moved.

5.3 CHELTENHAM

The British coal industry was inefficient, fragmented and prone to union strife. The
British Labour Party had long called for its nationalisation and this was done by the
Labour Government of 1945. They set up a Coal Board with Headquarters in Hobart
House, London. They decided to have a Central Scientific Research Establishment
and eventually chose a site at Stoke Orchard, near Cheltenham. It was chosen
because it was not associated with any coal field, so it would not be influenced by
any one region. The original buildings had been an aircraft factory during the war. It
was financed by one farthing per ton of coal produced. Its lack of contact with actual
coalfield meant that it was liable to provide instruments for use in the mines which
were not robust enough for actual use there. On the other hand it carried out some
really original research on coal

The only scientific research establishment of the private coal industry was run by the
Powell Duffryn Company at Ystradgynlais, North Wales. Its Director was Dr Idris
Jones and his deputy was Dr Rhys Jones.. Dr Idris Jones was Head Scientist at
Headquarters and Dr Rhys Jones was Director at Stoke Orchard. Dr Idris Jones was
called the Big Doctor because he was large and Dr Rhys Jones was the Little Doctor.
A Chief Scientist was also appointed. He was Sir Charles Ellis, who had been a co-
worker of Lord Rutherford and was one of the authors of the standard textbook of
radioactivity, Rutherford. Chadwick and Ellis.

They had recruited Ph Ds from all the Welsh universities. The telephone list was a
compilation of Jones, Evans, Jenkins and Williams. They set up Departments with
different disciplines. There was a story of a telephone conversation between the big
doctor and the little doctor. LD “You have sent me this former Professor of Electrical
Engineering from Rangoon University, Dr Forbes Sharpley. What am | supposed to
do with him?”. BD “l suppose you had better start an Electrical Engineering
Department”.

Stoke Orchard was some distance from Cheltenham, out in the country, and | used
to travel by bicycle. One of the chemists in the Coal Science section was an old
friend from Ottawa, Roger Partington. Another was my old Emmanuel College friend,
a fellow member of the Cambridge Socialist Club, Desmond Fitzgerald. Another
Emmanuel man, John Mainhood, became a close friend.

| joined the Coal Preparation Section. The Head was P F Whelan. His whole object
in life was to publish papers. In the office was a chart with possible titles and their
progress, from draft, despatch, acceptance, and finally, print. We did the work and it
was always published with his nhame on it. He was a workaholic who never took
holidays because he resented interference in what he was doing by the Director. All
visitors were personally conducted round by himself.
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This became more necessary with the appointment of a new Director, Jacob
Bronowski, Rhys Jones now became Deputy. Bronowski had been a mathematics
lecturer and he had been involved with the atom bomb project. He was a polymath
who had written books on William Blake and on the History of Science. He had
written plays for television, and was currently one of the stars of the BBC “Brains
Trust” programme together with Professor Joad, and Malcolm Sargent. He had three
standard answers to almost every question; The Day | met Einstein, The Day | met
Rutherford, and The Day | went to Hiroshima. | felt very inferior that | had just missed
meeting Rutherford, and had to be content with Bertrand Russell, C P Snow and
Rosalind Franklin.

He was so busy with television that he only turned up to Stoke Orchard occasionally,
when we all trembled, as he felt he had to show he was Director by reorganising
everybody. He was a brilliant lunchtime companion.

There was a story that a staff member had had a visit from an Encyclopedia
Britannica salesman who explained the many advantages it offered. These included
the provision of a free briefing on any subject, once a year. “For example, you have
heard of Dr Bronowski?. The staff member admitted that he had. “Well, you know the
article he had in Sunday’s ‘Observer’ on Leonardo da Vinci? We wrote that.”

Once the whole establishment was recruited to supply exhibits for the lecture Sir
Charles Ellis gave to the Royal Institution. Elaborate mockups of the
celebrated "Bronowski’s briquettes” were prepared.

These latter were the result of the disastrous smog that hit London in 1953, We had
to prepare suitable smokeless fuel. Much work was done on coal from a Kent
coalfield which promptly closed, but the main source became Bingley.

| had a project on the electrostatic cleaning of coal. A plant with this principle had
existed in Germany and | set up a system with a metal cylinder and high voltage
electricity which separated coal from shale. | eventually published a long paper in the
Journal “Fuel”.

The major project of the section was a mobile washery, whose task was to visit those
coalfields with a large stock of coal which had been left untreated at the time of
nationalisation. Often these were in the form of a large dump for which the original
owners had received compensation. The scientists manning the mobile plant had to
move around the country living in a caravan to clean the coal. In many cases the
dump turned out to consist mainly of rejected rock to which a thin veneer of coal had
been applied to justify a high compensation payment.

| agitated to visit an actual coalfield. | spent two weeks in a Yorkshire coalfield near
Sheffield that had recently installed a new washery.

The mine manager sat in his office opposite the trade union organiser. The entire
site was covered in miscellaneous rubbish. The vacuum pump that was supposed to
remove water from the fine coal was on the wrong level and would not work without
constant priming. There was a filter system with rather fragile metal grids that
needed frequent replacement. The technician whose job was to replace them was
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lazy and well behind, so only one set worked. | wrote all this up when | returned, but
they suppressed it.

Bronowski had a massive piece of coal, varnished to stop it disintegrating, placed at
the entrance, and he built a croquet lawn in front where he would play with his
secretaries during the lunch hour.

I moved to a section headed by C C Dell where | measured contact angles with
water on many kinds of coal and we patented a new kind of dewatering filter using
fine porous ceramic which did not get clogged like metal filters. | also devised a
means of finding the pore size distribution of a filter cake, involving progressive
withdrawal of moisture. | used it to assess the effectiveness of additives intended to
improve filtration efficiency. | published a paper in The Journal of the Institute of Fuel
and gave a lecture to their London branch.

Our daughter Pamela Jane was born at home, and then we had another son,
Benjamin Vincent. He was premature, as Mary had a condition called “placenta
previa” where the placenta interferes with the exit of the baby. During an attempt to
alter the baby’s position she had a massive haemorrhage, followed by a successful
blood transfusion. Her sister-in-law in the USA had died from the same problem,
largely because blood had to be purchased.

Bronowski subsequently went to the Salk Institute in California where he wrote his
television series “The Ascent of Man”

The Coal Establishment was eventually closed down after the decline of the coal
industry and the area is now a housing estate. It was responsible for some of the
best theoretical and practical studies on the science of coal.

| started applying for jobs in 1956.

The first offer was after an interview with the Mars Company in Slough. They were
an American Company with unusual recruitment methods. They invited all the
candidates to attend a day’s tour around their factory and to endure an extensive
examination. They were particularly worried about how to make good chocolate.
They had not succeeded in producing material that competed successfully with
Cadbury’s, so all their chocolate was used to coat other sweets, of which the Mars
Bar was the best known. Their chocolate was made in open trays with a roller going
up and down, rather like the equipment used for emulsion paints. Chocolate is a
mixture of two parts from the cocoa bean, The cocoa is mixed with the cocoa butter
in the equipment which supplies oxidation from the atmosphere. They also carried
out opinion surveys on various flavours and had been surprised that synthetic
flavours are often preferred to the real ones.

We were asked to write a series of essays and answer a series of questions. | won
the contest and turned down the job offer, because | did not think | wanted to spend
my life selling sweets.

| had another interview for a research establishment in Scotland, which | lost
because another applicant was a Nobel Prize winner. He was A J P Martin, co-
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inventor of paper chromatography. He ran out of ideas and the place closed down
some years later.

| applied for the job of Chief Chemist at the Timber Research and Development
Association, at Tylers Green near High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire and | was
accepted.
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CHAPTER 6: HIGH WYCOMBE

The whole family, which now included three children, moved, first to a rented large
house in a village called Penn Street, and then to a large old house in High
Wycombe. This was now 1957.

Not long after | arrived | answered an advert in the “New Statesman” for people to
appear in a new quiz game on Granada television called “Criss Cross Quiz” which
involved playing a game of noughts and crosses, but being required to answer
guestions in the subject above a chosen square when playing, | attended an
interview in London where | was asked to answer a range of questions. | impressed
them by pointing out that three of th questions were wrong. The one | remember was
to decide which was the maximum value of banknotes in the game oif “Monopoly”,
£100, £200, or £5007?. | pointed out that there were no £ signs on “Monopoly”
banknotes.

| found myself on the show, which took place three times a week in Manchester. You
got £10 for every correct answer while you were winning and lost the proceeds of
your last game. An actor, Jeremy Hawk took the questions off piles that were
supposed to have been checked by Encyclopaedia Britannica.

I won for three nights. The questions were often scientific, for which | beat the
competition, and | managed to hold my own on history and sport. On the last night |
was asked to meet the producer. He seemed to want to know whether | wanted a
career in television but it was unclear why. | think he was expecting to be bribed with
my winnings. | declined, and | think it possible that as a result the quizmaster was
ordered to increase the difficulty. This could perhaps be achieved by taking from the
bottom of the pile. But, anyway | lost. The questions that failed me involved the bat
called the flying fox, and the most western province of China for which | guessed
Sichuan, instead of Xinjiang. So | ended up with £610 which changed my life. We
had just signed a contract on a modern three bedroom house, but would have
preferred a magnificent old mansion near the centre of High Wycombe, for which we
could not afford the additional mortgage,

In English law you can repudiate even a signed contract, so we bought the mansion “
The Mount, Amersham Hill. My wife was able to indulge an addiction for auction
sales and we filled it with fine old furniture and had plenty of room for the children,
who eventually numbered four At one point we had two grand pianos, one of which
was a “Steck” player piano whose player mechanism was removed because it was
so worn out, and an “Erhard” grand which had the most beautiful rosewood case, but
a wooden frame.

| became something of a celebrity. | had been introduced as coming from “Penn
Street”, this tiny village, so the locality suddenly became well known. | paid a visit to
the House of Commons where the man taking my coat told me that they get all kinds
of celebrities. | was evidently more important than the Prime Minister.

Many of my friends tried to join the programme, but it seemed to degenerate into the
preserve of camp followers and journalists, with a corresponding decline in the
guality of the questions.
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The Timber Research and Development Association was one of the British Research
Associations jointly financed by industry and government. | was given the job of
starting a new chemistry laboratory, including the benches and equipment. The
Director was an engineer, Phillip Reece. | took over a testing system for clear
finishes for timber on different kinds of wood and | experimented with plastics and
wood preservatives. We also tested adhesives and | became a close friend of Bill
Chugg who was in change of a project to promote glued laminated construction. He
eventually wrote a textbook on the subject. | measured contact angles and colour
changes.

| wrote many papers for the Institute of Wood Science Journal and served on their
Board for several years. | wrote articles on the use of timber for flooring and for
chemical plant. | tested paint and got to know many of the paint manufacturers. |
also tested fire retardant treatments. | was a member of several British Standard
Committees involving timber, paint adhesives and fire. | visited the Paint Research
Station, the Fire Research Station and the Forest Products Research Laboratory at
Princes Risborough regularly.

| carried out a series of studies on the effects of roughness on contact angles and on
wetting and adhesion and published a series of papers on the subject which |
consider to be the best of my career.

The contact angle between a liquid and a solid surface decides the ease with which
the solid is wetted by the liquid. There is usually a difference between the advancing
angle, concerned with wetting, and the receding angle, with de-wetting. Roughness
of the solid usually increases both of these angles, and so may be used to assist the
waterproofing of surfaces. | measured contact angles on a number of plant surfaces
and realised that waterproofing is often secured by a most complex system of
irregular surfaces in biological systems

| became a critic of an equation relating contact angle to surface roughness
published by Wenzel, in which roughness was defined as the ratio between the
actual area of a rough surface and the parallel flat surface. | argued that the line of
contact between an advancing or receding liquid over a surface had a profile which
did not necessarily correspond with the average roughness of the entire surface.
This was particularly so with the very rough surfaces of plants | examined. Cassie
and Baxter published a paper which used Wenzel's treatment to characterise
waterproofing on textiles, where the surface actually has gaps. The line of contact of
a liquid on such a surface bridges the gaps, but is not related to the area ratio of
Wenzel. | wrote a paper on the subject for the Journal of Colloid Science. It was
rejected, since academics who reviewed it did not seem to understand the difference
between surface energy, which applies to a whole surface, and surface tension
which applies only along a line. The measured contact angle is, anyway, an average
of the different angles along the visible path of the liquid observed.

| published a paper in a symposium of the Society of Chemical Industry on “Wetting”

and a paper in their Journal on Surface Tension and Surface Energy where | brought
up these themes. | attended International Conferences in Norway and Germany and
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presented papers on my subject there. | contributed to two “Adhesion” symposia at
te Northampton Polytechnic, London

A firm of manufacturers of wood wool approached us to suggest possible new
markets for their product. W. A. Chugg and | developed a building board which was
bonded by urea-formaldehyde adhesive and cured by microwave heating. A patent
was taken out but does not seem to have led to manufacture.

| left the Communist Part in 1957 after the invasion of Hungary. Although the British
Party was mainly involved with British politics, | felt | could not be associated with the
murder of the Hungarian Prime Minister, Imre Nagy. | joined the Labour Party and
my whole family was involved in local and national elections. Mary became a town
councillor, and she would almost certainly have become mayor if we had stayed..
Amongst our acquaintances were two lady mayors, Betty Barratt (Labour) and
Kathleen Peatey (Conservative).

We were active in the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament, participated in two of the
marches to Aldermaston and played in the band.

Marching to Aldermaston 1960. Alexander on the tria  ngle and me on the
clarinet

Our second daughter, Josephine Alice was born in the Radcliffe Infirmary, Oxford.
Because of Mary’s previous experience with Benjamin,

6.1 THE ALBERTS

| became involved with the activities of my two brothers, Tony and Douglas, who
both lived in large former clerical houses in East Anglia and collected old musical
instruments. Douglas was involved with a jazz band called “The Temperance Seven”
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where he played the sousaphone. Tony played the slide trumpet and the brothers
formed a duo called “The Alberts” after our father. They joined with an artist called
Bruce Lacey and put on a show in London called “An evening of British Rubbish”
where they played a variety of musical instruments. Bruce connected a penny
farthing bicycle wheel to an amplifier and played a tune on it. He also invented an
exploding saxophone. My mother, dressed in Victorian costume played the piano to
welcome the audience.

The Alberts performed music on a number of the Beatles called “Yellow submarine”
They also joined the Goons (Peter Sellers, Harry Secombe and Spike Milligan) for
two early television comedies. “A show called Fred” and “Son of Fred”, as the
transition to vision from the successful radio “Goon Show” required additional people
for vision where every show had to be live.

The three of them recorded four numbers for the HMV label under the auspicies of
George Martin, the man behind The Beatles. | joined them on soprano saxophone.
The numbers were “Morse Code Melody” with a vocal by Tony, “Sleepy Valley” with
a vocal by Bruce, “Goodbye Dolly Gray” (my mother’'s name) and “Blaze Away”. The
band included the well-known trombone player, George Chisholm.

We all went up to Birmingham for a TV programme called “Thank Your Lucky Stars”
which involved miming to our “Morse Code Melody” record in an artificial snowstorm

They were asked to provide the opening programme for the Second TV Channel
which was called “The Alberts Channel 2. | was roped in. It purported to be a history
of recorded music. One sequence showed Tony in court equerry uniform ridinga
boneshaker bicycle from Windsor Castle carrying a cleft stick with a gramophone
record containing the King;s Christmas message to the far flung outposts of empire,
then via a steamer and a camel to an isolated platoon of British soldiers in the desert,
surrounded by fuzzy wuzzies. On arrival the record was played on a wind-up
gramophone while the soldiers stood to attention to hear his majesty, were
immediately transfixed by assegais and fell down dead. This last sequence took
place in a sandpit near Virginia Water.

There was another sequence where two black hunters went on safari wearing pith
helmets, followed by a team of white bearers. One had a bird cage, another, a wind-
up gramophone. Ivor Cutler read some of his lugubrious poems.

The programme was shown the night there was a power cut and it did not have a
sequel
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The Albe rts

However, Spike put on a programme called “Man and Music” not long after to which |
was recruited. There was a skeleton in evening dress who got out of a bath full of
water to introduce the programme. There was a circular billiard table with a hole in
the middle and a strange engine which had the fares for No 11 bus on it which
eventually exploded. The cameramen could hardly operate for laughing. During a lull
we all played jazz with Spike on the trumpet. His favourite tune was “Tangerine”.
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| still have the script for this programme and wonder whether it would find favour oin
the “Antiques Roadshow”.

The Alberts had the job of comperes for several All Night Festivals of Jazz at the
Royal Albert Hall, so | found myself playing in jam sessions with the main jazz
personalities of the day. On another occasion we played in the foyer of the Royal
Albert Hall for a “Hoffnung” classical concert. That time | played the xylophone.

There was also the benefit concert that was pt on the raise the libel debts of Peter
Cook for his insults in the magazine “Private Eye”. | took my daughters autograph
book and thus collected the signatures of Manfred Mann, the current top of the pops,
Johnny Dankworth, Cleo Laine, Barry Humphreys Wally Fawkes, Peter Cook,
Dudley Moore and others.

The Alberts ran a partly comic jazzband in The Ken Colyer Club in Central London
for a year or two. .

6.2 LONDON

In 1966 | applied for the post of Senior Principal Scientific Officer at the Ministry of
Works in London. This was a promotion from my current job. | was accepted.

The job was in Millbank, London. It involved taking the train at High Wycombe station
every morning at 7 am, to Marylebone. There | took the Bakerloo line to Trafalgar
Square. Then | would walk across the Square and take a bus to Millbank for 9 am. |
would leave at 5 pm and arrive home at 7 pm. | read 'The Times” on the way in and
fell asleep on the way back.

The Ministry had set up a special unit to promote industrialised building. | was
concerned with maintenance, adhesives, timber and building materials in general.
We had a number of projects around the country. One was a supposedly energy-
reducing house in Wallasey. | did a paper for the Conference in Edinburgh on
“Technological Forecasting. The Head was a prominent architect and my section
Head was W J Reiners.

The object of the Group was to provide support for industrialised building systems.
There was much reliance on multi-storey flats built from concrete panels. This
programme suffered a setback when a block of flats at Ronan Point in London
collapsed when one panel was removed by a gas explosion. The remedial work and
future modifications damaged the entire programme. One of my staff, Dr Grabowski,
had left the firm, John Laing, that produced the panels, when he warned them that
this would happen.

In order to persuade people to work in London they had to offer higher pay. There
were people who commuted from places like Newmarket and Bristol every day. They
once carried out a survey on the health of London office workers and were surprised
to find that it was above normal. This should not have been surprising as you had to
be pretty fit to endure the commuter routine. | once tried to alter a letter | had sent to
the typing pool and found it was too late to do so as it had been sent to Newcastle.
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This procedure was necessary, as low paid staff could not be persuaded to work in
London.

| somehow antagonised Reiners, so that when | applied for a permanent post he
opposed me and took it as a reason to remove me. | was offered a post at the Forest
Products Research Laboratory under Tom Oxley and Eric Gibson.

| had a research project to determine the moisture content of timber in houses. | had
a sample on an inexpensive balance in my attic to see what variation took place and
I went round the houses on several housing estates with a moisture meter and a wet
and dry bulb thermometer to measure the relative humidity.. We had a project to find
how much doors were distorted when the humidity was different on the two sides.

When | ran into trouble at the Ministry | looked at jobs again. One was Director of the
Building Research Association of New Zealand. | wrote my application on one side of
an air letter form. | was interviewed in London by a Geologist from their Board, Dick
Willett. | was surprised when a few month’s later | was offered the job, which | took
up in May 1970. It involved packing up an entire house, two cars. two pianos, fifty
two tea chests of books, and a family of wife and four children, who travelled on the
P & O Liner “Oriana”. Apart from a burst appendix operation on my wife and a fire in
Southampton harbour before they started, we were eventually installed in Wellington,
New Zealand. | had arrived early by air. | had to ge a US Visa and they claimed | had
been in New York on a date which was certainly not true, so either | have a double or
their records are wrong. | changed in San Francisco where | met Mary’s mother. |
was met in Wellington by a delegation of Board members an ensconced in the
Airport Hotel to conquer jetlag.
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CHAPTER 7: NEW ZEALAND: WELLINGTON:

7.1:BUILDING RESEARCH

The New Zealand Building Research Association was a Research Association set up
in a very similar fashion to the British Timber Research Association. It was financed
by a levy on all building permits and by an equivalent grant from the Government.

We had premises in an office building in Vivian Street, Wellington. | had a Secretary,
Frank Holman, who had been a professional pianist. He showed me around town.
We had a small staff which had been set up by the previous Building Research
Bureau. They included Len Kenna, an engineer who was Acting Director after the
previous Director, of the Bureau, Graeme Stevens, had left.

| went into various lodgings while | studied the housing market. Finding a house with
five bedrooms was difficult. Eventually i bought a house in Silverstream Road,
Crofton Downs, in Wellington. It was a rather remarkable house, a “Lockwood”

The company supplying it was a creation of two Dutchmen, Joe La Grouw Senior
and Johannes Van Loghem. La Grouw developed what was originally an American
log cabin design. It used about two and a half times as much timber as the frame
house. It depended of the availability of radiata pine timber from trees that were
planted as a task for the unemployed in the 1930s. Radiata pine grows with its side
shoots on the same place on the trunk, so the the knots are clustered in such a way
as to impair its structural value, so before pruning measures were taken it was cheap.
La Grouw was a stickler for the best scientific methods, so all timbers were treated
with borate to discourage borer. It used glued-laminated beams to stiffen the roof,
The external cladding was covered with an aluminium sheet with a plastic finish.
greatly reducing maintenance. | visited their factory in Rotorua and found that it was
probably the only house that is made from blueprints. Over the years it has had
difficulty in competing with a framed house, but it is capable of supplying a kitset for
assembly on site, which could be provided in remote places.

As a timber scientist | found it pleasant to be surrounded by timber. One other
advantage is that there is no need for decorating and it is easy to hang pictures.

Our site was the last on the housing development and was originally a steep bush-
covered gully with a stream running through it. Much of the stream was put into a
culvert which came out in the Silver Stream that runs along the road. Much of the
rest was levelled with “clean fill", which is heavy clay, difficult to cultivate. Part is still
“bush”, a steep area with regenerating New Zealand native plants, which, when we
arrived, was devastated by possums. The Australian opossum was introduced for its
fur, but it became a pest as there are no local predators. When we first moved in we
sometimes had a row of possums on our outside deck watching television. | had a
trap and drowned them in a 44 gallon drum. For 20 years | caught an average of two
a month. Campaigns to reduce them were eventually successful and nowadays | do
not see them.
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The house is on the edge of the urban area of Wellington, with open country behind.
The first station on the commuter rail line for the Northern suburbs was at the end of
the road, so we easily travelled to the city.

The Board consisted of representatives of the Architects, the Master Builders
Federation, The Local Councils, The Manufacturers Federation and the DSIR (The
Department of Scientific and Industrial Research). Jack King, the Chairman,
represented the architects. He was senior partner of a Wellington firm. Frank Wild
was another architect. Deputy Chairman was Bob Lockwood from the Master
Builders. Keith Hay was a well-known builder who was planning industrialised
buildings. Monty Craven was from the Concrete Association. Ray Webby was
another builder. Lloyd Brown was a manufacturer. He was Director of Vibrapac, a
firm building houses from concrete blocks. Jim Espie represented Fletcher Building,
and Keith Fulllames from a pottery firm was another. Bob Norman was from the
Ministry of Works, Professor Park was from Canterbury University, and Professor
Meyer was from Auckland University. The DSIR representative was Dick Willett, the
Senior Geologist who had interviewed me. The Government representative was
Jimmy Nash, son of a previous Prime Minister. There was a public relations officer,
David Beatson.

They organised a series of events to publicise my arrival. At an early one | met the
Prime Minister Keith Holyoake and | sent a photograph to the Bucks Free Press in
High Wycombe. There was a series of Building Conferences in the main cities. | met
Owen McShane, who was publicity officer for a firm in Auckland planning the
construction of industrialised buildings.
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| appeared on several radio programmes. | attended the Master Builders Annual
Conferences. At New Plymouth | was the main speaker, followed by the future Prime
Minister, Norman Kirk. | had lunch at Bellamy’s with Hugh Templeton, later Deputy
Prime Minister.

We set about trying to find a site to build our laboratories. We found a site at
Judgeford which was flat and eminently suitable. Only afterwards | found it had been
occupied by American troops during the last war and the only remnants were a few
pieces of concrete. This site was rather remote, but it was thought the neighbouring
suburb of Whitby would soon expand and there would be shops and a University in a
few years. These hopes were not realised. Transport was difficult and they had to
run a bus from Wellington at one point. The nearest railway station is at Manor Park.

The laboratories were built and have been successful. The Fire Testing Laboratory
has been well used and so have the mechanical testing, building services and paint
sections. The Cement and Concrete Laboratories subsequently moved to the site

| recruited many staff. Two recruits from Britain had successful future careers. Rob
Whitney became Deputy Director, and then Director of the Coal Research
Association. Jack Fry became the Conservator for the National Museum. Harry
Trethowen has been a successful building services scientist. .Several people had
previously retired from other posts. | had mixed results with architects.

| attended a meeting of Building Research Directors of the South East Asian Region
in Australia. | could not get away to the first meetings but attended the last one in
Sydney. It was very hot, so | chose to go with the taxi in an open neck shirt without
tie or jacket. When | arrived they all wore business suits. | then committed a terrible
blunder by sitting next to the Australian flag instead of New Zealand. They took the
official photograph and | stood out in the middle without a tie or jacket. | felt
afterwards that | had stood up for the casual dress tradition of New Zealand. Some
time later | was on a delegation to the Minister of Trade and Industry Adams
Schneider, who proudly displayed in his office a cartoon which celebrated the
occasion when he was the first Member of Parliament to appear wearing walk shorts.

A DSIR scientist Rod Satory decided to set up a laboratory for acoustic testing. He
found an old ammunition shed on the Belmont Hills where he was able to set up the
equipment. The trouble was that getting there was quite a feat as the roads were bad.

I had an incident with an electric heater which was filled with paraffin wax which had
been involved in a number of fires. We were supplied with some samples that were
surplus and got the local fire station to test one in their test shed in Kilbirnie. The
safety device was thought to be frequently faulty, so we turned it off and connected
the electricity. After a while the room exploded and broke windows of local fireman’s
houses. They did not mind a bit, as it demonstrated that these heaters were a hazard
to their workers. The manufacturers did not like it, though, particularly when it turned
out that the sample tested had modified electrics.

| had several staff whose job was to help solve building problems. One persistent

problem was leaking of buildings using single skin concrete blocks. Lloyd Brown
insisted that these problems were caused by poor workmanship, or could be solved
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by use of his patent waterproofing agent. | was pressurised to endorse this system,
but | was reluctant to do so, as British experience was that single skin masonry
always leaks. All recent brick buildings in Britain require double skin masonry. | was
right, because the Company became bankrupt, and the system went out of existence.

| paid a trip to Rotorua to arrange coordination with the Forest Products laboratory.

Jack King died of a heart attack. He had been my main supporter on the Board, and
the others, led by Lloyd Brown, organised my dismissal. Ray Webby even paid a
special trip to Britain to find if he could find something against me.

So | left Building Research in 1973. | was replaced by Peter Foster, who had had
recently left the Pottery and Ceramics Research Association.

7.2 THE TECHNICAL CORRESPONDENCE INSTITUTE

| got a job teaching building subjects at the Technical Correspondence Institute at
Lower Hutt, where they had been provided with extra finance to help the transition to
the metric system that had recently taken place.

| wrote assignments in physics, acoustics, fire, mathematics.

Correspondence education suits students who prefer a one-to-one relationship with
the tutor, to work in their own time. Those working odd hours, or living some distance
from a class, or in charge of small children, can study at home. We had people who
were sailing round the world, and another person in prison. The classroom teachers
tended to look down on us and they had local politicians to promote their concerns.
We were dependent on the postal services which have become more expensive and
irregular. The use of Email makes cheating too easy. We would accompany our
marked papers with a set of specimen answers. The next set of students would
sometimes acquire these, perhaps when several shared an office or a family, and |
found | had to lower the marks if | recognised my phrasing from the specimen
answers in the papers | received.

Correspondence teaching was something of a privilege compared with classroom
teaching, as we worked regular office hours with no extras such as sport. We had
the same salaries and the same school holidays, without running a holiday camp.
We did have occasional meetings with our students.

We had Government support to waive copyright on diagrams from books or Journals.
We had a good library where | would read “Architects’ Journal”.

| started applying for jobs in Australia. | had a subscription to the Saturday edition of
“The Australian” which had the best job advertisements. | went to Sydney for an
interview with the CSIRO Textile Division. Only afterwards did | realise that the job
was actually a replacement for the Director, who was about to be promoted, and he
had some doubts about whether his senior scientist was a suitable candidate.
Evidently he must have decided that he was.
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It was on this occasion that we had a free evening and took a local bus which said
“Opera House” When we arrived the bells were ringing for the performance, so we
asked whether there were seats available.

We were told that this was the first season and all; seats were taken on subscription.
However, there were seats in the balcony for one dollar where there was limited
visibility. We bought them and found that we were alone in the balcony and saw
most of “Nabucco”. It seems the Opera Theatre in Sydney is too small, so they put a
balcony in as an afterthought. This was the first season, with famous singers. We
went three nights in a row in the balcony, and saw “Il Trittico” (three short operas by
Puccini), and Prokofiev’'s “War and Peace” where the programme cost two dollars.

| also failed to be recruited to the Building Department at Brisbane University. The
man who had the job had a magnificent set of practical experiments, but he had
marriage problems and was returning to Britain..

My younger daughter stayed for a week-end with a friend who was the daughter of
the Director General of the New Zealand DSIR, lan Walker. He was surprised that |
was seeking jobs in Australia and thought | could be useful in the DSIR Chemistry
Division. The Director, Jim Ellis, had a Trade Union problem in recruiting senior
people as they could not be offered a post for which there was somebody who could
be promoted to it. He surveyed his staff and found three posts where this applied,
and | was given the choice between them. They were Information Officer, Paint
Chemist, and Forensic Scientist.

| had worked before on paint, so this was the easiest, but | chose Forensics as it
offered variety and excitement. | might remark that | feel privileged that | have not
been confined to a single scientific discipline, but have had the opportunity to
become proficient in a range of scientific subjects.
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CHAPTER 8: THE FORENSIC DIVISION, DSIR

The Chemistry Division of the New Zealand Department of Scientific and Industrial
Research was situated at Gracefield, an industrial area of Lower Hutt, They had
moved from their original Central Wellington site in the hope that there would be
good transport and local shopping facilities at the new site, but this was not to be. At
least, motoring there was easy, because coming from Wellington was against the
traffic and you skirted the magnificent Wellington Harbour every day. Also you could
park close to the laboratory

The Forensic Division supplied services to the New Zealand Police. It had two
Sections, Toxicology and General. Toxicology dealt with poisons and the
measurement of blood alcohol, under Harry Stone. | was in the General Section
under Frank Hurst, with Lionel Sharman as the main innovator. The police would
bring in exhibits which were evidence for a range of criminal activity. | was not
sufficiently biological for murders but | handled everything else, from drugs, burglary
and car accidents, to theft and rape.

Murders also had to have a Police pathologist, who would be a local doctor, and they
employed a fingerprint expert and a document examiner who would be concerned
with forgery.

We had a system for identifying textile fibres under the polarising microscope. Glass
density was found from a density column. Seminal fluid could be identified by a
chemical which turned it purple. Traces of cannabis could be found by paper
chromatography.

Obliterated markings from stolen motor bikes or cars could be restored by a vigorous
acid mixture. Markings on cartridge cases and tools could be studied under a
comparison microscope to compare them with markings from the suspect gun or tool.

One of the technicians, Peter Wilson, became the firearms expert by doing it. New
Zealand has only a few crimes involving firearms, by comparison, say, with the New
York Police Department. We had a locked cupboard that kept these and other vital
exhibits. Peter later became qualified in Forensic Science and is the current Head of
the whole Section. We had an excellent photographer, Arch Tilbury

| was able to use the facilities of the entire DSIR. There was Barry Cleverley, the
infra red expert, who had been a Post-Doctoral Fellow at Ottawa. He was able to tell
me the chemical composition of paint fragments from a car accident. There was Bill
Watters of the Geological Service, who had an Emmanuel College scarf, who was
able to identify sand from Petone Beach, where a crime had taken place.
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A burglar on a fishing vessel had stepped on a fish, remains of which were on his
shoe. | took it to a fish expert from the Marine Sciences Division who identified it as
from the kingfish found at the scene. This led to problems in court as the exhibits
were rather odorous by the time the trial took place.

In one case there was a question whether the headlamp involved in a car accident

had been lit at the time of the accident. The electron microscope of Murray Presland
established that it had not been.
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Markings from shoes in mud could be filled with Plaster of Paris. | had a case of
markings from rubber tyres which had to be matched with the tyre. In those days
tyres had a deliberately scrambled pattern, to avoid the droning noise that came from
a regular pattern. | visited the factory where they would put a different arrangement
of pattern templates in the mould before filling, but the case was not solved.

There was one case where a car load of ex-cons, after a drinking session, decided to
burn down the house of the Governor of Mount Crawford prison in Wellington. They
purchased a full can of petrol from a Service Station at 2 a.m., easily remembered,
and drove up to the Governor’s house. They poured petrol on a side wall and ignited
it. Some petrol had fallen on the shoe of one man so he fled with a burned foot,
leaving one shoe behind. The house was unaffected as it was only a side wall. They
sped off up the motorway over the speed limit where they were immediately pursued
by the police. They then pulled in and ran for it, but could not go far, particularly the
one with only one shoe. We obtained plaster casts from the shoes of the others
which helped to convict them.

There was a burglary of fur coats where the burglar's clothes had many fur hairs.
When examined under the microscope | was surprised to learn that there are several
different kinds of mink. The most prominent hair was silver fox. a mutant where the
hair has a white region in the middle. In court | was able to shake the offender’s
sweater and provide some silver fox hairs for the judge.

| travelled all over the South of the North Island; Featherston, Taihape, Palmerston
North, and Gisborne, to give evidence in court. On one occasion | had to give
evidence in New Plymouth when the single runway in the airport became too windy
to land on; so the plane landed in Wanganui. The police arranged a relay team of
vehicles from one police district to the next, to get me to the court on time, frequently
exceeding the speed limit to do so.

| had had no training in court appearances, but found it easy and entertaining. |
always had to bring my notebook and the exhibits. | was once at a function in
America when | was asked a question, and when | hesitated, my questioner said
“Have you given evidence in Court?” | realised that | automatically hesitated before
answering any question because in Court, defence lawyers try to trick you and you
need to think “What is he getting at?” before answering.

In New Zealand they frequently have two trials. The first, called “Depositions” is to
find whether there is a case to answer. It is usually a waste of time since only rarely
does it fail. This means | had to give evidence twice and on one occasion | was
criticised for giving slightly different evidence the second time. | said that | had
revised my opinions because further evidence had come in. On another occasion the
transcript of my depositions was misinterpreted by the defence lawyer and | had to
explain. One lawyer was proud he knew that my M.A degree had been obtained by
purchase, not examination.

| had a pleasant time with one of my visits to Gisborne involving a sex abuse on a
girl guide who called to sell a raffle ticket. | gave evidence that fibres from the clothes
of the accused were on the girl's dress. The prosecutor was the Senior Officer of the
local police and he was a piano player and had a small jazz group at the local
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restaurant. | had brought my clarinet so | joined him for the evening. We even went
on after closing time because the police were there.

A new recruit, Margaret Lawton (as she is now) was given some clothes from a gang
member who committed a crime. The clothes had never been washed, a frequent
requirement of gang culture, and were infested with fleas. The poor girl had to take
off her clothes and get in a bath when she got back home, to remove them. This was
a poor introduction to forensic science.

The two girls, Margaret and Cathy enjoyed embarrassing young defence lawyers
with anatomical details in rape cases. They considered that rape should not be
regarded as separate from other cases of assault, perhaps in between a black eye
and a broken rib.

| had one rape case that disillusioned me about women. A girl had been kidnapped
from a cinema queue by a gang and raped. We supplied evidence but the girl
refused to identify her assailants. | met her in the ante room where she tried to get
me to tell her my evidence. It seemed that she liked all the notoriety that the case
had given her and actually enjoyed the whole experience. The Police were horrified,
and so was |.

The gangs were a constant problem. They are criminal conspiracies where
commission of a crime is a condition of entry. At one time this condition was that the
initiate must steal a “Triumph” motor cycle. Owners of these vehicles did not own
them for long. The gangs had a workshop where different models were taken apart
and re-assembled differently. By that time the British Triumph Company had become
bankrupt and the Company was run by an employee cooperative. We wrote to them
with questions that would help solve some of our problems.

The Police usually know who had committed any crime. They were able to tell us the
perpetrators of most of the “unsolved” murders that the public worried about. The
problem was to provide evidence that would convict. Some miscreants came back
over and over again. They evidently could not live satisfactorily anywhere but jail, so
they committed a crime that was immediately attributed to them each time they left
jail.

We had a good experience of the New Zealand Police. They were hard working and
honest, at least those that brought us exhibits. We did not see very much from some
districts.

I got involved with the most notorious New Zealand case of Police dishonesty, the
Arthur Alan Thomas case.

Jeanette and Harvey Crewe of Pukekawa were murdered on June 17" 1970, and
their bodies were found in the Waikato River, attached to a large piece of iron. The
prime suspect was Jeanette’s father, Len Demler, who had resented her receipt of
his deceased wife’s fortune. The detective in charge, Inspector Hutton, suddenly
dropped his initial suspicion and arrested a local farmer, Arthur Thomas, who had
once courted Jeanette, and he was convicted of both murders, twice.
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The chief evidence was a claim that the bullets from the bodies matched cartridges
owned by Thomas. This claim was subsequently shown to be untrue, and Thomas
was freed in 1978 and compensated. The whole affair is the subject of David
Yallop’s book “Beyond Reasonable Doubt” which was made into a film starring David
Hemmings. In the latest version of the book Yallop implicates Demler. | was given
details of the true offenders by Dr Jim Sprott, who had been instrumental in breaking
the case.

| was asked to measure the distance between the letters | C | embossed on a large
number of cartridge cases. It was eventually established that the murder bullets
came from a different batch of cartridge cases from the one supplied by the Police. |
found this job next to impossible because there is no definite distance that can be
stated between two rough embossed marks, because the roughness was arbitrary.
Thomas was eventually found not guilty. Another identity problem was trying to
decipher the names on gravestones from the old Thorndon cemetery which involved
shining lights from different directions.

| was told that another Trade Union restriction on my employment was that | must
retire at the age of 60, whereas those entering from college retired at 65..

One day | had a lift from the Director of the Coal Research Association. Peter

Toynbee, and | found he needed a Chief Chemist. The salary was the same but |
need not retire till 65. So | decided to join him.
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CHAPTER 9: THE COAL RESEARCH ASSOCIATION

The New Zealand Coal Research Association was a Research Association similar to
Building Research, in that it was part financed by industry and part by Government.
Its premises were in Number Two Shed, one of a series that had been erected by
the US army during the last war. They were made of Douglas Fir and were quite
palatial. They also housed the Pottery and Ceramics Research Association and a
consultancy laboratory run by lan Miller, the man who had taken the job of
Information Officer that | had originally been offered.

The laboratory was benefiting from a decision made by the New Zealand
Government around 1970 to prospect for coal in New Zealand. This decision was
taken before there was any oil crisis and | never knew why they decided to spend the
money on what was a unique exercise. Coal prospecting in most countries is at least
partly private, so there is rarely a complete account of all possible coal. This
programme employed an army of geologists who recovered drill cores from every
known coalfield. Some of these were so remote that the equipment had to be
lowered by helicopter and the geologist needed to live in a tent.

The drill cores, suitably labelled, were all sent to our laboratory to be assessed for
their properties. There was an elaborate procedure. A sample was crushed and
further sampled. It was then put through a series of standard tests. Some were New
Zealand Standards, some Australian, and some International. We measured Carbon.
Hydrogen, Nitrogen, Sulphur, moisture, ash, calorific value, ash composition,
fusibility, and ash fusion temperatures and entered the results in a series of large
volumes. They were reported to the Minister of Energy Representative, Phil Taylor.

We had a regular task to obtain representative samples from all the operating coal
mines in New Zealand and publish an annual account of their properties. We also
had information and technical assistant officers in Auckland, Christchurch and
Wellington who would help with customer problems. We had to provide analysis
results for export shipments of West Coast coal from Lyttelton.

| began working on a project to study the reactivity of coal char. This was sponsored
by the New Zealand Steel Company who had a unique process of manufacture using
ironsands as a source of iron, and char from sub bituminous coal from the Huntley
mine as the reducing agent. Its speed of reaction was variable and | found that this
depended on the calcium content of the char. A paper was published in the New
Zealand Journal of Science with my assistant Doug Watson.

Peter Toynbee was a bit of a one man band as he supervised the analysis himself,
through the senior technologist Trevor Daly. | therefore decided to do something with
all the analysis results that filled the volumes. | found a spare computer terminal in
one of the offices and got permission to use it. In those days there was a central
DSIR computer with terminals everywhere. | had difficulty using the terminal as it
was obsolete. | found a Xerox copy of a Xerox copy of the instructions in a disused
filing drawer and | was in business.

54



| took a course in the use of the Minitab statistics programme with Tim Ball at
Victoria University Wellington and | began assessing the properties of coal in the
various New Zealand Coalfields, which led to a long series of publications in the New
Zealand Science Journal and in the Journal "Fuel”. A particularly elaborate Report
was made on the Maramarua coalfield.

New Zealand coal is predominantly sub-bituminous. This means that it has a lower
calorific value than the bituminous coal which is the main commercial coal, so it is
not exported, but used locally. Bituminous coal melts when heated, gives off gas to
give a solid foam called coke. Most steel is made, initially as iron, in a blast furnace
containing pellets of iron ore and coke. The iron is later oxidised to reduce carbon, to
give steel. Suitable metallurgical coke, which needs to be unusually strong, is more
or less exhausted throughout the world, so they blend coals of high fluidity with coals
of low fluidity. Coal from the West Coast of the New Zealand South Island has high
fluidity, and this coal fetches a premium price overseas, limited only by the absence
of a suitable local port and the large number of faults in the coal seams.

Much of the rest of New Zealand coal is sub-bituminous. It often has low ash content
and the char is used to make steel in the Auckland plant. Some has high sulphur,
and not many people want to pay the price of removing it.

At this time, Huntly coal was the basis for New Zealand Steel, and for the Huntly
Power Station. There was therefore a quality control laboratory at Huntly which |
used to visit. | also visited the Auckland steel plant where they complained that they
had to use New Zealand ironsand which can be found on the West Coast of the
North Island. They were not allowed to switch to cheaper iron ore from elsewhere.
The ironsands did contain some titanium, and some was exported to Japan as it
raises the operating temperature and thus the throughput in a blast furnace, as the
titanium dioxide gave a higher melting point to the slag, Titanium dioxide is the main
paint pigment, but it has yet to be recovered from the slag from the steelworks..

During the Fuel Crisis of the early 1980s | was given two contracts by the New
Zealand Energy Research Committee which was set up to help with the oil price rise.

The first was to survey all the laboratories measuring coal properties in New Zealand.
This involved trips to the West Coast, Auckland, Huntly, and Dunedin. .My Report
had a summary of methods used to assess coal rank, the series from peat, lignite,
sub-bituminous, bituminous, to anthracite which shows the degree of metamorphosis
of the original plant material. The Head of the Geological Survey, Pat Suggate, had
devised a rather complicated method of assessing coal rank involving volatile matter.
| derived an equation which could relate Suggate’s method accurately to the dry ash-
free carbon content of the coal, so that the two measures were essentially equivalent.

55



| carried out a study of the different methods of assessing coal rank. This quantity is
of considerable commercial importance, but it involves assessing the degree of
metamorphism that has been applied to original plant material. Since the original
plants are diverse and the pressure and heat treatment is also highly variable |
concluded that no one method could be universally successful and it is necessary to
use a system suited to a particular end use. These ranged from combustion
properties, capacity to provide liquid products, and solid products such as coke, and
also mechanical properties. Coal rank is also used to help decide whether
neighbouring petroleum sources are economically viable.

The second Project was to study the possible use of coal slurries. A young Engineer
had been hired to carry out this project and he had gone as far as a literature survey
when he left. The Director then asked if | would like to take it over. It was a little out
of my field but | took it on. The engineer had compiled a card index and | soon
realised that the best way to get into the subject was to attend a conference which
was soon to be held in Orlando, Florida. | rang the Committee Chairman in Auckland
and he agreed | should go. | had never heard of the place until | found an article in
the paper stating that it was the fun capital of the world as it had Walt Disney World,

Florida was the right place, as the Florida Power and Light Company had power
stations running entirely on oil. The idea of economising by grinding coal into the oil
was attractive. Apparently ground coal was used by Rudolph Diesel for his early
engines, and some of these were still operating in Germany in factories examined
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just after the last war. It soon became evident that coal ground in water was more
economical than grinding it in oil, and plans were drawn up to transport the slurry by
pipeline in several parts of the world. | came across one plan in Novosibirsk, Siberia,
during a trip on the Trans Siberian railway. There were similar plans in the USA, in
Norway, and in China.

The Conference in Orlando was a success and | took the opportunity to visit th US
laboratories in Pittsburgh where there was an oil from coal plant “in mothballs”. |
wrote two Reports on Coal Slurries and | was on a committee discussing other
methods of using coal instead of oil. | visited a plant in Melbourne for hydrogenation
of coal, a method originally invented by Friedrich Bergius which was used by the
Germans in both wars. The Fischer-Tropsch process which makes “synthesis gas”
passed over a special catalyst, tends to be regarded as preferable nowadays as
Bergius is labour intensive, overcome by the Germans with slaves in the second
World War.

We moved into a new laboratory where there was a special room where samples
could be conditioned to reach a standard moisture content.

My old office in Number 2 Shed was occupied by Brian Thomas, a brilliant organic
chemist who was convinced that the generally accepted structure fir DNA was wrong
as it did not comply with structural considerations which he had identified from
structure models. The structure determined from an X ray diffraction pattern, had to
be done by inference since the phase of the spots on the photographic plate was
unknown and you had to calculate them from a postulated structure. The current
calculations gave a 99% correct account of the spots, but Brian believed that by
calculating from his structure he could get a better result. He persuaded the DSIR to
let him use their computer overnight when it was otherwise inactive, to carry out the
calculations which would prove his theory. At the time he had almost no income. He
cooked his own meals in the laboratory canteen and grew tomatoes on the
windowsill. He had written a book about his theory which I still treasure. This went on
for a number of years with him almost reaching his goal, but he died without ever
reaching it.

9.2 THE VALLEY STOMPERS

When | arrived in New Zealand in 1970 | brought my clarinet. 1 found an
advertisement in the “Evening Post” for a jazz band “The Valley Stompers” who
wanted engagements. | contacted them and when they heard that | had had
experience playing in Britain | was invited to join them. They had recently formed
from several earlier groups. They already had a clarinet player, Ray Heath, who was
the organiser, but they found | could help with the repertoire. | bought an alto
saxophone from a second hand shop and joined the front line, which consisted of
Mike Green, trumpet, George Watson, trombone, Colin Heath (Ray’s brother) bass,
Max Winnie banjo and Peter Harrison (drums) We rehearsed originally in the Archery
Club office in Lower Hutt and | used to fetch Colin as he had no cars. | stayed with
the band 17 years, until | went to China. We played a large variety of gigs. Our most
successful regular event was every Wednesday at the Western Park Tavern in
Tinakori Road, Wellington which ran for 15 years. It was packed every week, many
of them being students. The personnel changed slightly over the years. We used to
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have a guest session with visiting guest musicians, some of whom were fairly regular.
These included Chris Anderson, Jack Steele, clarinets, Betty Steele Marg Layton
vocals, and Ken Avery, tenor sax and clarinet. The band is still going with Mkie
Green still on trumpet. They recently celebrated their fortieth anniversary and | was
invited along to have a blow with the boys.

The Valley Stompers 1986

Ken Avery had been a prominent broadcaster who had formed a jazzband in the
past, and he reformed another where | played soprano sax consisting of Verdi Mattar,
trumpet, Bruce Foster trombone, Jim Wilson, bass, Julian Russell, piano and Frank
Jackson drums. He had access to the radio studio in Wellington and we rehearsed
there. We made two LP records and appeared in several broadcasts. We went to the
Tauranga Jazz Festival twice, but were sidelined by the predominantly “modern”
groups who exceeded their time so that we appeared at late hours.
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CHAPTER 10: CHINA.

10.1: HANGZHOU

In 1986 we had a visit from Professor Huang Xiao Xiang who had a sabbatical year
in Auckland. He was from the Chinese Academy of Sciences and was an expert on
coal. As the magical age of 65 was approaching | asked him if it was possible to
work in China. He was very enthusiastic and gave me the names of four of his
friends to write to. This was done and one of them, Professor Cen Kefa from
Hangzhou in Zhejiang Province, offered me a post at his University. Mary, who was
working at the Correspondence School, retired early to become an English Teacher.
So we both retired with a new life in China.

Zhejiang University is in the capital of Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou. It is a large city
of over a million people, about 150 km from Shanghai, on the Xiangjiang River. The
University was a Science University (now amalgamated with the neighbouring Arts
University). | was in the Thermal Engineering Department under Professor Cen Kefa.
My wife taught English.

The University owned a large complex which included blocks of flats occupied by the
staff, student accommodation, a Post Office, a well-stocked department store and
also local shops. There was a hotel for visitors,

We had a two-bedroom flat on the first floor; to minimise mosquitoes. Outside were
three specimens of Metasequoia glyptostroboides. There was a fridge, a washing
machine, kitchen, a telephone a TV set, an air conditioner, and an extra electricity
supply for the rather ancient electric heater. There was a two-burner gas stove
fuelled by a cylinder which was refilled at intervals. There was a large bath but no
means of supplying sufficient hot water for it. We bought a sizeable plastic bath from
the store and boiled water for it to fill the array of Thermos flasks which had been
supplied. There was also a bath house. We had a milk ration and my wife went early
to the market for the fresh food. Fish and chickens were alive and the pork was
warm. We bought a small electric oven which self-destructed the week we left.

Our neighbours only got one gas bottle refill per month, so they had to use a coal
briquette burner from the store which held one briquette which was ignited by
electricity, with much smoke. Our neighbour used to put it outside the door for this
process. There was a small plant making the briquettes next to the University.

The rubbish collection used small bins located around the estate which could be
loaded by fork lift and the base of the bin could release the contents. They changed
this system to fewer larger bins which turned out to be unsatisfactory, particularly
during the water melon season. So they reverted to a primitive system of a man with
a tricycle with a cart that collected plastic and glass.

The campus had traditional style buildings with a central statue of Mao Zedong. The

University had tried to supply an alternative with a rose garden and a statue of a
former University President outside the library, but they still do not seem to have the
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courage to remove Mao. The streets of the campus were cleaner than the buildings
and teaching was with chalk and a blackboard.

We rode bicycles all over town. The West Lake, in the centre, was man-made, and a
scenic treasure. You could visit a different garden every week end. The boats on the
lake had to be electric, to avoid pollution from engines. The local fish were prized.
There was a causeway and several islands.

Spoil from the lake had been used to form the Botanic Gardens, close to the
University, where there was a camellia garden, an osmanthus garden and a bamboo
garden. We bought an eight volume flora in the bookshop. It was in Chinese, but the
plants were classified and illustrated with Latin names, so we could study the plants
at the garden.

There were no New Zealand trees in China. In the Botanic Garden was a tree that
looked exactly like the New Zealand Rimu (Dacrydium cupressinum), but it was
labelled “Cryptomeria japonica var.Dacryoides. There were many Australian trees,
including some old specimens of Eucalyptus sps. Outside my office was a large
Paulownia tomentosa which has spectacular spring flowers and decorated several of
the city streets in Hangzhou.

In the roads outside town there were several ancient specimens of Cinnamomum
camphora with a preservation order on them. The streets of the city had many
beautiful trees. Many were damaged by a cyclone, and the entire population of the
city was mobilised to prop them up and wrap them in Hessian ,so that most of them
survived.

The television had English teaching programmes on peak hours every evening. They
also taught French, German and Japanese. They taught you how to play Bridge and
Go. One programme even showed me how to service my video recorder back home.
Everybody wanted to learn English, and the view was that they had to learn, not only
to use a computer, but just to modernise. This view has changed as you can now
use Chinese on the computer. We made many friends who wanted to practice their
English. Some were teachers who came to ask difficult questions. We met others at
the “English Corner” in town, often people who had had their education disrupted by
the “Cultural Revolution”.

The University had a fully equipped television studio and we were invited to
participate in an English teaching series. They appeared on television when we went
to the USA in 1989 so we asked a neighbour to tape them, When we returned we got
a bonus in coverage of the events of the 1989 protests from Chinese television.

Our neighbour across the hall, originally from the British Council, celebrated her
appointment to the University staff by buying a piano, which she played regularly.
One day, a man knocked on her door, and when she had difficulty finding what he
wanted she asked us, and we managed to find out that he lived over the way and he
was a piano tuner, and could he please tune her piano because he could not stand it.

He turned out to be a member of the Regional Orchestra and he also visited us to
improve his English. One evening he came the same time as the professor's
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daughter, and they went away together, and eventually married. Several members of
the orchestra came to see us one evening and gave us a concert.

| took my clarinet and bought a keyboard in Hongkong on the way. | performed on
television, once on New Year’s Eve. At one point the local hotel had a Filipino piano
player who invited me to play jazz with him for one whole evening. Subsequently he
left for Beijing.

| gave a lecture series on “English Songs” using a book that was on sale in the
bookshop which had a wide selection. The favourite composer was Stephen Foster
and the most modern songs were those from “The Sound of Music”. | did the chords
for the songs on my keyboard, recorded them on tape. The classroom had tape
recorders and listening equipment.

At the last lesson | asked them to bring their own favourite tapes. The most popular
was a song that had been written for the Seoul Olympic Games, which had the
words “Hand in hand, across the land, we will build a new world together” This song
became to anthem of the “Democracy” movement which shook China in 1989

Another lectures series | gave was on “Greek Myths”. | was lucky to find an
“Everyman’s” book on the subject in the Annex to the library, and | brought the book
by Robert Graves after my next visit home. | extended it to include some Roman
Emperors and Cleopatra. It was so successful that they asked for two lectures on the
Bible. It is a bit like doing the whole works of Shakespeare in one evening. They
probably asked me instead of other lecturers because they knew | would not try to
convert anybody to Christianity

We had several demands to appear on television. Just after we arrived we went into
town to make a commercial for a “Royal Jelly” drink which instantly made us younger.
The commercial appeared four times a night for six months, and on one occasion we
were stopped in the street so the couple could take photographs of us holding their
baby.

We hosted several guests in our flat. There was a garage attached to the University
that supplied chauffeur-driven transport to and from the airport, which could be hired
for guests.

On one occasion our two guests besides ourselves were recruited for a film dealing
with the construction of the bridge across the local Xanjiang river, the designer of
which was a current highly placed Communist official. | actually had a speaking part
as a Yorkshire steel producer. | gave it my best Yorkshire accent, but on seeing the
film later, found | had been dubbed into Chinese.

We also appeared in a film which involved a culinary representation of the campus
and | had a commercial advertising monosodium glutamate.

Dubbed films were common on TV, with John Wayne and Clark Gable speaking

fluent Mandarin. One of our colleagues had been in Beijing, where he was recruited
to be the English teacher for the Chinese version of “The Last Emperor” which they
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thought had been poorly done by Hollywood. Their version was an extended serial,
and our friend had also been dubbed.

| had an office, shared with Mr Yan Jianhua, in the Thermal Engineering Science
Department, which was a fine old building that had seen better days, as the
magnificent doors did not close and the large window on the stairs was cracked.
There was a cleaner who mopped water on the floor and stirred the dirt around, but
did not dry it, so we walked it around with muddy feet. The computer and printer |
brought with me from Hongkong were installed in the office next door. | subsequently
donated the computer to the University.

There was a Japanese-made accurate pyrolysis unit in the room opposite which
required removal of shoes to enter. | thought that | would use it, but it never seemed
to eventuate.

| spent a lot of time in the library. They had complete sets of English Science
Journals, including those published during the “Cultural Revolution” which had only
ended ten years’ before. There was a large abstracts library. The Teachers’ library,
to which | had access, had the very latest textbooks on all the subjects being taught.
| reckoned that they had 100 Professors who had recently been trained overseas,
mainly in the USA. There was also a reserve library which nobody used. There was
a large number of books donated by the British Council to China during the last war.
They included a complete set of the “Everyman’s” editions, and the book on Lecture
Experiments in Chemistry that was written by my old schoolmaster G F Fowles.

In China most of the coal is in the North and in the East, and transport is poor.
Hangzhou is in the middle of a newly industrialised zone with increasing demands for
energy. They had developed the use of the fluid bed combustion method for use in
small factories. This method could make use of poor quality coal that was unsuitable
for the traditional boilers.

Coal is difficult to burn in lump form, so the large power stations use pulverised coal,
which can be injected fast into the furnace. Power companies have been
experimenting with the fluid bed technique where the coal is suspended by air from
below and burned. The method is able to use inferior fuel and to trap sulphur by
including lime in the bed. The technology is new, so users are reluctant to try it. One
problem is insufficient combustion, requiring an additional process for the material
coming over the top. The small units used by the Chinese are particularly suitable for
cement works where the ash can be incorporated in the cement.

They were also experimenting with coal water slurries. Their plant was operated only
once a year and measurements were taken that took a whole year to analyse.

| participated in several Conferences. For the one in Shenyang in1988 | presented a
paper on the density of coal, based on work that | did in Lower Hutt. The conference
was held in a hotel situated in the grounds of the former Royal Palace, where Pu Yi,
the “Last Emperor” presided during the Japanese occupation.

At a Conference in Beijing in 1990 | was Chair at one of the sessions. The
Conference was entirely in English, with the discussion in English, yet until | arrived
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nobody was a native speaker. | helped to improve the English of the papers
presented..

During the protests in 1989 we went to the USA for the Golden Wedding celebrations
of Mary’s sister. We had a visit from the daughter of an old friend and her husband,
who agreed to occupy our flat and carry out our duties while we were away. In the
event the University practically closed, but our friends had an interesting experience.

In the USA 1 visited several scientific establishments. | had to get permission from
the US Department of Energy. After security | went to the office issuing permits. It
was headed by a Chinese who had been a colleague of my Professor in Hangzhou,
and the permit was issued by an Indian lady wearing a sari. She had a Mexican
assistant. | went to the Dakota laboratory that studies sub bituminous coal and the
West Virginia coal treatment plant.

We visited my wife’s old college, Oberlin where the Professor of Chinese invited us
to visit their student exchange programme at Kunming.

We met several colleagues from Hangzhou who had left because of the protest, but
we had left our stuff there, and we received letters asking us to return. So we
returned to Hangzhou, where our friends visited us individually to express their
disappointment at what had happened

| was involved in improving the English of the papers for a Conference on
Cryogenics. We also visited a new University at Ningbo, who offered us a job, but we
declined.

We visited Kunming and stayed at Kunming University. The plane only ran once a
week so we stayed for the week and found that there were several neighbouring
universities and one that offered us posts as English teachers. We decided that after
4%, years in Hangzhou we needed a change, so we accepted. This was Kunming
Teachers College. They even offered to store some of our material if we sent it by
train.

10.2 KUNMING

We packed our stripy plastic bags and took the train for the long journey to to
Kunming. The Yunnan Teachers College is more than it seems, as it was the
National University during the war when it housed staff from two Northern
Universities displaced by the Japanese. There was a student demonstration in 1948
against Chiang Kai Shek’s war against the Communists, when three students were
killed. Their tombs are on site. There are museums devoted to both the “Southern
University” during the war, and the student protest. In the latter is a photograph of
the student parade at the time with a banner which says “democracy”

In memory of the 1948 event the schoolchildren in Kunming come on every
anniversary to pay their respects to the students who died, accompanied by mournful
music. The main administration building has outside it a “democracy lawn” with a
statue of the well-known poet Wen Yiduo who was a teacher at the college who
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participated in the protest and was subsequently assassinated in the street by one of
Chiang’s agents. There is now a monument in the street where it happened.

One of the faculties studies human anatomy by dissecting real corpses. The library
had a good supply of English language journals, so | kept up my knowledge of the
greenhouse effect.

We had a flat in a compound opposite the University. After the 1989 demonstrations
they decided to increase security by building a concierge’s house inside. However,
nobody ever moved in.

The flat, again, was two bedrooms with fridge, washing machine, TV and telephone;
but this time a rather primitive shower, and town gas, since the area had coal mines
and there is a local gas works. We would watch wagons delivering coke which was
used in the restaurants.

The foreigners had a dining room and a cook, who prepared lunch and dinner for an
extremely modest fee. We chose the dinner. We only prepared our own, or visited a
restaurant at weekends. There was also a shower facility which was better than the
one in our room.

We befriended some people who had stood out for democracy. They belonged to the
Guomintang, technically one of the joint parties in the Government. We went on a
weekend trip where they told us how they had helped looking after those who had
been imprisoned during the demonstrations.

| lectured to students and senior staff on English. One course, on English Literature,
had an excellent textbook with extracts from famous works. It included selections
from “Widower’s Houses” by Bernard Shaw, and “Portrait of Dorian Gray” by Oscar
Wilde. In the exam | asked for comments on these items. The girls chose Shaw, as
he had argued that well-paid prostitution might be better than factory slavery. The
boys chose Oscar Wilde as he argues the case of Art for Art's sake, something the
Government should not interfere in.

| also gave lectures on the Greenhouse Effect and on the Assassination of President
Kennedy where | supported a conspiracy theory (since abandoned). | attempted to
do a science course to the Engineering College next door, but it fell through, so |
concentrated on English.

At the time, University access was restricted so the students were brilliant and under
pressure from families to succeed. As | result, they were a joy to teach and | looked
forward to meeting them every day. They had all been taught good English by their
English teachers and my job was to give them conversation, current vocabulary, and
composition.

In one composition | asked for “An unusual experience” and one student who lived in
the South told of the experience of snow. Two students had had the benefit of a
legendary English teacher at Dali, and during an oral examination | had a student
who turned out to be his daughter, who spoke perfect English and | gave her 100%
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As before, we were in demand for television appearances. One Friday afternoon we
were relaxing from the week’s work when we had a knock on the door and
somebody asking us “Would we like to appear in a film? If so, it will take five days.
and the minibus is leaving in half an hour, We said we have to teach on Monday. “No
problem, we have authority from the President.

The story was that a film was being made celebrating the construction of a hydro-
electric dam in Guangzhou. Since this dam was already built, the opening ceremony
had to take place on a dam that is currently being built. So they found a dam on the
Mekong river in the south of Yunnan and set up their opening ceremony with huge
slogans on the hill and a plentiful supply of fireworks. Then the Director decided he
needed twenty foreigners to sit on a platform and applaud an introductory speech, so
he told the Deputy Director to take the minivan to Kunming and find twenty
foreigners.

So we found ourselves with a very peculiar mixture of young students and ancient
teachers. We stayed at a hotel in Dali and arrived in the remote village near the dam,
which at that time was not accessible to foreigners. The main reason seemed to be
difficulty of access.

We walked around town like pied pipers with a retinue of children whi had not seen
foreigners before. We were surprised that they were well fed and well dressed and
that the village had electricity, TV, and a department store.

We sat on the platform for three hours and stood up to applaud at regular intervals.
The bus actually stopped for a day in Dali on the way back.

.On Sunday mornings we often visited a little tea house where they held an “English
Corner” for practising English where we were asked questions on every possible
subject; They included a doctor, a computer engineer, a bank official, middle
management of the day who will one day be in administration and might have the
opportunity to promote democracy.

One day a man outside asked us to help him. He was a biologist who had become a
millionaire because he had developed a method of cultivating in the laboratory a
fungus that was very rare, but fetched a very high price, as it resembled a brain, and
was supposed to confer wisdom. It grew only on certain rare trees in the forest, so
he was able to become rich by growing it.

He had been invited to address a Mushroom conference in Dublin, and he had
written a paper which was in poor English, and needed to be corrected. Not only that,
it needed a summary in French and one in German. Mary helped, and she found she
also needed to help him with his visa since he was neither an academic nor a tourist.

When we had packed to leave Kunming, dispatched the beautiful plywood containers
containing our belongings, and were preparing for a final tour of China, he came
bearing gifts which could hardly be escorted in backpacks. One was “The three
treasures of the scholar” which included a very heavy slate mortar for preparing ink.
We had to donate it to the University. The other was a ceremonial sword, together
with a little book with instructions on sword play. We found from the Post Office that
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the maximum length for a postal package was one meter, and the sword was slightly
longer. However, there was a nut at the end that could be removed, so we sent it by
post to New Zealand, where it remained, unused as a trophy on our wall until our
granddaughter decided to study Chinese sword play.

After our year we returned to New Zealand. This was 1991

While we were away a Jazz Preservation Society had been formed, and when we
returned | joined and had a regular arrangement to practice jazz with a trio consisting
of Robin Mitchell (keyboard) and Arthur Parker (bass).

My wife and | also joined the Tawa College Evening Institute orchestra where |
played bassoon and she played double bass.

CHAPTER 11: CLIMATE SCEPTIC

66



11.1 THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL PANEL ON CLIMATE CHANGE
(IPCC)

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was set ip in 1988 by the
World Meteorological Organisation and the United Nations Environmental
Programme. It was set up In order to :

Assess available scientific information on climate change

Assess the environmental and socio-economic impacts of climate change

Formulate response strategies

The second and third objectives depend heavily on the conclusions from the first,
which, this book will argue, have been wrongly drawn.

Working Group 1 of the IPCC, which is responsible for the scientific assessment, has
produced four major Reports; 1990,1995, 2001, and 2007.There was also a
Supplementary Report to the First (1992), A Report on Regional Climate Change, a
Report on Radiative Forcing, and Emissions Scenarios, were amongst others.

While we were in China we travelled back to New Zealand every six months as we
forfeited our government pension if we were overseas more than six months. The
cost of the return air fare was much less than the loss of pension. During these trips |
kept in touch with the Coal Research Association. On one visit they had just been
asked to comment on the First Draft of the First Report of the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change. As | had already become interested in the subject, |
provided some comments. At that time they were forwarded to the Ministry of The
Environment before submitting them

Soon after | returned to New Zealand in 1991 the Coal Research Association of New
Zealand organised a Conference on the Greenhouse Effect, to which they invited
Fred Singer, who had already emerged as a prominent critic of the theory. The Coal
Research people realised that the claims of the Greenhouse enthusiasts threatened
the existence of the coal industry. | had already become suspicious of the claims and
| was glad to make the acquaintance of Fred Singer. | sent him my comments on the
First Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, and also those on
the Supplementary Report of 1992. He published these with others under the title
“The Greenhouse Debate Continues”

The next Report | commented on was a compilation of “Radiative Forcing and
Emissions Scenarios”. | published a paper on this report in the Journal “Chemistry in
New Zealand in 1995

When the drafts for the 1995 Report were circulated, in 1993 | had become an
independent Climate Consultant and was listed by them in the Report. For the
Second Draft | was on a visit to the United States and | called in to the George
Marshall Institute in Washington, D C. | met the Director, Dr Jastrow, who allowed
me to read through the draft they had received. | spent a morning making comments
which were subsequently sent back to the New Zealand Coal Research Association
who forwarded them to the New Zealand Environment Ministry, as before. In both
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cases my comments were listed as coming from an “NGQ?”, i.e., the Coal Research
Association.

| wrote a paper on the 1995 Report which was published in the “New Zealand
Science Review”. My critique of the 1995 Report was published by the Heartland
Institute in the USA.

11.2 GREENHOUSE: THE BIGGEST RORT IN CHRISTENDOM

The above is the title of the book written by Peter Toynbee in 1995. It is still available
in Paraparaumu public library. Peter was Director of the Coal Research Association
of New Zealand when | was Chief Chemist. We did not get along all that well at the
time as he was a bit of a one man band, but after we both retired he became one of
my best friends. He died in 2002 and | miss him.

| have been reluctant to regard the argument that human-induced greenhouse gas
emissions are harming the climate as an outright frraud, hoax, or rort. | originally
considered that it was a problem that demanded study and resolution, but | soon
found that the scientific procedures that | had been trained to apply were being
ignored. Evidence was being selected to suit a preconceived solution. Other
evidence was being concealed. Doubtful procedures which helped the cause were
not properly scrutinized. Honest attempts to argue were rejected, sometimes with
insults.

Then | began to find examples of deliberate distortion, concealment of evidence to
avoid checking of results, outright prejudice by journal editors, and manipulation of
words and meanings to produce what are essentially unsound conclusions. Many of
the people involved are so sure they are right that they consider that the end justifies
the means. What started as a straightforward scientific enquiry has become a mass
delusion and then a gigantic confidence trick on the public, a scam, a rort.. There are
many scientists and others who are uneasy about the escalation that has occurred,
but are unable to jump off the bandwagon and the gravy train, and lose all its
benefits.

Is this really the biggest rort of all? It has been going now since the 1970s. some 40
years, and it is far from being over, despite all the signs of a decline.

There are many examples from history of large numbers of people developing mass
delusions. The Scottish poet Charles Mackay published in 1841 "Popular Delusions
and Madness of Crowds". In it he gives details of many such delusions, including
alchemy, witchcraft, the Crusades, the South Sea Bubble and
Tulipomania. Witchcraft is still widely believed, and other delusions, such as fortune
teling and haunted houses are still current. One gets the impression that the
entertainment industry depended heavily on promoting beliefs such as aliens from
outer space, poltergeists and other superstitions.

Mackay pointedly omits delusions based on religion, An example of a successful
religious hoax was recently the subject of an article by a namesake of mine, Ron
Gray, in the Emmanuel College Magazine He discusses the success of "The Da
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Vinci Code" based on a completely fabricated biblical history, and points out that a
much more successful religious hoax was perpetrated by a book called "The Golden
Legend”, published in the thirteenth century, largely a compilation of stories of
saints, mostly invented by the Archbishop of Genoa, Jacopo Voragine. Many of the
saints listed, notably, St George and St Barbara, never existed. Yet it has provided
the inspiration for artists through the ages and it is still considered to be authentic by
most Christian authorities.

| belong to a nation which has a flag containing St George's Cross, as do numerous
other nations, including Georgia itself, where in the main square of Thilisi, the former
statue of Lenin has been replaced by one of St George,

| won't go into detail about other religious hoaxes. What about Santa Claus? Saint
Nicholas of Myra never saw snow. Did Jesus Christ ever exist? (He occurs in only
one contemporary history).

| have to conclude that perhaps Peter Toynbee was exaggerating a little and we all
hope that the Greenhouse Scam will not outlast Santa Claus.

11.3 ACCESS TO ENERGY

Peter Toynbee distributed to New Zealand Readers the monthly magazine “Access
to Energy” published by Arthur B Robinson of the Oregon Institute of Science and
Medicine. He would order one copy and make copies of it for the New Zealand
readers, paying a royalty for each. When Peter died in 2002 | took over this task.

Arthur B Robinson is rather an interesting character. He was an associate of Linus
Pauling, the only person to have won two Nobel prizes, one, for Chemistry 1964
and the second, for Peace, in 1962. Pauling became obsessed with the idea that
large doses of Vitamin C would improve health. Robinson's research revealed
"highly embarrassing" results that proved conclusively that Pauling's data on Vitamin
C were false.

Robinson has been opposed to the global warming misinformation campaign. His
magazine is “Pro-Science, Pro-Technology, Pro-Free Enterprise’ He is in favour of
gun ownership and home tutoring and it contains interesting details of his current
scientific research projects

Robinson was responsible for the Petition Project between 1999 and 2001, The
petition read as follows:

“We urge the United States government to reject the global warming agreement that
was written in Kyoto, Japan in December, 1997, and any other similar proposals.
The proposed limits on greenhouse gases would harm the environment, hinder the
advance of science and technology, and damage the health and welfare of mankind.

There is no convincing scientific evidence that human release of carbon dioxide,
methane, or other greenhouse gasses is causing or will, in the foreseeable future,
cause catastrophic heating of the Earth's atmosphere and disruption of the Earth's
climate. Moreover, there is substantial scientific evidence that increases in
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atmospheric carbon dioxide produce many beneficial effects upon the natural plant
and animal environments of the Earth.”

The petition was circulated again in 2001. It has been signed by over 31,000
American scientists.

11.4 CLIMATE CHANGE 2001

For the IPCC 2001 Report they invented a new set of “Emissions Scenarios” which
purported to speculate on future use of energy, population, and greenhouse gas
emissions. As it was produced by a sub-committee of the WGIIl (Mitigation)
Committee it was not circulated for comment to the scientists on the WGI Committee,
who then found themselves lumbered with its outrageous assumptions about the
future, without any chance to object. | actually managed to obtain a glance at a copy
and | made a set of submissions, but very few had the opportunity.

| published a paper in the Journal “Climate Research” in 1998 which showed that all
of the assumptions were exaggerated. The Editor who permitted publication of this
paper was sacked for doing so.

In 1998 | received the IPCC Report on “Regional Climate Change, and | was
intrigued by a map of the world which had on it red and blue dots which indicated the
temperature change in each 5x5 latitude/longitude square. It was divided into
regions, but, in my view, wrongly. For example, the Arctic and Antarctic were treated
as one region. | wrote to the IPCC to ask if | could have the original data, and to my
surprise they sent it. | then went through the exercise of placing the material in
logical regions. | wrote up a paper on the work and sent it to “Geophysical Research
Letters”, and they took their time and found all sorts of not very plausible excuses to
discourage me. | ended up publishing it on John Daly’s website, where it still resides.
Anybody who puts “Regional Temperature Change” into a search engine will get it at
the top of the page.

As a preliminary to the 2001 Report, Fred Singer organised a meeting of sceptics in
Washington DC, in May 2000, and we provided an all day seminar in the Capitol
Building to an audience of mainly US Government officials. We believe that this
meeting may have influenced the US Government’s decision not to ratify the Kyoto
Protocol for restricting emissions of greenhouse gases. It was good to meet gace to
face the people | had come to know from Emails. They included Richard Courtney
(UK), Ross MckKitrick (Canada), Peter Dietze (Germany), Doug Hoyt Keith Idso and
Albert Arking (USA), Tom Segelstad (Norway) besides Fred Singer himself.
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For the 2001 Report | commented widely on all the drafts. By now the drafts arrived
by post and my comments were returned by post. | recall that the maximum
“projection” for temperature increase by the year 2100 increased from 4 degrees to 6
degrees by inventing a more drastic emissions scenario for the later draft.

| published a book “The Greenhouse Delusion” A Critique of ‘Climate Change 2001
which was published by the Multi-Science Publlshers in the UK and is still in print. It
was launched in the Parliament Buildings, Wellington by Ken Shirley MP and there
are copies in the National Library, the General Assembly Library and the Wellington
Central Public Library
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11.5 CLIMATE CHANGE 2007

The 2007 Report began in 2005. It had drafts entirely on the Internet, and comments
had to be made on a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.

Some months after | had commented on the first draft, the weekly Newsletter from
the Royal Society of New Zealand had an item stating that the Beijing Climate
Center was offering scholarships to study in Beijing where they would pay fares and
expenses. | did not consider that | would be considered eligible, as | was ancient,
and also the Senior Scientist at the Beijing Clmate Center, Professor Yihui Ding, was
currently the Co-Chair of the WGI Committee of the IPCC, and had been an Editor of
“Climate Change 2001”". | had already had my comments on “Climate Change 2001”
largely rejected, and | expected similar treatment with those | had submitted to the
first draft of “Climate Change 2007”. After pressure from my wife | asked for the
forms and made an application. To my astonishment | was awarded a scholarship,
and in March 2006 | was in Beijing with my wife, housed in a two bedroom flat with
new furniture, in the heart of the huge Meteorology Complex just north of the zoo, in
Beijing.
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| went in to see the Director-General, Professor Wenjie Dong, who told me that they
had been most interested in what | had been saying, and would | like to give three
lectures? | had brought about enough material for one lecture, never expecting |
could deliver it, but gave the three lectures to appreciative audiences. There were 50
people at the first, and no hostile comments.

Before this happened, the Director’s lady Secretary Yan Yuping gave me a thorough
grilling, evidently to ensure that | was genuine. They printed three coloured posters
advertising the distinguished Professor from New Zealand. The final banquet had a
Senior Meteorologist, but since some of the Scholars were Muslims. There was no
liquor or pork.

My main contact was Mme Zhao Zong-Ci, who was a Lead Author for the IPCC
Report. She gave me a copy of a recent paper, in English in the Chinese
Meteorology Journal, where the second author was Professor Ding, and which gave
a compilation of Chinese temperature figures which showed very littler change for
the past 100 years. | assumed that Professor Ding was beginning to doubt the claims
for “global warming”.

| took this experience to mean that my comments to the next draft of the Report
might be treated more sympathetically, so | provided a large number, 1,898 to be
precise. | only found this out when they were published after somebody had invoked
the British Public Information Act. | found that | had provided 16% of all the
comments, that | was the only one who had commented on every Chapter, and that
for the crucial Chapter 9, which had provided the main decisions | was one of only
three independent commentators.

When the “Summary for Policymakers” of the Report was announced in February
2007, | found a photograph of the two Co-Chairs. They were Susan Soloman, an a
Chinaman. But the Chinaman was not Professor Ding. It was Qin Dehai, who turned
out to be the Head of the entire Meteorology Organisation. So Professor Ding had
been replaced.

What | think happened is as follows. | did actually meet him and exchange a few
words waiting in a queue for tea at an IPCC meeting in Auckland to which | was
invited. He may have felt uncomfortable with the way my comments on his First Draft
were being rejected, and when | applied for his scholarship thought | ought to be
given a chance to express my views before his staff. It is possible that by adopting
this principle of freedom of discussion he may have lost the chance of receiving the
Nobel Prize which was awarded to the IPCC for the 2007 Report.

In March 2007 Fred Singer decided to prepare an alternative scientific assessment
on the climate to that provided by the IPCC. This would represent a Non-
governmental international Panel on Climate Change (NIPCC) A meeting of
scientists took place in Vienna from April 14™ to 15" 2007 in the isotope laboratory of
the University. They were:

Tom Segelstad (Norway), Joe D’Aleo (USA), Craig ldso (USA), Chris Horner (USA),
Fred Singer (USA), Vincent Gray (New Zealand), Chris de Freitas (New Zealand)
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Zbigniew Jaworowski (Poland), Olavi Karner (Estonia), Walter Kutschera (Austria)
Hans Labohm (Netherlands), Josef Masarik (Slovakia), Martin Livermore (UK)
Renato Ricci (Italy), Margana (Italy). Maximilian Springer (Germany)

Vienna Sceptics 2007

Discussions on major topics were circulated to a list of reviewers and were
eventually put together by Fred Singer and published as “Nature, Not Human
Activity Rules the Climate; Summary for Policymakers by The Non-Governmental
International Panel on Climate Change” in March 2008 by the Heartland Institute.

The Final Report was put together by Craig ldso and Fred Singer and published as
a 868 page volume entitled “Climate Change Reconsidered”, published in June 2009
by the Heartland Institute. | was listed as a “Contributor” to both publications

In December 2007 | was financed by the Heartland Institute to attend the United
Nations Climate Conference in Bali, Indonesia, mainly to protest. The group included
Christopher Monckton, UK. Bryan Leyland, Owen McShane, Vincent Gray, (New
Zealand), David Archibald, David Evans, Joanne Nova, (Australia) and Will
Alexander, (South Africa). We had not been early enough to book a stall so we
distributed leaflets and managed to give two lectures. We also protested outside with
a banner c alling for the abolition of the Kyoto Protocol.

Protest Banner at UNFCC Bali 2007. | am far left

| attended a meeting of Chinese Climate Scientists where five scientists presented
excellent illustrated lectures on the Climate problem whose general trend | regarded
as an oriental way of insisting that the science is not settled. It purported to be
supported by and “NGO” (Non-Government Organisation) whose members included
the names of most of the Climate Scientists, including Professors Ding and Dong.
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They insisted that they did not make Government Policy, but | gained the impression
that they have decided to present a united policy for advice to their Government.

After the Second Draft had been circulated an overseas friend asked me whether |
had received the Final Draft of the “Summary for Policymakers” | wrote the IPCC to
complain, but they replied that this draft was only sent to Givernments. My friend
then told me that | could access it from thi code. When | did so, | obtained not only
the Final Draft of the Summary for Policymakers, but also the whole Report. |
realised that this gave me an opportunity to study and criticise it before it was
officially published.

| told a few friends about this, but none of them took me up on it seriously. However,
I had by then contacted a recent recruit to our cause, Christopher Monckton, Lord
Brenchley, and he was eager to see the Report, which he proceeded to criticise in
articles for the :Sunday Telegraph”, before the rest of the press was able to. He also
noticed several gross errors in the Final published version of the “Summary for
Policymakers” which embarrassed them so much that they changed it without telling
anybody that they had done so.

| published a paper giving my criticism of the “Summary for Policymakers” of the
2007 Report in the Journal “Energy and Environment” | had another paper on
“Temperature Trends in the Lower Atmosphere” which exposed the errors in a paper
published by a US Climate Science Coalition (CSSP) on the same subject. | also
published on the Climate Science website two major attcks on the IPCC, “Spinning
the Climate” in which | showed how the IPCC distorted the facts and the language,
and another “The Global Warming Scam” which made the case that the whole
exercise is not science but a deception. | almost published the second one in
“Chemistry in New Zealand, but eventually decided that publication on the web made
contact with world wide audience, whereas “Chemistry in New Zealand had only a
small, local circulation.

11.6 GREENHOUSE BULLETINS

| began a series of “Greenhouse Bulletins” as soon as | returned from China in 1991.
They began as briefing papers for the Coal Research Association but they gradually
reached an extended clientele. 128 issues were circulated between 1991 and 2000.

| am currently preparing them for publication as they are an interesting historical
account of how the subject progressed from its early days.

11.7 NZCLIMATE TRUTH

In 2000 | decided to try to form a National organisation to critically examine the
claims of the IPCC. | found a colleague. Mike Houlding who was prepared to deal
with publicity and | announced the formation of my organisation to all the
newspapers and television stations, expecting requests for interviews. It was a
complete flop. Nobody took me up. Then Mike moved to Tauranga and it fell through
altogether. All the same, a new series of Newsletters began, and is still active. So far,
there have been 221 issues. The circulation list now includes many from New
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Zealand, but also an international list from many countries. Many of the Newsletters
have appeared on websites and many are circulated beyond the original recipient.

11.8 NEW ZEALAND CLIMATE SCIENCE

In 2003 one of my regular contacts Owen McShane got together with the Editor of
the “New Zealand Wine” magazine, Terry Dunleavy, Bryan Leyland, an Energy
Consultant and a few friends to found “New Zealand Climate Science”, an
organisation with several hundred members and a website which has an
international audience. It includes a number of New Zealanders who work in
Australia, including Professor Robert Carter of Townsville University. It has been
able to issue regular press notices on current aspects of the climate debate. They
have set up a “Yahoo “Climate Sceptic” Email Group

11.9 THE INTERNATIONAL CLIMATE SCIENCE COALITION

The Heartland Institute financed a group of us to attend the December 2007 Climate
Conference in Bali, and it was used as an occasion to launch the International
Climate Science Coalition. The Secretary is Tom Harris from Canada, and Lord
Monckton is the scientific advisor. They also have a website and have recruited
members from all over the world.

They have sponsored two International Conferences of Climate Sceptics in New
York. At the first one which took place in March 2008 in The Marriott Hotel, Times
Square practically all the well known sceptics in the world met together for the first
time. | gave a lecture on “The Global Warming Scam”. The many other speakers
included the President of the Czech Republic, Vaclav Klaus, and a Vice Chair of the
IPCC WGI Committee, The many other speakers included the President of the
Czech Republic, Vaclav Klaus, and a Vice Chair of the IPCC WGI Committee, YURI
Izrael, from Russia. The Conference launched a call to scientists all over the world to
reform climate science, called “The Manhattan Declaration” as follows

We, the scientists and researchers in climate and related fields, economists,
policymakers, and business leaders, assembled at Times Square, New York City,
participating in the 2008 International Conference on Climate Change,

Resolving that scientific questions should be evaluated solely by the scientific
method,;

Affirming that global climate has always changed and always will, independent of the
actions of humans, and that carbon dioxide (COZ2) is not a pollutant but rather a
necessity for all life;

Recognising that the causes and extent of recently-observed climatic change are the

subject of intense debates in the climate science community and that oft-repeated
assertions of a supposed ‘consensus’ among climate experts are false;
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Affirming that attempts by governments to legislate costly regulations on industry and
individual citizens to encourage CO2 emission reduction will slow development while
having no appreciable impact on the future trajectory of global climate change. Such
policies will markedly diminish future prosperity and so reduce the ability of societies
to adapt to inevitable climate change, thereby increasing, not decreasing human
suffering;

Noting that warmer weather is generally less harmful to life on Earth than colder:
Hereby declare:

That current plans to restrict anthropogenic CO2 emissions are a dangerous
misallocation of intellectual capital and resources that should be dedicated to solving
humanity’s real and serious problems.

That there is no convincing evidence that CO2 emissions from modern industrial
activity have in the past, are now, or will in the future cause catastrophic climate
change.

That attempts by governments to inflict taxes and costly regulations on industry and
individual citizens with the aim of reducing emissions of CO2 will pointlessly curtail
the prosperity of the West and progress of developing nations without affecting
climate.

That adaptation as needed is massively more cost-effective than any attempted
mitigation, and that a focus on such mitigation will divert the attention and resources
of governments away from addressing the real problems of their peoples.

That human-caused climate change is not a global crisis.

Now, therefore, we recommend —

That world leaders reject the views expressed by the United Nations
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change as well as popular, but misguided

works such as “An Inconvenient Truth”.

That all taxes, regulations, and other interventions intended to reduce emissions of
CO2 be abandoned forthwith.

Agreed at New York, 4 March 2008.
A Second Conference took place in March 2009. | was unable to attend on this

occasion, but it was notable for the participation of many politicians. It launched the
full NIPCC Report “Climate Change Reconsidered”
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11.10 THE LITERATURE

| keep in touch with the literature by regular library visits to read “Nature” and
“Science”. To start with this was the National Library in Wellington.

This was exceedingly tedious as you had to apply for each issue individually and
wait over half an hour for the copy to emerge from the bowels of the earth. The
Wellington Public Library was slightly better. Both had photocopying facilities for
significant articles.

Eventually | obtained a reader’s ticket for the library of Victoria University, Wellington.
| regarded my self as extremely fortunate, as other universities, such as Auckland do
not issue such tickets to those who are not students. “Nature” and “Science” were in
the “Closed Reserve” on the ground floor and were issued for only one hour, with
fines for those not returned in that time. On one occasion, the librarian forgot to
check off the Journals that | had returned, and on my next visit | found | had incurred
a fine of several thousand dollars.

| also discovered the John Bradley Library in The Geology Department, where they
took such useful Journals as The Journal of Geophysical Research, and Geophsics
Research Letters. They cancelled Quarterly Journal of The Meteorological Society,
but then took Journal of Climate. They also took “Nature” which could usually be
read in their tea room.

Most recently several of the actual Journals have been replaced by computer
subscriptions. | have access, provided the librarian or a student lets me use their
password. In this system you can download whole articles on to a flash drive without
the tedium of photocopying.

In the main library the space has become so tight that past copies of “Nature” and
“Science” are no longer bound, but are stored in the basement where they can only
be accessed by movements of the shelves.

The Wellington Public Library no longer takes “Nature” or “Science” because they
cannot afford the subscription. They clalm you can read them on the computer, but
only when they are two years’ old.

Many researchers are disturbed that many can no longer read their work because of
the reduction in circulation of the journals. Their papers can therefore often be
obtained from their website. | have even resorted to the method that was used befoe
there were libraries, personal requests for copies. Journal editors obviously do not
encourage free issues of their publications, so you have to tolerate a draft or revew

copy.

| possess an enormous library of reprints of significant articles, filed in boxes in my
back room.

11.11 THE INTERNET

I have found that Internet to be indispensable for a researcher without the facilities of
an institution. It is not easy, however, to read current journals that are not taken by a
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local university, since the Journal usually expects a subscription or a fee for the
article. Many researchers are concerned that fewer people have access to their work,
so they make it available on a website, sometimes in “draft” form to evde copyright. .
The Research Laboratories in the United States are particularly generous in
supplying their results, although they do not always tell all.

| soon found my way into the various internet sites engaged in the greenhouse
debate. | was particularly indebted to a New Zealand Geology graduate working in
Australia, Warwick Hughes. At the beginning he was working at an organisation
called the Tasman Institute in Melbourne, which had as one of its Directors, Roger
Douglas, the former New Zealand Government Finance Minister. Warwick studied
the temperature measurements in weather stations and exposed many of the
unreliabilities of the measurements, which he still portrays on his website.

| visited the Institute during one of my trips to Melbourne, and was surprised to find
that the building they occupied had been designed by Frank Lloyd Wright, the
famous American architect. | gave a lecture there.

| have been accustomed for many years to the monitoring of a range of websites.
There are those which give official up-to-date figures on temperatures, greenhouse
gases, sea level and other climate properties. They include the Goddard Institute of
Space Studies, The National Organisation of Atmospheric Administration (NOAA),
The Carbon Dioxide Information Advisory Center (CDIAC), the Climate Research
Unit (CRU) and Metorological Office in Britain, and many others.

Those where these figures are subjected to scrutiny and criticism include Fred
Singer. And The Idso family who run a CO2 Clmate site with reviews of Journal
articles. This site is particularly valuable as few libraries can now afford the increase
in subscriptions.

One of the best sites was run by an engineer in Tasmania, John Daly. | published
most of my best articles on his website. He died suddenly in 1998, but the site has
been maintained. | published some of my best work on his site.

Some critics supply a daily or weekly newsletter with up-to-date information.
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CHAPTER 12: THE TRIUMPH OF DOUBLESPEAK

Despite over 20 years’ of effort and four major Reports, the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change has not succeeded in providing any evidence that increases in
greenhouse gases are having a measurable effect on the climate.

Why is it, then, that so many people believe that they have done so. The answer lies
in their subtle use of doublespeak, the technique of creating confusion by
manipulation of language.. This paper shows how they have confused and twisted
the meanings of words in such a way as to create triumph out of failure.

The Framework Convention on Climate Change which was signed by so many
nations, including our own, started the whole thing off with this definition of “Climate
Change”, from Atrticle 1 as follows:

“a change of climate which is attributed directly o r indirectly to human activity
that alters the composition of the global atmospher e and which is in addition
to natural climate variability observed over compar able time periods”

They have suddenly changed the meaning of “climate change” which had previously
not involved any particular cause, to one restricted only to its being "attributed” to
direct or indirect human changes in atmospheric composition. This means that they
do not have to prove that all changes in climate have this cause.. All they need to do
is to get people to use the term “climate change”, and they will suddenly discover
that by saying these words they support the IPCC “attribution” whether they know it
or not.

There does not need to be any actual evidence. All that is needed is for somebody.
such as an IPCC climate scientist, an environmental activist, a politician, or a
journalist, to “attribute” it. The “attribution” does not even need to be “direct”. It can
be “Indirect” which can be as obscure as they choose it to be.

This device has been an outstanding success. Any “climate change” which is
disapproved of, be it a heat wave, cold spell, flood, drought, or hurricane, is today
routinely “attributed” to human influence on the atmosphere.

The paper will give many other examples of IPCC doublespeak.,

They confuse matters further by their additional statements. “Climate Change” is now
only one of the many possible reasons for "change of climate”, a term which seems
now to have replaced the original meaning of “climate change”. They are reluctant to
enlarge on the possible other reasons for “change of climate” apart from “natural
variability”..

“Natural Variability” evidently does not “change” it merely varies. Only “climate
change” actually changes.

What is the difference between “change” and “variability”? Climate is known to vary
over many different periods, from a few seconds to millions of years. How can you
tell whether it is “changing” or “varying”?
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They have left out altogether an important component of “change of climate”, and
that is change of climate caused by humans which does not involve changes in the
composition of the atmosphere.

All organisms attempt to alter the climate around them to suit their metabolism.
Humans have been very successful at doing this, as it has enabled them to populate
many parts of the earth. They may alter their close climate by the use of clothes, or
they may build a box with a roof which encloses a climate suitable for living. They
may modify climate to suit crops or animals. They may alter climate by other
activities; by building cities, and roads, by heating their buildings, or consuming fuel
for power production or transport. Most of these, with the possible exception of the
last, do not obviously change the composition of the atmosphere, so they are
excluded from *“climate change” even if they cause measurable changes to
temperature or other climate properties. Unless these can be allowed for, it is
impossible to “attribute” any “change” to changes in atmospheric gases.

The IPCC Reports increase confusion by refusing to endorse the FCCC definition of
“climate change” and providing yet another definition of their own, as follows:

“Climate change in IPCC usage refers to any change in climate over time,
whether due to natural variability or as the result of human activity”

This appears as a footnote to the first page of the “Summary for Policymakers” in
Reports No 3 and 4’ It appears to return to the obvous straightforward definition
before the FCCA came along, but not quite.

First it only “refers” to a definition, so we are not sure whether that is a definition or
not. Secondly, they still want to deprive “natural variability” of being capable of
“change”. But they are disingenuous anyway, because their own title is bound to be
interpreted according to the FCCA definition, particularly by those who have not got
around to reading the footnote on the first page of the “Summary for Policymakers”.

Also, they do not play fair with their limited discussion of “natural variability”. They
always choose arguments that play down its importance, and place the actual data in
such a way as to make it difficult to find., so they can claim that its influence can be
ignored by comparison with the “anthropogenic” greenhouse effect/

GREENHOUSE GASES

The above FCCA definition of “Climate Change” makes no mention of the so-called
“greenhouse gases” which figure so strongly in IPCC discussions.. There are a
number of trace gases in the atmosphere which possess absorption bands for infra
red radiation emitted by the earth, thus reducing the total radiation emitted and
causing a temperature rise. This action is quite different from what happens in a
greenhouse, which traps warmed air instead of absorbing radiation.

The absence of a mention of greenhouse gases is quite deliberate, because they
have to conceal the fact that the most important greenhouse gas is water vapour.
John Tyndall, who discovered the effect in 1870, made this fact plain. He wrote that
water vapour
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“acts more energetically upon the terrestrial rays th an upon the solar rays;
hence, its tendency is to preserve to the earth a p  ortion of heat which would
otherwise be radiated into space” .

The Table of ‘Properties of Greenhouse Gases” on the first page of the first IPCC
Report (1990) does not include water vapour, and there is no Chapter on the subject,
and hardly a single paragraph devoted to it, in any of their Reports. Their charts
showing the various components of “radiative forcing” do not include water vapour.

If they were really interested in studying human effects on atmospheric components
you would think that the main initial approach must surely involve a study of changes
in water vapour.

They have not done so because it is too hard. Water vapour concentration in the
earth’s atmosphere is extremely variable, with differences of orders of magnitude in
different places. There are hardly any past records and little prospect of
comprehensive study at the present time.

But instead they have decided to study the minor greenhouse gas, carbon dioxide,
and to sweep the problem of water vapour to one side by calling it a “feedback” to
the effects of carbon dioxide. It is a case of the tail wagging the dog.

The meaning of the decision to make water vapour a “feedback” is never made clear,
but actually involves the assumption that relative humidity is a constant. Since
relative humidity is known to vary almost as widely as the actual concentration, there
is no observational evidence to support the assumption.

CLOUDS AS WELL

Clouds are also not one of the components of “Radiative Forcing”, not even at a
“Low Level of Scientific Understanding”. They are also treated as “feedback”, so that
the poor knowledge of their behaviour and effects can be concealed.

ANTHROPOGENIC

This is one of the words they have invented with the specific purpose of confusing
people. It is supposed to mean “human-induced”, but in practice they try to leave out
human-induced climate change which does not involve changes in atmospheric
components, or try to pretend that it does not exist.

DISCERNIBLE HUMAN INFLUENCE

A similar principle applies to the statement from the second IPCC Report (1995):

“The balance of the evidence suggests a discernible human influence on
global climate”.

This statement may refer only to the effects of greenhouse gass or to all human
influences on the climate, as required, but it is always interpreted as evidence for an
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“influence” from greenhouse gases, when it says nothing of the kind. And the
“influence” is always bad.

CORRELATION AND ATTRIBUTION

The IPCC admit that a correlation, however convincing, does not prove cause and
effect. This ancient logical principle if often ignored by the general public, who are so
often convinced that “links” between one phenomenon and another prove that they
are related.

The First Report (1990) took advantage of this confusion when they claimed

“The size of this warming is broadly consistent wit h the predictions of climate
models, but is also of the same magnitude as natura | climate variability”

The “warming” that was illustrated was “broadly inconsistent” with the models
because it was intermittent, and the actual amount was different. The conclusion
should have been that the greenhouse theory did not explain climate, but “natural
variability” did..

The IPCC decided that they could play on the lack of logical education merely by
changing the word “correlation” to “attribution”. They could then claim that “attribution,
in contrast to “correlation” could prove cause and effect. This principle even occurs in
the original definition of the FCCA, where “climate change” is caused by human
activity merely by being “attributed” to it, whoever does the “attribution”. So
“evidence” is not needed. “Attribution” is all that is required.

FORECASTING AND PROJECTING
The IPCC has abandoned any attempt to forecast future climate.

The first draft of the 1995 Report had a Chapter 5 “Validation of Climate Models” as
in the First Report. | pointed out that it was wrong since no climate model has ever
been “validated”, and they did not even try to do so. They thereupon changed the
word “Validation” to “Evaluation” no less that fifty times and have used it exclusively
ever since.

In addition, they do not use the word “prediction”. The models merely supply
“projections”, which are the results of accepting the assumptions made by the
models and by the futures scenarios which need to be used in association with the
models to obtain the “projections”

“Validation” is a term used by computer engineers to describe the rigorous testing
process that is necessary before a computer-based model can be put to use. It must
include successful prediction over the entire range of circumstances for which it is
required, to an acceptable level of accuracy. Without this process it is impossible to
find out whether the model is suitable for use or what levels of accuracy can be
expected from it..

The IPCC has never attempted this process, and they do not even discuss ways in
which it may be carried out. As a result the models are worthless, and their possible
inaccuracy is completely unknown. The IPCC has developed an elaborate procedure
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for covering up this deficiency which is well described in the IPCC document on
“Guidance Notes for Lead Authors on Addressing “Uncertainties”. .It includes
attempts to “simulate” those past climate sequences where suitable adjustment of
the uncertain parameters and equations in their models can be made to give an
approximate “fit”, but they rely largely on the elaborate procedure for mobilizing the
opinions of those who originate the models. Most of them depend financially on
acceptance of the models, so their opinions are handicapped by their conflict of
interest.

CONFIDENCE AND LIKELIHOOD

Since the results of the models are never validated and there is no method available
to determine their accuracy or their reliability, they are graded by a set of levels of
“confidence” decided entirely from the opinions of those who have produced them.

“Very High Confidence. At least 9 out of 10 chance of being correct
High Confidence. About 8 out of 10 chance

Medium Confidence. About 5 out of 10 chance

Low Confidence. About 2 out of 10 chance

Very Low Confidence. Less than 1 out of 10 chance. ”

The probability levels stated are nothing more than guesswork

They try to improve their “confidence” by carrying out “intercomparison” exercises,
where they try to reduce the huge differences between the different models. Since
no model has been successfully tested this is just as likely to increase their accuracy
as reduce it, but it does, apparently, improve their “confidence”

The “projections” are a combination of models with a set of “futures scenarios” They
are graded according to different levels of “likelihood” based on the opinions of the
prejudiced “experts”.

“Virtually Certain: >99% probability of occurrence
Very Likely: >90% probability

Likely: > 66% probability

About as Likely as not:33 to 66% probability
Unlikely: <33% probability

Very Unlikely: <10% probability

Exceptionally Unlikely: <1% probability”

Although low levels of “likelihood” are possible, almost all of the assessments are
“very likely”. They seem reluctant to claim the ultimate brag of “virtually certain”.

They back up these prejudiced opinions by allocating arbitrary and completely
unjustified levels of “probability”, which range up to over 99%, but they usually give
themselves a sufficient margin of uncertainty to give them an escape if the
projections turn bad..

From the Second Report “projections” were always so far ahead, typically 100 years,
that they could not be verified in the lifetime of anybody living today. With increasing
pressure to justify their claims, the 4™ report and more recent additions are beginning
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to make ‘projections” only a few years’ ahead, so it is not going to be long before
they may be called to account for their inadequacy..

No attempt has ever been made to check these “projections against actual climate
behaviour, except in a paper | published in 1999, which found that all of them were
wrong. In one IPCC Report (1994) the following statement was made.

“Since scenarios deal with the future they cannot b e compared with
observations”

They do not seem to realise that all serious forecasters automatically check against
observations as they occur, and adjust the forecast accordingly. The IPCC must be
the only organisation capable of believing that this procedure is impossible. It
automatically ensures that all their projections are worthless.

FORECASTS AND CHAQOS

“Frequently Asked Questions” No 2 in Chapter 1 of “Climate Change 2007” has the
following statement:

A common confusion between weather and climate aris es when scientists are
asked how they can predict climate 50 years from no w when they cannot
predict the weather a few weeks from now. The chaot ic nature of weather
makes it unpredictable beyond a few days. Projectin g changes in climate (i.e.,
long-term average weather) due to changes in atmosp  heric composition or
other factors is a very different and much more man ageable issue”.

Weather forecasters are the true climate scientists. They have been using all
available scientific techniques for some 200 years, and yet their forecasts are
unreliable beyond a few days.

The IPCC statement begins by failing to admit that the IPCC climate scientists do
not make “forecasts” at all, only “projections”. As a consequence they are likely to be
even less successful than weather forecasters, who at least try to make regular
checks on thi reliability of the forecasts.

All calculations involving the properties of fluids involve the use of non-linear
equations and integrals that cannot be solved exactly, This provides an uncertainty
referred to as “chaos” which is certainly one reason why forecasting the complex
behaviour of weather or climate is unlikely to be successful very far into the future.

But the claim that climate forecasting is somehow immune from "chaos” is simply
untrue.

The following statement comes from a paper by David Rind, a prominent IPCC
climate scientist.

"The climate that we experience results both from o rdered forcing and chaotic
behaviour, the result of a system with characterist ics of each. In forecasting
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prospective climate changes for the next century, t he focus has been on the

ordered system's responses to anthropogenic forcing . The chaotic component
may be much harder to predict. but at this point it is not known how important
it will be"
TRENDS

The whole object of the IPCC Reports is to establish “Trends”. They have to
establish that everything is inexorably getting worse. The “globe” is “warming” with
an upwards “trend” The ice is melting with a downwards “trend”. Any “trend” in the
wrong direction has to be ignored as “anomalous. Indeed, any disagreement with the
models is regarded as anomalous. The rate of change of methane in the atmosphere
has a downwards trend, but this is ignored in favour of the upwards trend in
concentration which ended, anyway, in 2000..

Since most climate properties fluctuate or even oscillate, it is necessary to choose a
beginning point and an ending point to give the necessary trend. For example the
last Report makes a big thing at the “trend” of retreat of Arctic ice from 1978 to 2007.
They do not want people to know that Arctic ice follows a periodic pattern, with low
points in around 1940 and 2007 and the high point at 1978. 2008 looks like a
turnaround.

The rather unreliable surface temperature anomaly record also begins either in 1900
or in 1978, because both are low points in a periodic record. The high points were
1940 and 1998 and the figures have fallen since then, but the “trends” before 1998
are the only ones that matter.

Often the beginning and end points of the “trend” are not mentioned at all. Thus, we
are told that “the globe is warming” without any information as to which period is
referred to or how much it is warming. In this way they can ignore the fact that since
1998 the “globe” has been cooling. So perhaps we may now told that the “long term
trend” is up, without defining the meaning of “long-term”.

Another periodic climate property is temperature of the ocean, and the trend is again
chosen to be taken from the lowest point to the highest point, ignoring the
fluctuation. The "trend"” seems currently to be downwards.

The Fox and Franz Josef glaciers in New Zealand fluctuate. Some years ago they
were receding. This fact was frequently used by the world press to prove the
existence of a disastrous “trend”. For the past few years they are advancing, and the
World press is silent because the trend is in the wrong direction.

UNCERTAINTY

The IPCC carries out exercises to reduce the “uncertainty” not only of models but
also of climate observations.

Much effort has been devoted to trying to improve the “certainty” of the surface

temperature anomaly record, which is based on an unrepresentative sample, for
which there is no recognised method of “correction”. When a whole series of
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“corrections” are applied to the USA where there are many weather stations with a
long record of professional monitoring, the presumed “global warming” over an
extended period tends to disappear, but a recent study of the absence of quality
control in US weather stations casts doubt on the entire system. In this study
Anthony Watts recruited a large number of volunteers who assessed compliance
with US Bureau of Meteorology standards over a third of all US weather stations and
found that only 11% were capable of an accuracy below one degree Celsius and
65% had errors of at least 5°C Since the supposed increase over 100 years is less
than one degree, the whole system can be considered useless..

A recent study of these temperature uncertainties admits that after they have tried
their best there are remaining “unknown unknowns”, referring to the well-known
poem of Donald Rumsfeld

The Unknown

As we know,

There are known knowns.

There are things we know we know.
We also know

There are known unknowns.

That is to say

We know there are some things
We do not know.

But there are also unknown unknowns,
The ones we don't know

We don't know.

IMPOSITION OF DOGMA

The IPCC Reports make no attempt to consider seriously all comments made on
their various drafts. They make this plain in Appendix 1 of the First Report, where
they say:

“While every attempt was made by the Lead Authors t 0 incorporate their
comments, in some cases these formed a minority opi nion which could not be
reconciled with the larger consensus”

This “consensus” is what is collectively decided by the anonymous Government
representatives who approve the entire reports and who dictate to the “Drafting
Editors” of the “Summary For Policymakers” what they are permitted to write. The
“consensus” is actually a dogma, foreshadowed by the FCCC concept of “climate
change”, that all changes in the climate are caused by human-induced changes in
the minor greenhouse gases. All contributions and comments that challenge this
dogma are treated as a “minority opinion” which they ruthlessly suppress. Reasons
for rejecting comments were never given. The only way | could find out whether they
had been considered was to read through the final Report. For the latest, Fourth
Report, access to the comments on the “Science” Report was obtained through the
British Official Information Act. | discovered that | had made 1,878 comments, and
that most of these had been rejected out of hand and the others usually had a trivial
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reason such as ‘“insufficient information” even when this information had been
repeatedly supplied.

STATISTICS AND DAMN LIES

Before the development of statistical methods for estimating accuracy by R A Fisher
and others in the 1930s there was no way of telling whether any particular
observation was accurate. Several observations of the same quantity had a “range”,
but there was no way of preferring one or another, or knowing whether any of them
is a correct figure.

Statistical techniques were developed for which an estimate of the most probable
figure for any quantity could be obtained, together with an estimate of the probable
level of accuracy. These methods are now applied and reported widely, but it is not
often realised that they are only valid if the assumptions made by the mathematics
are met. Amongst these are the use of representative samples, the insistence of
identical conditions of measurement,and compliance with a very few
mathematical formulae, the most importance being the Gaussian relationship.

With the climate, few of these conditions can be met, so there are no reliable
estimates of the accuracy either of the observations or of the conclusions after
manipulation. The IPCC cheerfully ignores all of this necessity and claims that its
figures possess confidence levels for many quantities which cannot be justified. It
should be noted, however, that their basic figures of “radiative forcing” are all
gualified as being dependent on various “Levels of Scientific Understanding” which
are undefined. The only logical conclusion is to assume that none of them can be
considered seriously even when the "Level of Scientific Understanding” is considered
to be “high”

NATURAL VARIABILITY WINS

Three of the four major IPCC Science Reports admitted that “natural variability”,
involving influences that do not involve changes in greenhouse gases, are perfectly
capable of explaining the behaviour of our climate.

“Climate Change 1990”, after saying “"Global mean surface temperature has
increased by 0.3°C to 0.6°C over the last 100 years”, stated

“The size of this warming is broadly consistent wit h the predictions of climate
models, but is also of the same magnitude as natura | climate variability”.

The models are presented as an alternative to “natural variability” instead of
something that might be in addition to it. Indeed, throughout the Reports attempts
are made to suggest that the models are capable of explaining every climate event,
ignoring “natural variability” altogether, even when the influences of volcanic
eruptions or ocean oscillations are obvious.

At the same time, they do their best to marginalize the influence of natural events by
placing emphasis on publications which minimise their influence
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The Second Report (1995) was subjected to special treatment. One of the Lead
Authors (Ben Santer) was given the task of altering offending sentences in the Final
Draft Report, to make it conform with the “consensus” imposed by the Government
Representatives who had to give approval to the report.

Among the passages from the Final Draft that were removed was the following

“None of the studies cited above has shown clear ev idence that we can
attribute the observed changes to the specific caus e of increases in
greenhouse gases.”

This was replaced by the following

“Implicit in these global mean results is a weak att  ribution statement—if the
observed global mean changes over the last 20 to 50 years cannot be fully
explained by natural climate variability, some (unk nown) fraction of the
changes must be due to human influences ”

The following statement was also in the original final draft

“Finally we come to the most difficult question of all: ‘When will the detection
and unambiguous attribution of human-induced climat e change occur?. In the
light of the very large signal and noise uncertaint ies discussed in this Chapter,

it is not surprising that the best answer to this q uestion is ‘We do not know’.
Some scientists would have claimed, on the basis of the results presented in
Section 8.4, that detection of a significant climat e change has already occurred. -
Few H—-any would be willing to argue that unambiguous attrib ution of this
change te—anthropogenic effects has already occurred, or was likely to happen
in the next several years.”

This statement was altered as follows:

“Finally we come to the mest— difficult question of when the detection and
attribution of human-induced climate change is like ly to occur. The answer to
this question must be subjective, particularly in the light of the very large
signal and noise uncertainties discussed in this Ch apter, Some scientists
maintain that these uncertainties currently preclud e any answer to the
guestion posed above. Other scientists would and ha ve claimed, on the basis

of the statistical results presented in Section 8.4 , that confident detection of a
significant anthropogenic climate change has alread y occurred. As noted in
Section 8.1, attribution involves statistical testi ng of alternative explanations

for a detected observed change and Few would be willing to argue that
completely unambiguous attribution of  (all or part of) this change has already
occurred, or was likely to happen in the next sever  al years.”

Even the altered versions do not seem very confident.

The 1995 Report also stated:
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“The balance of the evidence suggests a discernible human influence on the global
climate”.

Here is a statement everyone can agree on, merely surprised that such an obvious
and familiar fact should claim to be an original, fresh, discovery.

Every building, every highway, every shelter belt, every factory provides a
discernible human influence on the local climate which, in aggregate, impacts
globally. There is no mention here of greenhouse gases or emissions, yet it seems to
have been interpreted as if it did.

The scandal that emerged from the last minute censorship of the 1995 Report led to
the imposition of strict controls over what could be permitted throughout the Third
(2001) and Fourth (2007) Reports. A set of “Guidelines” to ensure uniform
techniques for “estimating” (in other words “guessing”) uncertainties was drawn up

Much use has been made of Bayesian statistics which provides a technique for
improving the reliability of guesswork, but is unlikely to work in the absence of
comparison with actual observations.

Despite all these control measures the following statement was made in Chapter 1 of
the Third Report, “Climate Change 2001".

“The fact that the global mean temperature has incr  eased since the late 19 ™
century and that other trends have been observed do  es not necessarily mean
that an anthropogenic effect on the climate has bee  n identified. Climate has
always varied on all time-scales, so the observed ¢ =~ hange may be natural”.

This whole Chapter was omitted from the Fourth Report, and those who wrote it
presumably ostracized. Instead there was a pseudo history of the Greenhouse Effect
which promoted the activities of the IPCC, but omitted all scientific work which did
not suit them, like the voluminous measurements of carbon dioxide in the
atmosphere as long ago as 1812.

The Third Report (2001), in their “Summary for Policymakers stated

“There is new and stronger evidence that most of th e warming observed over
the past 50 years is attributable to human influenc  e”

The Fourth Report (2007), made a very similar statement:

“Most of the observed increase in globally averaged temperature since the
mid-20™ century is very likely due to the observed increase in anthropogenic
greenhouse gas concentrations’

These statements are literally crawling with reservations which can be used to back
out of their claims when the time comes.

Thus, it is only “most” of the “observed increase or warming.. How much is that?
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They have eliminated from consideration those “globallel averaged” temperature
anomaly records that are more recent that “the mid-20™ Century, and therefore,
more reliable. These include satellite and radiosonde records, and even the most
recent amalgamated surface temperature anomaly reco rds, which do not show
effects incompatible with natural variability.

“Globally averaged temperature” is never “observed” Individual local temperatures
cannot be averaged because a representative sample does not exist. They refer
instead to the so-called “Mean annual global surface temperature anomaly record”
which is actually based on the “anomalies” obtained from measurements in the same
geographically defined area, but are not “observed” but “deduced”..

Then, the second statement is only “very likely” based on opinions of computer
modelists, and the “observed” “anthropogenic” greenhouse gas concentrations,
which do not include any measurements of the main greenhouse gas, water vapour,
and only very restrictive measurements of all the rest, whose concentrations over
land surfaces, where it matters, are almost unknown.

CONCLUSION

There is no evidence that “anthropogenic” increases in greenhouse gases are
altering the climate. “Natural Variability”, is thus the only cause of changes in the
climate, provided “anthropogenic” interventions not involving greenhouse gases, are
also considered to be “natural”.
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CHAPTER 13: THE AFTERMATH

Ever since the beginnings of the global warming scare the extreme enthusiasts have
tried to persuade governments to carry out more and more drastic restrictions on the
use of carbon-based fuels. The first compromise, the Kyoto Protocol, which
attempted to revert to 1990 emissions, was economically damaging, but was not
expected, from the model “projections” to have much influence on the climate.

One standard feature was that none of the proposed restrictions included any
measures to monitor climate properties to see whether the measures taken were
successful. The claim that the climate must be saved was therefore a pretence to
justify an attack on the living standards of modern civilisation, which is destroying
“the planet” and must be made to suffer for it.

The various IPCC Reports were planned as ammunition to increase restrictive
measures at a series of international meetings. These have culminated recently ito
proposals for emissions trading schemes.

| gave evidence before the New Zealand Parliamentary Select Committee that
considered the Emissions Trading Scheme set into motion by the New Zealand
Government in 2006, After the change of Government in 2007 | gave evidence
before the Select Committee set up to modify it. Our chances had been improved by
the association with the Government of the eight members of the ACT Party, who
supported a complete abolition of the bill.

Over the years exemption from charges on carbon emissions had been granted to
those who grew trees. The motives for this strange exemption are unclear, as trees
do not last for ever and would often replace the carbon in the atmosphere when the
wood is burned or rots. Pesumably it must have seemed difficuly to penalise the
large proportion of the population who burn wood as a fue, which is not regarded as
“fossil” fuel.

What is surprising is the fact that all agriculture involves removal of carbon dioxide
from the atmosphere, be it crops, animals or chickens. Yet agriculture is penalised
because of the emission of methane from farm animals, even though this is a minor
residue from the carbon consumed, apparently has no effect on global
concentrations, and is eventually converted to carbon dioxide, which replaces the
grass consumed by the animals. Although methane is emitted by all plants and also
by wetlands and rubbish tips, no attempte is made to measure it or penalise these
source.

The rate of increase of methane in the atmosphere has been falling since
measurements began in 1984. The concentration has been almost constant for the
past ten years and will fall if the current trend continues.

Only the additional emissions after 1990 are being penalized by the Kyoto process.
Farmers are to be taxed on additional methane emissions after that date. What is
ignored is that additional methane emissions imply additional carbon sequestration in
the form of animal products. Sequestration of carbon dioxide takes place just as
much by additional farming as by additional forestry.
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13.1 THE PEER REVIEW MAFIA

Scientific research was once the hobby of gentlemen with private means, sometimes
even by a servant of such a gentleman (for example. Leonardo da Vinci). The results
of such research were often in private diaries, but more often in published books.
Scientists would communicate by mail or personal visit. Newton's "Principia” was
published in the Latin language.

Eventually scientists got together to form societies where discoveries could be aired
and discussed.

In Italy, at about the time of Galileo, several small societies were formed. One of the
most important of these was the Lyncean Society, founded about the year 1611,
Galileo himself being a member. This society was succeeded by the Accademia del
Cimento, at Florence, in 1657, which for a time flourished, with such a famous
scientist as Torricelli as one of its members.

In England an impetus seems to have been given by Sir Francis Bacon's writings in
criticism and censure of the system of teaching in colleges.

As early as the year 1645 a small company of scientists had been in the habit of
meeting at some place in London to discuss philosophical and scientific subjects for
mental advancement. In 1648, owing to the political disturbances of the time, some
of the members of these meetings removed to Oxford, among them Boyle, Wallis,
and Wren, where the meetings were continued, as were also the meetings of those
left in London. In 1662, however, when the political situation bad become more
settled, these two bodies of men were united under a charter from Charles Il., and
Bacon's ideas were practically expressed in that learned body, the Royal Society of
London

Perhaps the nearest realization of Bacon's ideal, however, is in the Royal Academy
of Sciences at Paris, which was founded in 1666 under the administration of Colbert,
during the reign of Louis XIV. This

Among the other early scientific societies was the Imperial Academy of Sciences at
St. Petersburg, projected by Peter the Great, and established by his widow,
Catherine 1., in 1725; and also the Royal Swedish Academy, incorporated in 1781,
and counting among its early members such men as the celebrated Linnaeus

The history of scientific journals dates from 1665, when the French Journal des
scavans and the English Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society first began
systematically publishing research results. Over a thousand, mostly ephemeral, were
founded in the 18th century, and the number has increased rapidly after that.

Today scientists have become professional paid workers, often employed by
Governments, Universities or Industrial organisations.

Reputation, and often salary and promotion of scientists is based on their ability to
publish their research in established scientific journals. The quality and reliability of
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these publications is monitored by a system of peer review. Editors seek the opinion
of scientists working in a similar area. Their names are supposedly secret. The work
of reviewing is carried out free.

This system has worked well in the past. Many of the most respected Journals are
operated by well-run scientific societies who try to keep to high ethical principles of
free speech, genuine controversy and scrupulous fairness.

The system is, however, prone to a number of drawbacks which have become more
acute over the years.

Firstly, journal editors are often no longer officers of a scientific society, but are more
likely to be journalists or managers more interested in circulation figures. A range of
shorter articles is likely to appeal to more readers than a few longer articles.

Unpopular subjects are discouraged. Even a degree of sensationalism helps to sell
journals.

The peer review system is often an opportunity to kill competitors or encourage
supporters.

The delays in publication are often too long. Really important results usually appear
in the popular press.

The complexity of modern science means that it is impossible for a peer reviewer to
check the work of others since it often requires access to expensive equipment or
very large databases.

The result is that there have been a number of recent examples of scientific results
which could not be reproduced and even some which were fraudulent.

Prejudice by editors is difficult ot overcome. Sir Cyril Burt, as Editor of the British
Journal of Statistical Psychology was able to publish several completely spurious
articles. Some Editors of pharmaceutical journals are able to publish work favouring
particular manufacturers.

This newsletter is about how the peer review mafia can prevent publication of any
material which criticises the belief that increases in human-produced carbon dioxide
cause global warming.

Several Editors of well known Journals have departed from the traditional impartiality
by being vigorous advocates of this theory. They include the editors of "Nature”,
"Science" and "Scientific American" Criticism of the greenhouse theory is
discouraged by these and other journals and they seem to depend on a core of
relaible "peer review Mafia" who can be depended upon for rejection.

The IPCC Reports have an impressive list of "peer reviewed" papers to support their

arguments, but very few who question them. There are some which appear from the
title to be supportive, but are less so if the text is read.
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Journals are becoming fiendishly expensive. | recently complained that the
Wellington Central Library no longer takes "Nature" and "Science" which | had got
into the habit of reading there. They replied that they could no longer afford the
$5660 it now takes for them to subscribe to "Nature" and the $1050 for "Science".
Many scientists are concerned that nobody reads their stuff because personal
subscriptions ($500 for Nature) as well as library subscriptions are rarer.

Although publication in established journals is still the key to academic success they
are becoming less and less relevant. One reason is the need for rapid publicity;
essential for those who need evidence to support future finance. This has led to a
rash of premature science in the popular media; results which "might" or "could" be
useful. Of course the journals are "on line" for a fee from an institution (even
Wellington Public Library).

Science controversy is increasingly being transferred to the web. Peer reviews take
place by means of open discussion from people who do not hide under anonymity.
Publications on the web have a much greater circulation than the journals. | can cite
personal experience. If | put one of my subjects in a search engine, my publications
come first (including this one) Sometimes they take you to a publication in "Nature”
where you are told you cannot read it without payment. Of course the Journals must
make a profit. But publication on the web is cheap.

A straw in the wind is the recent US Climate Change Science Program publication
"Temperature Trends in the Lower Atmosphere" which has been published on the
NOAA website, but nowhere else. The IPCC, abandoning their usual exclusive
references to peer reviewed published papers, has been forced to include a
reference to this web publication, apparently for the first time.

The web publishes things the journals cannot do. Many scientists prepare visual
"power point" presentations which can now be seen on the web. The very latest are
the complete lectures or documentary presentations, such as the recent "Global
Warming Swindle" which can be seen on Youtube.

They cannot censor the web, although they do try. They attacked the Tech Central
website because it was allegedly supported by Exxon. They publish lists of
"dissidents" like myself in the hope that we will be silenced, But the web is where the
battle is fought, and will be won; not the scientific journals with their peer review
mafia.
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CHAPTER 14: THE NEW STATE AND WORLD RELIGION:
ENVIRONMENTALISM.

THE ORIGINS OF RELIGION

The human instinct to worship one or more nebulous beings in nebulous localities
goes back to the five million years of our early evolution when we were faced with
hostile surroundings and the necessities of daily survival. Societies were disciplined
and dictatorial, much as monkeys, deer, lions and meerkats are today; and even
some sub-groups of contemporary human society such as armies or criminal gangs.
Obedience to a leader and rejection of those who did not conform was essential.
Those who survived were the best followers of orders.

In order to ensure obedience to the leader, rituals were developed to make him
appear special. He was approved and advised by supernatural beings, and the
people had to be made to believe a whole theology to support the legitimacy of the
leader. Priests and a church which sanctified the leadership were supplied. Anyone
who disagreed was rejected, and their genes did not survive. The survivors evolved
an instinct for worship and acceptance of authority which many still possess.

In this way, over the millions of years we acquired an instinct to believe, to accept
irrational and supernatural explanations for those parts of our life we cannot control,
and support and worship for leadership

The world today is still controlled to a great degree by religious beliefs, which assist
the maintenance of leadership. Such systems tend to be resistant to innovation, to
changes in technology and new forms of social organisation, and history has many
examples of the downfall of entire civilizations because of religious and social
dogma, conquered, replaced or overcome by those who have better technology. and
less rigid conformity.

The most prosperous and most civilized nations of this world have become this way
because they have been able to overcome the stultifying influence of religions and
the backwardness that they encourage. Although no country is free from religious
influence, in one way or another, many of us have minimised this influence, so that
we can develop new technologies and new ideas which can promote economic and
social progress despite religious interference.

Many of the most prosperous states in the world no longer have the burden of an
official state-sponsored religion which can force citizens to behave in the way
determined by the priests.

Humanist and sceptical groups in many countries have established the right of
freedom of worship, or of non-worship. New Zealand is one country where a large
proportion of the population declare themselves to possess no religion, where
Members of Parliament and those giving evidence in Court are not forced to swear
allegiance to any God.
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At least, this was so until the growth of the Environmental Movement in the second
half of last century. This movement has now reached the dimensions of a State and
World Religion. both in New Zealand and in the world at large

It is difficult to draw a distinction between a religion, a cult and an irrational belief. All
have their origins in the human instinct to worship. They are just a matter of degree.
Nazi Germany fell foul of the belief that Germans were a superior race. In Stalinist
Russia any measure could be justified on behalf of a mythical “working class”. These
beliefs were every bit as strong, and as disastrous for their victims and their
believers as any belief based on a supernatural God.

Environmentalism does have a God, a Heaven and a Devil. So it comes close to
qualify as a religion. It demands constant and increasing sacrifices and represents
an increasing threat to freedom of thought, of science. and of future human
progress...

Early humans were surrounded with a hostile world, into which incursions were only
made for essential purposes. Industrial developments in the eighteenth century led
to a situation where the outside world was no longer dangerous, as humans had
guns, provisions and transport. The Romantic Movement reversed the dangers of
the outside world to argue that the world without humans was actually superior and
artistically sublime. The concept of “Nature” which was superior to human habitation,
became widely accepted. Even the most primitive humans came to be regarded as
superior (noble savages), from133 those like Rousseau, who hated humans and
human society.

Darwin’s backing of evolution and his explanation of its mechanism caused a
widespread disillusionment with orthodox religion, based on a belief in supernatural
beings. If humans evolve just like any other animal, surely we have no special
privileges such as a supernatural God, life after death, a recipient for prayers, which
are not available to our fellow creatures,

Darwin himself had great difficulties with this problem, as his wife was an
enthusiastic Christian. It was only in his autobiography that he eventually admitted
that he was an “agnostic”, a euphemism for “unbeliever”. His family censored this
confession away in the published autobiography and it was not replaced until the
edition of 1958. His co-discoverer of the theory of evolution, Alfred Russell Wallace,
and many other contemporaries, took up Spiritualism..

Biologists today still try to insist that humans are “special”’. and therefore capable of
the irrational influences of religion. These views, promoted by Julian Huxley Ernst
Mayr and others, are still part of official biology instruction.

Recent developments in human prosperity have revised demands for a modernized
religious belief, in response to the instinct which most of us still possess.
Environmentalism has now grown to provide for this instinct on a scale that it begins
to threaten the future welfare of the human race. It is now the official state religion of
New Zealand and many other countries, and is promoted by the United Nations.

\
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THE ENVIRONMENTALIST CREED

Environmentalism has established a new God; The Environment. .As with other
Gods, the Environment is all demanding. It controls the earth, or, as they will say
“The Planet”. It takes the place of conventional Gods in having dominion over all
human life, and the right to demand continual sacrifices. Devotees, now regularly
comment on all aspects of human life and demand obedience to the requirements of
the God on practically every radio and TV news programme and every magazine
and newspaper.

The Environment also has similar characteristics to the Christian Heaven. It has no
clearly defined location. Although it seems not to actually exist It can still be used as
a reason for sacrifice.

The Environmentalist Devil is the Human Race. Humans are seen as responsible for
everything on earth, but this responsibility is invariably harmful, and human influence
must be prevented and reversed. The ultimate objective seems to be to remove all
humans from the earth in order to restore it to an ideal golden age.

Ernst Haeckel coined the term “Ecology” to describe the complex relationship
between all the organisms on the earth. Environmentalism uses the term to describe
only those relationships that do not involve humans, or rather to pretend that this can
be so. Instead of the complex evolving ecological pattern that really exists,
environmentalists believe that the world is divided up into “ecosystems” which are
uniform, stable, “balanced” and threatened by humans.

Instead of the complex relationship that exists between humans ad other organisms
evolutionists divide them into “pests” and “endangered species”. Despite the fairly
obvious fact that very few organisms ever become extinct, and that the numbers that
do are fairly constant, environmentalists are forever designating almost any
organism as “endangered” and thus likely to become extinct, and thus the recipient
of special, expensive, treatment. “Pests” can comprise not only organisms such as
rats or malaria bacillus, which directly threaten humans, but they now include any
successful organism which therefore threatens the territory of one which can be
characterised as “endangered”.

“Biodiversity” is claimed to have moral authority. and to be universally desirable.
Organisms which successfully eliminate rivals, such as deciduous trees are thought
to be immoral. Usually only organisms visible to humans are regarded as
participating in biodiversity. Those requiring a microscope to be visible are let alone.

Instead of human development and economic and social progress, environmentalists
wish to limit or prevent progress using a concept called “sustainability”. Sustainability
is, essentially, any policy which meets the religious requirements of
environmentalism. “Resources” must be “conserved”, Energy must be consistently
economized. Almost any form of economic or social progress must be limited or
prevented.

In a country that has embraced secularism, with no official support for the
conventional religions, we are now finding that environmentalism is being promoted
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by state propaganda at every level. It has become almost compulsory in all schools
where children are being brainwashed to embrace the virtues of “environmental
awareness”, "sustainability”, “biodiversity” and “conservation”.

A whole range of laws have arisen to prevent progress, and zealots are prepared to
break existing laws and risk even their own lives to limit or destroy human
development. These may include campaigns to prevent animal experiments,
whaling, genetic engineering, nuclear power, the mining of coal or minerals,
contraception, or abortion.

One result of this continual pressure is the current increases in the price of all forms
of energy, the result of campaigns to prevent the building of power stations or
refineries, of prospecting, or the use of the most economical forms of energy.

REASONS FOR HUMAN VILLAINY

There is a tireless search to justify the belief that humans are damaging the earth.
Easy or even difficult targets are sought out and magnified out of all proportion. Past
slaughter of buffalos or of moas were dastardly crimes. Whales must be “saved.
Pollution, radiation, poor diet, have to be magnified. Pesticides are harmful and
farming must be “organic”. Genetic engineering must be stopped. .

In the 1970s efforts were made to claim that “resources” would soon be depleted.
Population was about to “explode”. Refrigerants were destroying the “Ozone Hole” .
A new “lce Age” was about to take over. Although these scares were unfounded, by
1976 the Environmental religion had replaced the conventional religions in almost all
developed countries. They had established local cathedrals (Ministries of the
Environment) headed by the local bishop (called The Minister) which imposed local
dogma and had by then controlled many countries and was officially approved by
United Nations

THE GLOBAL WARMING SCAM
Then they took up their most successful scam; global warming.

Humans have experienced climate fluctuations of one sort or another since evolution
began. Some, such as the Ice Ages have a long period. Others have shorter periods.
The idea arose that it might be possible to blame these on humans.

It was Arrhenius in 1895 who fist started the scare that the earth could be harmfully
warmed by increase in carbon dioxide in the atmosphere. The idea was not
successful, as there was a drop in global temperature for the following fifteen years,
followed by an increase, but in a world plagued by a world war and economic crisis.

The global warming scare was revived in 1938 by G S Callendar. Once more, he
was unlucky, as the temperature fell between 1940 and 1976.

By then, the environmental religion was well under way and the global warming myth

was revived for the third time as soon as the temperature rose again. The idea that
the earth is warming because of emission of greenhouse gases had now assumed
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such epidemic proportions that it was possible to set up a large scientific exercise,
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, which had the task of supplying
pseudo scientific evidence to support the environmentalist cause.

This body has timed its Reports to support a succession of stages in which the
nations of the World are being compelled to carry out environmental sacrifices on a
colossal scale based on the environmentalist myth that increases in carbon dioxide
are damaging the climate. This is now involving compulsion in the choice of energy
sources to “renewables” or those which minimise carbon dioxide emissions.

Carbon dioxide is now regarded as a “pollutant”; yet it is the very basis of our entire
existence. We could not exist if it were not for the accidental synthesis of a chemical
called chlorophyll in a primeval living cell. This made it possible to convert carbon
dioxide in the atmosphere to living tissue by members of the plant world, and to
provide the means of existence for almost all organisms alive today. We are a living
world built upon atmospheric carbon dioxide, yet we are being persuade that this life-
giving gas is harmful and dangerous, and must be controlled. Ultimately, perhaps,
we must discontinue exhaling it.

Since all available measurement techniques have found that there has been little
change in global temperature for the past ten years, the term “global warming” is less
popular, and has been largely replaced by “climate change” which can be used to
condemn humans for every flood, hurricane, drought, or change of any kind.

It is perhaps fortunate that the upwards section of the climate cycle which is most
likely responsible for the moderate warming of the earth since 1976 is about to end,
almost certainly to be followed by the expected cooling period. The environmentalist
religion has so taken hold, and involves so many vested interests that there will be
determined efforts to conceal the facts of any such cooling.

When future cooling has become clearer the environmentalists will doubtless go
back to their campaign of the 1970s, the coming ice age.

The Environmental Religion, like all religions, has stifled disagreement with its
dogma. It has imposed what amounts to a censorship on many forms of public
expression. It controls the views of every one of our Members of Parliament. It
prevents open Debate and open publication of criticism of its beliefs and policies.

Our Government carries out campaigns for acceptance of environmental policies
which permit no dissent, alternative view, or discussion. A prominent radio journalist
recently announced that he would no longer permit criticism of environmental
policies on the climate. Although there appear occasional “letters to the editor”,
newspapers obtain their views from the Opus Dei of the environment, Greenpeace.

The Internet is, so far, a forum for free speech, so the fight to free us from the latest
religious impositions must be mainly carried out there.
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CHAPTER 15: CLIMATEGATE AND THE DECLINE OF
GLOBAL WARMING

November 2009 saw the release of secret Emails from the central group of climate
scientists around Phil Jones, Director of the Climate Research Unit of the University
of East Anglia. It confirmed what | had already decided, that the entire exercise was
fraudulent. The Emails revealed concealment and even loss of vital data, refusal to
process demands from the Official Information Act, intimidation of opponents, and
falsification of undesired results. The succeeded in causing the sacking of the entire
editorial board of the Journal “Climate Research”, responsible for publishing my
paper on IPCC scenarios, amongst others. Perhaps the most revealing was a large
file reporting the efforts made by a computer scientists to bring order into their data
files, which included evidence that many were lost or corrupted and examples of
deliberate faking of the files to make them fit the desired conclusions,

At the same time a number of results that had been published in the Second volume
of the fourth IPCC Report (devoted to “Impacts”’) were found to be without
foundation. | had failed to comment on the second and third volume (Mitigation)
because they both started with the assumption that the opinions of the first volume
(on Science) were to be assumed to be correct. Since | disagreed with the premises
upon which they existed | felt that my only comment was that | opposed them both
totally.

However | had not noticed that the requirement that all claims should be cited in a
peer reviewed article, which was mainly enforced for the first volume, had been
loosened to the extent that the cited articles merely made unsubstantiated claims.
Several of these have led to pressure on the Chairman Dr Pachauri to resign’

These scandals have significantly reduced the appeal of the global warming
doctrine, which have now been reinforced by the persistent very cold winters in the
Northern Hemisphere, with unprecedented snow and ships being trapped in Baltic
ice.

Partly because of these problems the Copenhagen Climate Conferenec failed to
reach an agreement.

| was asked for a comment on the Climategate affair by a website called the
Pajamas Media and | replied rather casually, recalling how | should have realized
that the whole affair was fraudulent from the very beginning in 1990 when | collected
two papers that had been published that year. The first, in “Nature” by Jones, Wang
Karl and others examined three sets of climate records and showed that comparison
between urban and rural records showed negligible evidence for an urban effect.

The second paper in Geophysical Research Letters had two of the same authors,
Wang and Karl, yet examined one set of the same temperature records, the one
from China, and found a significant urban effect. | had simply not noticed that both
papers could not possibly be right,
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The first paper was cited regularly in IPCC Reports, including that of 2007, to justify
their decision to make no urban correction on their temperature records.

Ten years’ later an American engineer, Doug Keenan, tried to get the original
Chinese data that had been used in both papers and found that some of it did not
exist and that the rest did not fulfil the condition for regular records. He published a
paper accusing Wang of fraud. Wang was investigated by his college, and absolved,
but the matter was discussed in the Climategate Emails, and Tom Wigley, their
senior man agreed that Wang had committed fraud. Despite this, the first paper was
still used to justify ignoring urban effects in the following 2007 Report.

As a result of the Climategate scandal Jones was subsequently interviewed and he
admitted that his paper was wrong, as the records did show urban effects.

My short paragraph on this matter created a sensation on the internet. When | put
the words “Vincent Gray Climate Fraud” into the Yahoo search engine | got 211,000
hits, which included all of my other publications. So a lot of people must read my
opinions, even if | am ignored by the official media.
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CHAPTER 16: POSTSCRIPT

For all our readers here is my universal Christmas message from 2001.

SCROOGE LIVES

Bah! Humbug!

A Christmas Message to dissidents, dissenters, libe rtarians, rogergnomes,
lapsed Catholics, lapsed Communists, lapsed Greenpe  ace activists and old
codgers of all ages.

Dear Friends

With considerable restraint, | refrained from imposing my reprehensible views on all
and sundry in our Christmas missive. | therefore wish to supplement this with a blast
or two, for a somewhat more selective audience.

| do not believe in Santa Claus. | do not believe in Jesus Christ. | do not believe in
God. | do not BELIEVE.

Humans have got where they are by using reason; by an ability to observe and make
deductions; to assess evidence, experiment, generalise, and discover. There is no
point in belief, if it cannot be backed up by observation, experiment and evidence,
and it is always temporary, ready to be changed if fresh evidence comes along.

When Napoleon Bonaparte asked Simon Pierre Marquis de Laplace why there was
no mention of the creator in his great work “Mecanique Celeste”, he replied “I have
no need for such a hypothesis”. Neither have I.

Religions of all sorts are predominantly harmful. They encourage acceptance of false
ideas, of unbridled authority. They foster hatred of unbelievers. They encourage
discrimination against women and unorthodox sex. They support war and torture.
They impose absurd rituals.

| have been particularly horrified by the actions of the Israelis. Here is old-fashioned
colonialism revived: invasion of another’s country because God permits it. When the
natives object shoot ‘em down. It almost deserves the epithet of “holocaust”, but
they have yet to set up gas chambers.

The “environment” is a myth. There is no discernible dividing line between human

activities and those of the rest of the organic world, not even the human skin. Of
course we want pleasant surroundings, but that is for us, not for other creatures.
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The idea that we damage “the environment” is false. The number of “species” is
unknown, so there is no way that it can be said to be falling. The whole concept of
species is arbitrary and variable. The point at which earlier species evolves into new
ones is indeterminate. 99.9% of all species are extinct. Why should we try to stop a
purely natural process?

Humans love to dominate others. Dogs are bred to resemble children for this
purpose. Now we want to dominate “endangered species” by making them
dependent on us. “Wildlife Parks” do not include any wild life. They are all
domesticated slaves of humans, trained to perform for television, and to suppress
their natural instincts to Kill us.

What is so marvellous about New Zealand “Native” plants and birds.? Roses,
rhododendrons and camellias are preferable, as are Macaws, pelicans and
blackbirds.

The USA was never a democracy. The only mention of the term at the constitutional
convention was by George Washington, who insisted that he did not believe in
democracy, and that the US constitution would never permit it. In all other “Western”
countries citizens and permanent residents are automatically voters. Only in the US
do you have to “register” No wonder so few people vote. The voting system is
deliberately designed to discourage the poor and the minorities. You cannot change
the rules, or you might have the undesired effect of the person with the greatest
voter support actually winning. My greatest desire is that the result of the presidential
election should be a dead heat, and the outcome settled by a duel with pistols at
twenty paces.

New Zealand is only slightly better. We are afflicted by a proportional system called
MMP which puts into Parliament people whose only skill is influencing party bosses,
and it gives too much power to small minority opinion.

Global warming is a fallacy, caused by slow increases in the heat supplied to the
thermometers by more buildings, vehicles and people. The only consequence of
increased carbon dioxide is improved growth of crops and forests

Recently | was invited to join an organisation called “Arena” which seeks to organise
hooligans and petty criminals to carry out violent protests at meetings of the World
Trade Organisation and the World Bank, who, it claims are “anti-people” They
resemble the early Nazi bully boys.

Modern music and art have lost their way. Popular music never recovered from the
Beatles and Elvis. The last great composer was Shostakovitch. The last great artist
was Picasso.

| hate television advertisements. They are an unwanted intrusion on my privacy. As
time is short they rely on falsehood and hypocrisy. Our late-night ads even promote
prostitution. | used to wear out the carpet between my armchair and the TV, then
several mute buttons. Now | try to video in advance and fast forward the ads. | try
hard never to buy or recommend any product advertised on TV. Our programmes
are terrible, but there are enough unexpected good ones to keep us going. Even the
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the BBC has gone to the dogs. The best news bulletin is Al Jazera, staffed by
disgruntled former BBC reporters.

On the other hand, | like junk mail. | do not understand the people with “no circulars”
on their box. Junk mail usually presents its products properly, with a picture and
price, and other useful information. You don'’t have to read it if you don’t want to. It
comes in useful for starting the fire.

The sun goes round the earth. Everybody knows this is true but you areal
brainwashed to believe the opposite, which is also true. The ancients found the need
to celebrate the re-appearance of the sun. and why should we not do the same? But
in New Zealand, it happens in summer. On top of that it is the real millennium, 2000
years since when? Certainly not the birth of Jesus Christ!

Will the last New Zealander, as he leaves for Australia, please turn out the lights.

But don't tell the children.
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APPENDIX: PUBLICATIONS OF VINCENT RICHARD GRAY

1946.

Studies in Aluminium Soaps

Dissertation presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, University of
Cambridge.

1948.

The Flow-Optical Properties of Visco-Elastic Media

International Rheological Congress, Schevenigan, Holland 11 23-31.

(with H.M.E.L. Steiner and Petrocarbon Ltd). Preparation of Hydroperoxides from
Aliphatic Olefines by Direct Oxidation.  British Patent 614,456, Dec 15"

1949.

(with A.E. Alexander). Studies on Aluminium Soaps 1, Viscosity and Streami ng
Birefringence of Aluminium Soap Solutions . J. Physical and Colloid Chemistry,
53 9-23.

(with A.E. Alexander). Studies on Aluminium Soaps 2. The Composition,
Structure and Gelling Properties of Aluminium Soaps . J. Physical and Colloid
Chemistry, 53 23-39.

Discontinuous flow phenomena in gelatin gels . Nature, 164 584

1950.

(with A.E. Alexander). Aluminium Soaps, Their Nature and Gelling Propertie s
Proceedings of the Royal Society, A 200 162-169.

Surface Films and Particle Size of Powders . Canadian Journal of Research, B78
277-291.

(with R.N. Haward). Polymerization Products . Annual Reports on the Progress of
Applied Chemistry, 35 568-587.

1951.
Polymerization Products . Annual Reports on the Progess of Applied Chemistry,
36 599-620.

1952.
Polymerization Products . Annual Reports on the Progress of Applied Chemistry,
37 790-811.

1953.
(with M.N. Berger, H.M.E. Steiner and Petrocarbon Ltd). Copolymers of Styrene
and Butadiene. British Patent 761,133 11.3.53.

1955.
(with P.F. Whelan). Quick Moisture method for coal. = Chemistry and Industry, 126-
128.

1956.
(with P.F. Whelan). Electrostatic Cleaning of Low Rank Coal by the Drum
Separator. Fuel, 35 184-211.
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1958.

(with R. Bailey). Contact Angle Measurements of Water on Coal . Journal of
Applied Chemistry, 8 197-202.

(with D.J. Brown and A.W. Jackson) The Spreading of Oil on Wet Coal . Journal of
Applied Chemistry 8 752-759.

The Dewatering of Fine Coal.  Journal of the Institute of Fuel 31 96-108.

The Acidity of Wood . Journal of the Institute of Wood Science,1 58-64.

The Chemical Processing of Wood and Wood Waste . British Chemical
Engineering. 3 419-425.

The Corrosion Resistance of Timber . Civil Engineering, 53 423-426’

Timber as a Corrosion Resistant Material . Corrosion Prevention and Control, 5
(5) 65-68.

Timber. Anti-Corrosion Manual, published by Corrosion Prevention and Control
London., 118-121. Reprinted, with amendments, 1959 and 1960.

(with A.C. Oliver), External Clear Finishes for Timber . Wood, 23 237-239.

1959.

Acidity and Corrosive Effects of Redwood and Whitew ood. Research Report
C/RR/7, Timber Research and Development Association.

Moisture Retardant Treatments for Timber . Research Report C/RR/2,Timber
Research and Development Association.

Fire Retardant Treatments for Timber. Information BulletinC/IB/1, Timber
Research and Development Association.

Possible Uses of Radioisotopes and Radiation in Ti  mber Research .
Information Bulletin C/IB/2, Timber Research and Development Association.
Prevention of Resin Exudation in Keruing . Research Report C/RR/3, Timber
Research and Development Association.

The Durability of Exterior Clear Finished on Timber . Research Report C/RR/4,
Timber Research an Development Association.

Timber Properties and Corrosion . Information Bulletin C/IB/4, Timber Research
and Development Association.

Timber Waterproofing Agents . Research Report C/RR/6, Timber Research and
Development Association.

1960.

(with W A Chugg). The Durability of Acid-setting Phenolic Resin Adhes ives.
Information Bulletin C/IB/5, Timber Research and Development Association.

The Durability of Exterior Clear Finishes for Timbe r. Journal of the Oil and
Colour Chemists’ Association, 43 10-33.

Seals for Wood Floors. Research Report C/RR/5, Timber Research and
Development Association.

Seals for Wood Floors . Wood, 25 287-9, 325-6, 371-2, 409-10, 449-50.

Materials of Construction for Chemical Plant: Timbe r. Chemical and Process
Engineering, 41 557-561., also 1962. Chapter in Materials of Construction for
Chemical Plant (Ed I.L. Hepner) Leonard Hill Books London.

1961.

The Colour of Wood and its Changes . Journal of the Institute of Wood Science, 8
35-57.
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The Wetting, Adhesion and Penetration of Surface Co  atings on Wood . Journal
of the Oil and Colour Chemists Association, 44, 756-786.

The Identification of Wood Glues . Research Report C/RR/8, Timber Research
And Development Association.

(with- W A Chugg). The Durabilty of Room-Temperature-Setting Urea
Formaldehyde Adhesives in Engineering Structures. Information Bulletin C/IB/6,
Timber Research And Development Associatrion.

1962.

Coverings for Timber Shell Roofs.  Wood, 27 283-5.

The Wettability of Wood. U.S. Forest Products Journal, 12 452-461.

(with W.A Chugg and K.A. Johnson). Resin-Bonded Wood Wool Products . Report
C/RR/13, Timber Research and Development association

1963.

Exterior Clear Finishes for Timber . Wood, 28 103-5.

Understanding Adhesives. New Scientist, 19 143-5.

Wood . Chapter in Corrosion Handbook (Ed L.L. Schreir). Newnes, London

(with W.A. Chugg). Cladding Timber Roofs. The Master Builder, 81 (6) 120-2.
Assessing the Fire Hazard . Timber Trades Journal, 247 (4551) 56-7.

Materials of Construction for Chemical Plant: Timbe r. Chemical and Process
Engineering, 45, 238-9.

1964.

(with A C Oliver). Timber and Industrial Water Cooling Towers in the U  nited
Kingdom .  Information Bulletin C/IB/9, Timber Research and Development
Association.

Roofing Materials for use with Timber . Research Report C/RR/9, Timber
Research and Development Association.

Problems of Finishing Timber . British Wood Preserving Association News, Sheet
34.

Exterior Coatings for Wood . Wood, 29 47-9.

(with D J Bevis). Plywood Panelling with Low Flame Spread Properties
Research Report C/RR/14,Timber Research and Development ASssociation

Some Fundamental Problems of Adhesive Action. 4th International Congress of
Surface Activity, Brussels, Paper B llI, 3.

(with W.A. Chugg). Adhesives. Woodworking Industry, 21 476-7, 543, 608-9, 620, :
1965. ibid. 22, (1)1 39, (2) 39, (3)76, (4), 45.

Contact Angles, Surface Tension and Adhesion . In “Aspects of Adhesion”, 2nd
Conference on Adhesion, Northampton University, London.

(with W.A. Chugg). The Effect of Wood Properties on the Strength of GI  ued
Joints . CIB Symposium on “Timber Joints”, Imperial College, London, published by
Timber Research and Development Association.

1965.

(with W.A. Chugg). Moulded Structural Products and Methods of Making T hem
British Patent Application 49108/64.

(with W.A. Chugg). Gluing of Cast Iron Railway Baseplates to Jarrah SI  eepers.
Wood 30 (2) 45-7, (3) 48-51

The Better Protection of Exterior Joinery , Woodworking Industry, (2) 1-4.

Surface Aspects of Wetting and Adhesion. Chemistry and Industry, 969-78.
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Wood Finishes . Financial Times Timber Supplement, October.

(with W.A. Chugg). Plastics in Glued Timber Structural Joints. Conference on
“Plastics in Building Construction” Pergamon Press.

Adhesives for Timber . In “Aspects of Adhesion”, 3" Conference on Adhesion,
Northampton University, London.

The Testing of Water-repellent Preservatives for Jo  inery. Symposium on Water
Repellents and Wood, Forest Products Research Laboratory 5-10.

1966.
Contact Angles of mercury on Low-energy Solids . Nature, 209, 608-9.
1967. Contact Angles, their Significance and Measurement . in “Wetting”,

Monograph, Society of Chemical Industry, 99-119.

Bouwspeurwerk in England . Bouw, 51 1878-82.

The Effect of Wood Extractives on Gluing Properties of Hardwoods . Souvenir,:
Indian Plywood Industries Association, Bangalore, 44-47.

1968.
The Weathering of Building Materials . Conference on “The Technology of
Building Maintenance” Paper 1, Bath University of Technology.

1969.

Durability of Plastics in Building . Building Technology and Management, 7 158-
159.

Adhesives in Building . The National Builder, 687.

Future Developments in the Construction Industry in “Technological
Forecasting”, 321-332, Edinburgh University Press.

1971.
Environmental Design . Journal of the Association of Home Science Alumnae, New
Zealand, 18-21.

1972.

Timber in New Zealand. Journal of the Institute of Wood Science, 13 13-17.
Meteorology and The Building Industry . Symposium on Applications of
Meteorology, Wellington 4™ October.

Accuracy and Tolerances in Industrialised Building . In “Concrete for the 70s-
Industrialisation, at Wairakei. New Zealand. October 11"-13™.

1973.
Trends in House Construction methods . Construction,12-13 (June).
The Management of Research and Development . Management (New Zealand)

December, 7-9.

Concrete. Assignment 2: Building Technology, Technical Correspondence Institute,
Lower Hutt, New Zealand.

Inorganic Building Materials Assignment 8: Building Technology, Technical
Correspondence Institute, Lower Hutt, New Zealand.

Light and Sound in Buildings . Assignment 9: Building Technology,Technical
Correspondence Institute, Lower Hutt. New Zealand.
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Adhesives, Surface Coatings and Plastics . Assignment 10: Building Technology,
Technical Correspondence Institute, Lower Hutt, New Zealand.

Fire Protection of Buildings. Assignment 8: Construction 1l, Technical
Correspondence Institute, Lower Hutt, New Zealand
Metrication in  Buildings . Supplementary Assignment 2, Technical

Correspondence Institute, Lower Hutt, New Zealand.

1980.

(with D.J. Watson). The Reactivity of Chars from Waikato Coal . New Zealand
Journal of Science, 23 313-17.

Graphical Methods for Determination of the Mineral-  matter-free Properties of
Coal and the Mineral-matter/ash Ratio . Fuel, 59 551-6.

(with T.A. Daly). Chemical Properties and Composition of Waikato Coa Is. New
Zealand Journal of Science, 24 179-202.

1981.

Expressing the Results of Analysis of Low-rank Coa |. Fuel, 60 362-364.

The Properties and Composition of New Zealand Ligni tes. Paper to 6"
Australian Coal Hydrogenation Workshop, Monash University.

1983.

Assessment of Quality of New Zealand Coals from Bor  ecore Analysis. Fuel,
62 1062-65.

A Formula for the Mineral-Matter-to-Ash Ratio for L  ow Rank Coals. Fuel 62 94-
98.

Coal Analysis in New Zealand. Report No 97, New Zealand Energy Research and
Development Committee. 75 pages. Coal Slurry Fuels , Report No 92, New Zealand
Energy Research and Development Committee, 39 pages.1985.

The Chemical Composition and Properties of New Zeal and Coals. Paper 3.2.2
Coal Research Conference, Wellington, New Zealand.

1986.

Coal Properties and Use Assessment: Maramarua Coalf ield .Coal Research
Association Report IR Series 15, prepared for the NZ Ministry of Energy. c. 200
pages.

Fuel, 65 Retention of Sulphur by Laboratory-Prepared Ash for m Low-rank
Coal. 1618-1619.

(with F.J. McKnight). The Apparent Relative Density of New Zealand Coals.  New
Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics, 29 463-470.

The Chemical properties and analysis of Mokau Coal . New Zealand Journal of
Geology and Geophysics, 29 447-461.

Quality Parameters for New Zealand Coals. Paper to Coal Geology Workshop,
Palmerston North.

1987

The Effect of Coal Properties on Combustion . Conference on Multi-Phase Flow,
Hangzhou, China

Prediction of Ash Fusion Temperature from Ash Compo sition for some New
Zealand Coals . Fuel, 66 1230-1240.

1988.
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The Role of Explosive Ejection in the Pyrolysis of Coal. Fuel, 67 1298-1303.
The Density of Coal. Paper to Conference on Measurement and Control of
Granular Materials, Shenyang, China.

1990.

Sulphur Retention by Calcium-based Sorbents during the Fluidized Bed
Combustion of Coal . Proceedings of the First International Symposium on
Combustion and Energy Utilization, Beijing, 324-330.

1992.

The Skeptical Environmentalist, New Zealand Skeptic “New Zealand Skeptic”
March 1992 — Number 23, Pages 1-5.

The IPCC Report on Climate Change (1990): an Apprai sal. Chapter 5in “The
Greenhouse Debate Continued: An Analysis and Critique of the IPCC Climate
Assessment (Editor, S. Fred Singer), The Science and Environmental Policy Project,
San Francisco, California, USA.

The IPCC Supplement (1992): An Appraisal. Chapter 6 in “The Greenhouse
Debate Continued: An Analysis and Critique of the IPCC Climate Assessment (S.
Fred Singer, Editor) The Science and Environmental Policy Project San Francisco,
California, USA

1994

April 7. Private publication. A Sensible Climate Model for Global Warming

(with W.W. Hennessy). Comparison of Climate Change Theory with Temperatur e
Observations. Poster paper at “Climate Change 94" Conference, Wellington,
October.

The Greenhouse Effect and its Consequences , Chemistry in New Zealand, 58 (2)
31-40.

1995.

Climate Change 1994 . Chemistry in New Zealand, 59 (9) 30-33.

(with W.W. Hennessy) Climate Change Science 1995. Report prepared for the
Electricity Corporation of New Zealand.

1996.
Climate Change '95. New Zealand Science Review, 53 58-62.

1997
Climate Change 95: An Appraisal . The Heartland Institute , Palatine, lllinois, USA.

1998.
The IPCC Future Projections: are they Plausible  ? Climate Research, 10 155-162.

2000.
The Cause of Global Warming. Energy & Environment, 11 (6), 613-629

2001. Climate Change: Can it be Stopped?. New Zealand International Review
October, 27-28.

The Greenhouse Delusion. A Critique of Climate Chan  ge 2001, http://www.john-
daly.com , Guest Publication
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2002.
The Greenhouse Delusion: A Critique of Climate Chan ge 2001, Multiscience
Publishing, Essex, UK 95 pages.

2003.
Regional Temperature Change . http://www.john-daly.com/guests/regional.htm

2004.

Maurice Wilkins and the Double Helix . Chemistry in New Zealand. 67 (1) March,
50-54.

Sociobiology. New Zealand Science Review, 61 (1) 30-34.

The Third Man Speaks. Book Review, Chemistry in New Zealand, 68 (1) 28.

2006.
Temperature Trends in the Lower Atmosphere. Energy and Environment. 17
707-714.

2007.

The God Instinct . Free Radical, March/April, 33.

The Peer Review Mafia. Free Radical, May/June 18-19.

Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis: Su mmary for Policymakers.
Energy and Environment, 18 433-440.

2008.

Spinning the Climate. Free Radical. Summer 07/08 20-22.
Spinning the Climate
http://nzclimatescience.net/images/PDFs/spinningclimate0708. pdf

20009.

The Global Warming Scam,
http://nzclimatescience.net/images/PDFs/GlobalScam3a.pdf

Darwin Today: The Evolution of an Idea, Free Radical, April, 24-31.
South Pacific Island Sea Levels: A reassessment.
http://www.climatescience.org.nz/images/PDFs/spsI3.pdf

The Following Greenhouse Bulletins were privately published and are available on
demand in electronic form.

1991.

1. 10" March, Greenhouse Miscellany

2. 16™ March, Five Recent Papers.

3. 29" March, Ocean Carbon Dioxide Absorption according to A.A. Evans.

4. 5™ May, A Sensible Climate Model.

5. 25" October, 4™ New Zealand Coal Conference and the Greenhouse Effect.
6. 2" November, Global Surface Temperature Rise Since 1940.

7.16™ November, Several Recent Papers

1992
8. 23" January Recent Papers by Michaels and O'Brien
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9. February, The 1992 IPCC Supplement, an Appraisal: First Draft.
10. 14" April 1992Energy Economics and the Greenhouse Effect.

11. 20™ April 1992 Modifying the Greenhouse.

12. 18™ May, Where has all the Carbon Dioxide Gone?

13. 25" June, Modifying the Greenhouse Again.

14. 16" July, Fuel Economy in Motor Vehicles.

15.15™ August, Three IPCC Reports.

16 20" August, Changes from the Draft of 1992 IPCC Supplementary Report.
17. 25" August, (Continued).

18. 1° October, Futures Scenarios.

18A. April, Forecasting the Future Under the Greenhouse.

19. 9™ September, Changes from the Draft of 1992 IPCC Supplementary Report,
(continued).

20. 11" September (continued).

21. 17" September (continued).

22. 17" September (continued) plus Addendum 10™ January.

23. 16" October, Global Warming: The Evidence.

24. 24™ November, Several Recent Books

25. 25" December, Index to Greenhouse Bulletins

26. 27" November, The Greenhouse Effect: A Coal Industry Bonanza
27. December, Environmental Forecasting.

1993

28. 3" January, Coal Industry Statistics.

29. January, Diversifying Climate Parameters.

30. February, Futures for Coal.

31. March, Greenhouse Economics

32. 25" March, Greenhouse Economics II.

33. Greenhouse Economics Il

34. April, Greenhouse Economics IV.

35. October, Barrie Pittock’s Reply.

36. October20-22, 5™ New Zealand Coal Conference and Climate Change.
37. November, Energy Efficiency and Energy Intensity.

38. November, Two Papers on Greenhouse Economics.

39. November, Global Warming Debate.

40. November More Greenhouse Economics.

41. December, Carbon Dioxide.

42. December. lan Enting’s Floppy.

43. 12" December, The Carbon Dioxide-Atmospheric Ratio.

1994

44. 11™ January, Svante Arrhenius.

45. 19" January, Uncertainties in the Climate.

46. January, Global Warming: an Alternative Perspective.

47. 2nd February, The Current State of Trace Gas Research in New Zealand Bull
48 16™ March Radiative Forcing of the Climate

49 18™ April, Natural Variability.

50. April, Extreme Events.

51. 26" May, Solar Variability.

52. 14th June, Radiative Forcing of Climate Change.
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53

54.

55
56
57
58
59
60

. 2" August, The Rate of Increase of Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide.

3" August, Atmospheric Aerosols.

. August, Errors in NIWA Presentation.

. 30" August, Draft Summary for Policymakers .

. 30™ August United Nations Population Statistics.

. 13" September, Outlook Even Hazier.

. 28" September, Some Recent Work on Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide.
. 1% October, Extrapolating IPCC Scenarios Backwards.

60A. 21% October, The Effect of Methane on the Climate.

61
62

19

63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.

19
80
81
82
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91

, November, The State of the Environment.
c12m December, Warming Trends.

95

8" January, The Carbon Dioxide Information and Analysis Center.
January, Temperature Trends.

9" February, Natural Variability.

28" February, Carbon Dioxide Emissions.

28" February, The IPCC WGIII Second Assessment Report.

9" March, Assessing Climate Models.

23" March, Volcanic Eruptions.

27" March, The IPCC WGII Second Assessment Report .

3 July, Climate Change 1994.

1% July, Carbon Dioxide Problems.

26™ July, Greenhouse Miscellany.

3'Y August, Global Temperatures Since 1400.

3"9August, Future Emissions and Concentrations of Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide
20" September, The Earth’'s Energy Budget.

15" October, Greenhouse Roundup.

29" November. Subjective Judgments.

16" December, The Hadley Centre Model.

96

. g January, The Thermohaline Circulation.

. 28" January, The IPCC Emissions Scenarios.

. 13" February, Differences Between the Hemispheres.

. 27" February, The Hadley Centre Climate Model Il.

. 6™ March, Two Energy Perspectives Bulletin.

. 23rd March, Climate Change 1995 (29 pages).

. April, Effective Carbon Dioxide.

. 19" May, Radiative Forcing: a Discontinuity.

. 28" May, The Global Warming Debate.

. 8™ June, The World Energy Council and Climate Change.
. 5™ August, Climate Change Policy: A Durable Response.

91A. 20th July, How Sensitive is the Climate?

92
93
94
95
96
97

. 5th August, Climate Change and CO, Policy.
, 27™ August, Discernible Human Influence.

. 14™ September, Runaway Greenhouse.

. 22" November, The End of Global Warming.
. 6" December, Hemisphere Differences.

. 22" December, IPCC Technical Papers.
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98. 27" December Aerosol Forcing of the Climate.

1997

99. January Current Climate Data.

100. 2" February, Carbon Dioxide Emissions.

The following Bulletins are available on demand as computer files in WORD

101. 16" April, Updating Satellite Temperatures.
102. 21% May, The Line Goes Dead.

103. 14" June, World Population Trends.

104. September, Updating the Data.

105. 8th October, Human Influence on the Climate.
106. 21%' November, The Airborne Fraction.

107. 22" November, The Carbon Cycle.

108. 4" December, Does Global Warming Exist?
109 11™ December, Sea Level.

110. 19" December, The Kyoto Protocol.

1998

111. 29" January, The Missing Sink.

Chill Me Some More, February 4th

112. 24™ March, Errors and Bias in the Surface Temperature Record.

113. 16™ May, Regional Temperature Change.

114. 8™ June, Stabilization of Atmospheric Methane.

115. 28™ June, The One Percent Solution: A Fairy Story for Grown-ups.
116. 17™ August, Validation of Computer-based Climate Models.

117. 9" December, The Sun, El Nifio and the Carbon Dioxide Thermometer.

1999

118. 12" January, Hansen’s Reappraisal.

119. 15" February, Population Projections.

120. 27" February, Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide.

121. 16™ March, Greenhouse Warming Reduced.

122. 4™ April, Carbon Dioxide and Methane Revisited.

123. 28" April, Validation of Computer-based Climate Models.
124. 29" April, Regional Temperature Change.

125. 23" September, IPCC Scenarios Old and New.

2000

126. 24" January, The Surface Temperature Record.
127. June, Forecasting the Future.

128. July, Russian Temperature Records.

The Following NZClimate (and Enviro) Truth Newsletters were circulated widely by
Email. Nos 34-107 are available at http://www.warwickhughes.com/gray04/ , Most
of the recent ones are on
http://nzclimatescience.net/index.php?option=com_search&ltemid=99999999&searc
hword=Gray&searchphrase=any&ordering=newest&limit=30&limitstart=0

All are available on demand in electronic form.
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2002

1. 15" February, Formation. National Business Review

2. 27" February. You Live and Learn. Adventures of Lomborg. Is Sea Level Rising.
Australian Weather Stations.

3. 13" March, World temperature Records. Climate Science and Policy.

4. 23" March, Popper’s Law. The Antarctic.

5. 31% March, Pete Hodgson’s “Consultation” .Access to Energy. Enron and Kyoto.
Stark Raving Mad(methane).

6. 10th April, Tuvalu Revisited. Alistair Cook. Josh Billings

7. 11" April, Philip Stott. No Threat to Long Island.

8. 24" April, Coral. Conclusions. NZ Government Obstinacy.

8a. 24" April, Watson’s Departure

9. 3" May, Robert Mann. Methane. Government Policy. IPCC Doubletalk

10. 14" May, NZ Government Policy Package.

11. 22™ May, Ocean Heat. Polar Bears.

12. 10" June, Climate Cycles. The Sun.

13. 13" July, What the Scientists say.

14. 16™ July, Keeping Up with the Literature.

15. 23" July, Antarctica. Corngate.

15X. 26™ August, Publication of “The Greenhouse Delusions: A Critique of ‘Climate
Change 2001™.

16. 11™ November, Carbon Dioxide Emissions

16B. 19" November, Kyoto Protocol

17. 17" November, .Eco-Logic. Darwin denied.

18. 5™ December, Launch of “Greenhouse Delusion”; A Critique of ‘Climate Change
2001".

19. 10" December, What Goes up Must Come Down.

20. 12" December, Membership Revision; Book Launch December 11"

21. 17" December Seasons Greetings; Forecasting the Future

2003

22.10th January, Start the New Year; The Greenhouse Delusion; Bill Kinimonth;
Improving the Forecasts.

23. 5™ February, Measuring Global Temperature Anomalies ;Forecasting the Past.
24. 28th February, Hitting the Headlines; Hot Potato (“The Economist”)

25. 7" March, Vehicle Emissions.

26. 22"4 March, Falling CO2 Emissions; Is it Warming after all?;Taken by Storm

27. 8" April, Millennial Climate; Earth’s Greenhouse.

28. 11" May, Dr R K Pachauri. Is there a Case?

29, 28" May, Dr Christy. Fudging the Figures. Access to the Literature

30. 12™ August, Chris De Freitas; The Fog Days.

31. 23" August, Unprecedented Heat; Urban Heat Islands.

32. 6™ September, Numbers Website. ITMA; The Greenhouse Delusion.

33. 18™ September, Carbon Dioxide Emissions. World Climate Conference, Moscow
Visit of Bjorn Lomborg.

34. 30" October, Consensus. The Fourth IPCC Assessment Reports.

35. 6th November, Lies, Damn Lies, and Correlation.

36. 26™ November, Kyoto Uncertainty. Bashing the Hockey Stick. Coal Makes a
Comeback.
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37

. 22nd December, Seasons Greetings; COP9 in Milan.

2004

38
39

. 13" January, Massive Extinctions.
. 24" January, Does “Global Warming” exist?

39A. 25" January, Corrections.

40
41

. 26" January, John L Daly
. 3 March, James Hansen.

41A. 4™ March, Misprints. Regional Warming.

42

. 16th March, Professor Richard Lindzen;

43. 19™ March, Water Vapou. National Party Lukewarm on Kyoto. Global Warming
Reuvisited.

44
45
46

.23 March, National Party,Global Warming Revisited.
. 6™ April, The Hockey Stick.
. 7" April, 1Told You So!

47. 13" May, Numbers; Global Warming; Model Answers When is Global Warming
Really a Cooling?
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